

Sede Amministrativa: Università degli Studi di Padova

Dipartimento di Agronomia, Animali, Alimenti, Risorse naturali e Ambiente (DAFNAE)

CORSO DI DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN: SCIENZE DELLE PRODUZIONI VEGETALI CICLO XXIX

AGRONOMIC ROLE OF ARBUSCULAR MYCORRHIZAL FUNGI IN AGRO-ECOSYSTEMS MANAGED WITH ORGANIC WASTES AND LOW QUALITY WATER

Coordinatore: Ch.mo Prof. Sergio Casella Supervisore: Ch.mo Prof. Maurizio Borin Co-Supervisore: Ch.mo Prof. Antonio C. Barbera

Dottoranda: Caterina Caruso

Table of contents

Riassunto	
Summary	
Chapter I - General background and the aim of the Ph. D. thesis	
Chapter II - Effects of mycorrhizal inoculation and digestate liquid fer biomass production of six energy crops under rainfed condition	rtilization on 23
Abstract	
Introduction	
Materials and Methods	
Experimental description	
Meteorological variables	
Bio-agronomic parameters	
Biomass sampling and analysis	
Soil moisture measurement	
Water sampling and analysis	
Root sampling and analysis	
Soil CO_2 emission	
Biochemical Methane Potential (BMP)	
Statistical analysis	
Results	
Meteorological variables	
Bio-agronomic traits: culm height, culm diameter and leaf number as a	iffected by AMF
inoculation, species, experimental year and cutting management	
Shoot density	
Dry biomass production as affected by AMF inoculation, species, experi biomass cutting numbers	imental year and 40
Nitrogen and phosphorus concentrations in dry biomass tissues	
Total biomass nitrogen and phosphorus uptake per hectare	
Nitrogen and phosphorus use efficiency (N _{ue} and P _{ue})	
NH ₄ -N, NO ₃ -N and PO ₄ -P leaching	
AMF root colonization (%)	
Soil moisture content	
Soil CO ₂ emissions	

Biochemical Methane Potential (BMP)	
Discussion	60
Conclusions	71
Annex I	
Chapter III - Effects of mycorrhizal inoculation and digestate fertilization biomass production from fungicide-coated seeds	on on triticale 73
Abstract	74
Introduction	75
Materials and Methods	77
Experiment description	
Roots sampling and analysis	
Triticale bio-agronomic measurements	
Soil CO ₂ emission	
Statistical analysis	
Results	
Root mycorrhization	
Triticale bio-agronomic traits and biomass yield	
Soil CO ₂ emission	
Discussion	
Root AMF colonization	
Triticale bio-agronomic traits and biomass yield	
Soil CO ₂ emission	
Conclusions	
Chapter IV- Olive mill wastewater spreading and AMF inoculation effect	cts in a low-
input semi-arid Mediterranean crop succession	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Materials and methods	
Experiment description	
Meteorological variables	
Bio-agronomic parameters	
Biomass yield and analysis	
Root analysis: AMF colonization and root nodule	

Statistical analysis	
Results	
Meteorological variables	
First growing season: Intercropping durum wheat-medicago	
Bio-agronomic traits	
Biomass Yield	
Nutrients uptake	
Biomass fiber composition	
Root AMF colonization	
Second growing season: Vicia faba L. cv. minor	
Bio-agronomic traits	
Yield components	
Broad bean grain nutrients content	
Root nodules	
Root AMF colonization	
Discussion	
Conclusions	
Chapter V- Effect of mycorrhizal inoculum, saline and water stress on P	anicum
<i>miliaceum</i> L. forage production in Mediterranean environment	<i>anicum</i> 103
Chapter V- Effect of mycorrhizal inoculum, saline and water stress on <i>P</i> <i>miliaceum</i> L. forage production in Mediterranean environment	<i>anicum</i> 103 104
Chapter V-Effect of mycorrhizal inoculum, saline and water stress on <i>P</i> <i>miliaceum</i> L. forage production in Mediterranean environment Abstract	<i>anicum</i> 103 104 105
Chapter V- Effect of mycorrhizal inoculum, saine and water stress on P miliaceum L. forage production in Mediterranean environment	<i>anicum</i> 103 104 105 106
 Chapter V- Effect of mycorrhizal inoculum, saline and water stress on <i>P</i> miliaceum L. forage production in Mediterranean environment Abstract Introduction Materials and methods Experimental description 	anicum 103 104 105 106
 Chapter V- Effect of mycorrhizal inoculum, saine and water stress on P miliaceum L. forage production in Mediterranean environment Abstract Introduction Materials and methods Experimental description Laboratory experiments 	anicum 103 104 105 106 106 106
Chapter V- Effect of mycorrhizal inoculum, saine and water stress on P miliaceum L. forage production in Mediterranean environment	anicum 103 104 105 106
Chapter V- Effect of mycorrhizal inoculum, saine and water stress on P miliaceum L. forage production in Mediterranean environment	<i>anicum</i> 103 104 105 105 106 106 106 108 108 109
Chapter V-Effect of mycorrhizal inoculum, saine and water stress on <i>P</i> <i>miliaceum</i> L. forage production in Mediterranean environment	<i>anicum</i> 103 104 105 105 106 106 106 108 109 110
Chapter V - Effect of mycorrhizal inoculum, saine and water stress on P miliaceum L. forage production in Mediterranean environment Abstract Introduction	anicum 103 104 105 106 106 106 108 109 110 110
Chapter V-Effect of mycorrfizal inoculum, saine and water stress on P miliaceum L. forage production in Mediterranean environment Abstract Introduction Materials and methods Experimental description Laboratory experiments Field experiment Statistical analysis Results Laboratory experiments Field experiment	anicum
Chapter V - Effect of mycorrhizal inoculum, same and water stress on P miliaceum L. forage production in Mediterranean environment Abstract Introduction	anicum 103 104 105 106 106 106 106 108 109 109 110 110 112
Chapter V - Effect of mycorrnizal inoculum, saine and water stress on <i>P</i> <i>miliaceum</i> L. forage production in Mediterranean environment Abstract Introduction	anicum 103 104 105 106 106 106 106 108 109 109 110 110 112 112 113
Chapter V- Effect of mycorrnizal inoculum, saine and water stress on <i>P</i> <i>miliaceum</i> L. forage production in Mediterranean environment Abstract Introduction	anicum 103 104 105 106 106 106 106 108 109 109 110 110 112 112 112 113 114
Chapter V-Effect of mycorrhizal inoculum, same and water stress on P miliaceum L. forage production in Mediterranean environment Abstract Introduction	anicum 103 104 105 106 106 106 106 108 109 109 110 110 112 112 112 113 114 115
Chapter V - Effect of mycorrnizal inoculum, saline and water stress on P miliaceum L. forage production in Mediterranean environment	anicum 103 104 105 106 106 106 106 108 109 109 109 110 110 112 112 112 112 113 114 115

Leaf number and leaves fresh weight	
Leaf SPAD	
Leaf area surface	
Discussion	
Laboratory experiments	
Field experiments	
Conclusions	
Chapter VI - General Conclusions	
Acknowledgment	
References	

Riassunto

- Nei sistemi agricoli convenzionali o intesivi, il diffuso impiego di fertilizzanti minerali e agro-farmaci (fungicidi e insetticidi), a supporto della crescente domanda di prodotti agricoli, ha spesso compromesso la sostenibilità dell'agro-ecosistema, principalmente a causa di una minore fertilità e biodiversità del suolo agrario. In questo contesto, una valida alternativa può essere offerta dall'adozione di sistemi agricoli a basso-input e/o biologici, basati sull'impiego di fertilizzanti e/o ammendanti organici e sulla valorizzazione del ruolo svolto dai microrganismi indigeni del suolo e/o introdotti tramite biofertilizzanti, nel mantenimento della produttività delle colture.
- I funghi micorrizici arbuscolari (AMF) sono un importante gruppo di microrganismi della rizosfera che instaurano una relazione simbiotica con circa 80-90% delle piante. Questi funghi svolgono un ruolo importante a supporto della sostenibilità ambientale, incrementando la disponibilità di nutrienti per la pianta ((in particolare fosforo (P)), migliorando la tolleranza e/o resistenza agli stress abiotici e biotici, mantenendo così la produttività delle colture agrarie. I benefici effetti correlati ai funghi micorrizici possono essere inibiti e/o ridotti dalle pratiche agricole convenzionali/intensive quali cospicue fertilizzazioni chimiche, impiego di agro-farmaci (es. fungicidi) e lavorazioni del terreno. Tuttavia questi effetti negativi possono essere mitigati dall'impiego come fertilizzanti/ammendanti di matrici organiche derivanti dai prodotti di scarto dell'agro-industria (acque di vegetazione) e produzione di biogas (digestato).
- Il digestato ((frazione liquida (FLD) e solida (FSD)) è un sottoprodotto derivante dagli impianti di digestione anerobica di matrici organiche per la produzione di biogas, caratterizzato da una composizione chimico-fisica variabile in relazione alla "dieta" impiegata per alimentare i digestori. In generale, la componente liquida del digestato è caratterizzata da un elevato rapporto NH₄:TN, e un basso contenuto di sostanza organica, con un rapporto N:P a favore dell'azoto (N), mentre, caratteristiche opposte sono riscontrabili nel digestato solido. La composizione chimico-fisica del digestato determina il suo valore agronomico, potendo essere direttamente sversato (FLD) o distribuito (FSD) al suolo come fertilizzante/ammendante organico. Sebbene numerosi studi riportano un effetto positivo del digestato sulle comunità dei microrganismi del suolo, sulla base delle nostre conoscenze non sono stati effettuati studi sull'effetto della distribuzione di FLD e FSD su piante inoculate con AMF.
- Nel bacino del Mediterraneo, dalla molitura delle olive residuano come sottoprodotti di scarto, elevati volumi di acque di vegetazione (AV), prodotte nel breve periodo della

stagione molitoria (2-4 mesi l'anno). Anche le AV, in relazione alla loro composizione chimico-fisica possono essere smaltite sversandole nei terreni agricoli con funzione di fertilizzante/ammendante del suolo, in particolare per apportare sostanza organica e potassio (K). Nonostante ciò, se non ben gestite agronomicamente, le AV hanno effetti fitotossici e antimicrobici legati al loro elevato contenuto in composti fenolici. Fin ad ora l'effetto delle AV sulla simbiosi micorrizica è stata poco studiato. Tuttavia, alcuni autori riportano un effetto negativo delle AV sulla simbiosi micorrizica, con una riduzione della colonizzazione delle radici.

- Nelle regioni semi-aride e aride del Mediterraneo soggette a limitata disponibilità idrica, in particolare nella stagione primaverile-estiva, l'uso di acqua di scarsa qualità ai fini irrigui sta diventando una valida alternativa per il mantenimento delle rese e lo sviluppo agricolo. Sebbene l'elevato contenuto di sali disciolti in queste acque può influenzare negativamente le comunità microbiche del suolo e la resa delle colture, è stato ampiamente dimostrato che la simbiosi micorrizica può mitigare tali effetti negativi migliorando, in condizioni di salinità, l'assorbimento di nutrienti ed acqua delle colture, nonostante i meccanismi fisiologici e biochimici coinvolti, non sono ancora chiari.
- In considerazione di quanto riportato, lo scopo di questo Dottorato di ricerca è stato quello di studiare e valutare in due differenti contesti bioclimatici (Veneto e Sicilia), l'effetto dell'inoculazione dei funghi micorrizici arbuscolari sulla produzione di colture erbacee da biomassa, fertilizzate con digestato (frazione liquida e/o solida), e da foraggio fertilizzate con acque di vegetazione, o irrigate con acqua di scarsa qualità.
- Le attività di ricerca condotte in Veneto sono state finalizzate alla valutazione del ruolo agronomico degli AMF, considerando anche l'impatto ambientale in termini di emissioni di CO₂ e lisciviazioni di azoto dal suolo, in relazione a: i) produzione di colture erbacee da biomassa fertilizzate con FLD; ii) resa in biomassa di triticale conciato con fungicida, confrontando differenti tipi di fertilizzazione (minerale, FLD, FSD ed assenza di fertilizzazione). I risultati ottenuti mostrano quanto segue:
- su colture da biomassa: l'inoculazione con AMF non ha incrementato la resa, eccetto in topinambur gestito con doppio taglio; nel trattamento non inoculato è stata riscontrata una colonizzazione delle radici da parte di funghi micorrizici indigeni presenti nel suolo. L'inoculazione con AMF ha contribuito a ridurre le perdite per lisciviazione di NH₄-N, ma di contro ha incrementato la lisciviazione di NO₃-N e le emissioni di CO₂ dal suolo. Tra le specie studiate, l'arundo è stata quella più produttiva in termini di biomassa, seguita da miscanthus, sorgo, mais, topinambur e lolium, tuttavia con una minore

efficienza d'uso dei nutrienti e maggiori emissioni di CO₂-C cumulate. Il miscanthus e sorgo hanno mostrato altresì il migliore utilizzo di N e P, con moderate perdite per lisciviazione di NO₃-N e basse emissioni di CO₂-C cumulate.

- In triticale: l'effetto dell'inoculazione di AMF è stato inibito dal fungicida presente nei semi conciati. Tuttavia, la maggiore percentuale di colonizzazione delle radici è stata rilevata in presenza del trattamento con FDS, probabilmente a causa del contenuto di sostanza organica, che ha mitigato l'effetto del fungicida, e per la presenza di P in forma poco disponibile per la pianta. La fertilizzazione minerale ha determinato la maggiore produzione di biomassa delle piante di triticale rispetto alla fertilizzazione organica (FDL e FDS), anche se è necessario considerare gli aspetti ambientali (elevate emissioni di CO_{2(eq)}) ed economici (costo dei fertilizzanti) connessi a tale trattamento.
- Le attività di ricerca condotte in Sicilia sono state focalizzate sull'effetto degli AMF su: i) successione triennale per la produzione di foraggio (consociazione *Triticum durum* Desf. *Medicago scutellata* L.) e granella di favino (*Vicia faba* L. minor) e cece (*Cicer arietinum* L.), utilizzando differenti volumi di AV come unica fonte di fertilizzazione; ii) due genotipi di miglio per la produzione di foraggio, irrigati con acqua a due livelli di salinità e due regimi di restituzione idrica. I risultati ottenuti mostrano quanto segue:
- nella successione colturale: nel primo anno, l'inoculazione con AMF ha incrementato la resa di frumento, ma non quella di medicago scutellata. I volumi di AV non hanno influenzato la colonizzazione delle radici da parte dei funghi micorrizici inoculati, determinando solo in frumento, un maggiore assorbimento di N e P. Nel secondo anno, gli AMF non hanno influenzato la resa in granella del favino, determinando però un significativo maggiore assorbimento di P nella granella. Inoltre, gli AMF, in assenza di AV, hanno promosso l'azotofissazione attraverso un maggiore numero e peso di noduli radicali della leguminosa. Considerando i due anni sperimentali, le AV hanno incrementato la produzione di biomassa in scutellata e la resa in favino, ma non hanno influenzato la produzione di biomassa in frumento. Le AV hanno ridotto la presenza di infestanti al primo anno e il numero di noduli radicali in favino al secondo anno.
- In miglio: l'effetto dell'inoculazione di AMF sulla produzione di foraggio è stato negativamente influenzato dall'irrigazione con acqua salina, indipendentemente dai due genotipi studiati (Unikum e Kinelskoje); mentre in assenza di stress salino, gli AMF hanno incrementato la produzione di foraggio solo in Unikum. In condizioni di stress idrico (restituzione al 25% dell'ETm), gli AMF hanno promosso la produzione di foraggio, mentre nessun effetto è stato osservato in condizioni ottimali di irrigazione.

Unikum è stato il genotipo maggiormente produttivo nelle condizioni sperimentali siciliane, con una produzione di foraggio più che doppia rispetto al Kinelskoje.

Summary

- In the conventional or intensive agriculture systems, to support the ever-increasing demand for agricultural products, the widespread use of mineral fertilizers and agro-chemicals (fungicides and insecticides), has led to the loss of soil fertility and soil biodiversity with a negative impact on the sustainability of the agro-ecosystem. In this context, a viable alternative to conventional or intensive agriculture systems, can be considered the lowinput and/or organic ones, based on the use of organic fertilizer and/or amendment, and on the promotion of the role played by native soil microorganism or by bio-fertilizers introduced ones, to maintain the crop productivity.
- Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) are an important group of soil microorganism that establish a symbiotic relationship with about 80-90% of plants. AMF play an essential role to support a sustainable environment, improving the nutrient availability (particularly P) to the plant, enhancing tolerance and/or resistance to abiotic and biotic stress, thus maintaining the crop productivity. Their beneficial effects can be inhibited or reduced by conventional or intensive agriculture practices. However, these negative effects can be mitigated by the use of organic wastes as fertilizer/amendment produced by agro-industrial activities (olive mill wastewater) and biogas process (digestate).
- Digestate ((liquid (DLF) and solid fraction (DSF)) is a by-product of anaerobic digestion process for biogas production, characterized by a different physical-chemical composition mainly due to degraded feedstock. Generally, DLF is characterized by a high NH₄-H:TN ratio, lower organic matter contents and N:P ratio shifted to nitrogen (N), while opposite characteristics are found in DSF. The physical-chemical characteristics of digestate determine its agronomic value, which can be spreaded (DLF) or applied (DSF) directly in soil as organic fertilizer/amendment. Although several studies reported a digestate positive effect on soil microbial communities, to our knowledge the effect of DLF and DSF distribution on AMF inoculated plants has not yet been investigated.
- In Mediterranean basin, from olive oil process, large amounts of olive mill wastewater (OMW) are produced in a short-period of time (2-4 months during year). Also the OMWs, in relation to their physical-chemical composition, can be used in agriculture as fertilizer/amendment in soil, especially providing organic matter and potassium (K).

Nevertheless, OMW has antimicrobial and phytotoxic effects due to the high contents of phenolic compounds. So far, the OMW spreading effect on AMF symbiosis is poorly investigated. However, some authors reported a negative OMW effect on AMF symbiosis with a decrease of root colonization.

- In semi-arid and arid Mediterranean regions with limited freshwater resources, especially during spring-summer period, the use of poor quality water for irrigation is becoming a viable alternative to maintain crop yield and agriculture sustainability. Although this wastewaters contain dissolved salts which can negatively affect the soil microbial communities and crop production, it is widely demonstrated that AMF symbiosis improves nutrient and water uptake under saline conditions, even if the physiological and biochemical mechanisms involved are still unclear.
- Considering the above mentioned, the aim of this Ph. D. research was to study and evaluation, in two different Italian bioclimatic contexts (Sicily and Veneto), AMF inoculation effects on biomass production on energy crops fertilized with digestate (liquid and solid fraction) and forage crops fertilized with olive mill wastewater or irrigated with poor quality water.
- The research activities conducted in Veneto has been focused on the agronomic role of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi inoculation, considering also the environmental impacts in terms of soil CO₂ emissions and nitrogen leaching, on: i) energy crop biomass production using DLF as fertilizer; ii) triticale biomass production under different fertilization rates (mineral fertilizer, DLF, DSF and not fertilizer) using seed-coated fungicides. The most relevant findings are the following:
- on energy crops: AMF inoculation did not increase the biomass production, except in Jerusalem artichoke managed with double biomass cutting. In the un-inoculated plots, a root colonization by indigenous mycorrhizal community was found. AMF inoculation contributed to NH₄-N leaching reduction but increased NO₃-N leaching and soil CO₂ emission. Among the studied species, giant reed was the most productive energy crop in terms of biomass production, followed by miscanthus, sorghum, maize, Jerusalem artichoke, and lolium; however it showed a lower nitrogen use efficiency and higher cumulative soil CO₂-C emissions. Miscanthus and sorghum showed the best N and P use efficiency, with a moderate NO₃-N leaching and lower cumulative soil CO₂-C emissions.
- In triticale: AMF root colonization was inhibited by the presence of seed-coated fungicide. Nevertheless, in DSF treatment, the highest AMF colonization observed was

probably due to the low available P form and the high organic matter content which probably contributed to mitigate fungicide negative effect. Mineral fertilization determined the highest triticale dry biomass production compared to organic fertilizer (DLF and DSF) even if the environmental (e.g. higher $CO_2(eq)$ emission) and economical (e.g. fertilizer costs) aspects should be considered.

- The researches conducted in Sicily have been focused on AMF inoculation effects on: i) a three years legume-based succession producing forage (*Triticum durum* Desf.-*Medicago scutellata* L. intercropping), broad bean (*Vicia faba* L. minor) and chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) grain, using different OMW volumes as the only fertilization source; ii) a yearly evaluation of millet genotypes for forage production using irrigation water at two salinity levels and two water restitution regimes. The most relevant findings are the following:
- on crop succession: in the first year, AMF inoculation increased the durum wheat biomass yield, but not affected the medicago scutellata biomass production. AMF root colonization was not influenced by OMW volumes, with a significant higher N and P uptake observed in inoculated durum wheat; while, no statistical effect of AMF was found on N and P uptake in scutellata. In the second year, AMF inoculation did not affect broad bean grain yield and determined a higher P uptake in broad bean grain. Moreover, AMF inoculation promoted root nodule number and weight in broad bean in absence of OMW volumes. Considering the two years, OMW spreading promoted the fabaceae productions with a higher biomass in scutellata and grain yield in broad bean, whereas it did not show any effect on durum wheat biomass production. OMW spreading reduced the weed presence in the first year and broad bean nodulation in the second one.
- On millet: salt stress conditions negatively influenced AMF inoculum effects on forage production, without any difference between the two studied genotypes (Unikum and Kinelskoje). In absence of salinity treatment, AMF inoculation increased the forage production only in Unikum. Under water stress (25% ETm restitution) AMF inoculation promoted the forage production, whereas no significant AMF effect was observed in well-watered condition. Unikum proved to be the best millet genotype in experimental field conditions with more than double forage production compared to Kinelskoje.

Chapter I

General background and the aim of the Ph. D. thesis

- Current conventional/intensive agriculture practices, mainly based on the widespread use of mineral fertilizers and agro-chemicals (such as fungicides and insecticides), play an important role to sustain and increase food and fiber production, in relation to the everincreasing world population demands (Bhardwaj et al., 2014). However, in the long-time these anthropogenic activities if not well managed, lead to low soil fertility and to the loss of agro-ecosystem biodiversity (Vimal et al., 2017). A sustainable crop production has progressively led to a shift from conventional/intensive agricultural management systems to low-input ones, mainly based on the use of organic fertilizer/amendment and minimum tillage practices or no-tillage. In this context, the soil microorganisms' activities, particularly bacteria and fungi, play an important role in low-input cropping systems without increasing environmental burdens, improving nutrient availability, tolerance and/or resistance to abiotic (mainly salinity and drought) and biotic (soil-borne pathogens) stress, thus maintaining the crop yield with substantial economic and environmental benefits (Johansson et al., 2004; Vimal et al., 2017).
- Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) are an important group of soil microorganisms that establish a symbiotic relationship with the major terrestrial vascular plant species (about 80-90%) (Brundrett, 2002; Smith and Read, 2010; Shah, 2014; Berruti et al., 2014; Berruti et al., 2016), including several agricultural crops (Berruti et al., 2016), except for some families such as Brassicaceae, Chenopodiaceae, Cyperaceae (Shah, 2014). The Greek term mycorrhiza (literally "myco" means fungus and "rhiza" means root) was introduced in the 1885 by Albert Bernard Frank (Frank, 1885). This symbiosis is considered very ancient (over 460 million years ago - Ordovician period) (Redecker et al., 2000; Bonfante and Genre, 2008); probably for this reason, AMF have lost their ability to live and complete their life cycle in absence of host plants (Requena et al., 2007). Arbuscolar mycorrhizal fungi belong to the phylum *Glomeromycota* (Schüßler et al., 2001), with less than 250 AMF species described up to date (Öpik et al., 2013).
- The establishment of AMF symbiosis occurs through different phases and it can be briefly described as follows: 1) under favorable soil water and temperature conditions, AMF spores germinate spontaneously using their triacylglyceride and glycogen reserves to support the growth of hyphal germ tube (Bago et al., 2000). This behavior occurs independently by plant-derived signals such as root exudates (strigolactone) and volatile compounds (i.e. CO₂) (Harrison et al., 2005); 2) once in contact with the roots of host plant, the AMF forms an hyphopodium through which penetrates into root cells (Bonfante and Genre, 2008); 3) subsequently, the AMF hyphae colonized the root cortex and form

highly branched structures termed arbuscules, which are considered the exchange site of mineral nutrients and organic carbon between host plant and fungi (Garg and Chandel, 2010; Balestrini et al., 2015). In particular, arbuscules are short-living structures and begin to senesce after 4–10 days of activity (Strack et al., 2003). When it collapses, the remnants encapsulated inside the cell wall and is degraded (Sawers et al., 2008). After this process, the plant cell returns to the pre-arbuscular state and can be re-colonized at a later time (Sawers et al., 2008); 4) the life cycle of AMF is completed after formation of asexual chlamydospores on the external mycelium (Garg and Chandel, 2010).

- The obligate biotrophs nature of AMF, contributes to improve crop production, plant nutrition (Bücking and Kafle, 2015; Tarraf et al., 2015; Langeroodi et al., 2017), especially as concerns phosphorus (Berruti et al., 2016; Williams et al., 2017), and nutrient use efficiency (Bender and Heijden, 2015), thus representing a key component of organic and/or sustainable soil-plant system (Gianinazzi et al., 2010; Bender et al., 2016). Nevertheless, the symbiosis provides several benefits to host plant, it has a cost in term of organic carbon. In fact, it is estimated that over 20% of the C fixed is delivered from host plant to fungi (Bago et al., 2000).
- It was widely reported that intensive agricultural systems characterized by high fertilization input (particularly N and P) negatively affect AMF symbiosis, leading to a significant decrease in root colonization, mycorrhizal fungal richness and diversity (Mäder et al., 2000; Egerton-Warburton and Allen, 2000; Verbruggen et al., 2012; Sheng et al., 2013; Xiang et al., 2014; Albizua et al., 2015). Under enriched N and P soil conditions, while the carbohydrates costs remain the same for AMF symbiosis, the relative nutrient advantages for crops are reduced, and the colonized plants performance can be lower when compared to un-colonized ones (Janos, 2007).
- Other advantages are provided by AMF symbiosis to host plant, such as improved tolerance to salinity and drought (Augé, 2001; Augé, 2004; Porcel et al., 2011; Augé et al., 2015). Although the physiological and biochemical mechanisms involved in the salt tolerance of AMF plants are still unclear, the improved nutrient uptake could be one of reasons (Al-Karaki, 2000). Furthermore, AMF are capable to improve crop water uptake through the hyphal network that not only increase the root absorption surface area but also leads to go beyond root's depletion zone through the mycelium extra-radical (Allen, 2007; Finaly, 2008), thus improving stomatal control and reducing transpiration rates (Allen, 2007; Aroca et al., 2007; Augé et al., 2015). It was also found that AMF symbiosis can increase the host plant root hydraulic capacity, stimulating the expression aquaporines which

facilitate the passive water flow (Bàrzana et al., 2015); the better crop water use efficiency in AMF plants promotes an enhance in drought tolerance (Augé, 2001; Maralunda et al., 2006; Aroca et al., 2008; Bàrzana et al., 2015).

- AMF also play an important role on soil aggregate formation and stability (Rillig and Mummey, 2006; Leifheit et al., 2014; Leifheit et al., 2015; Rillig et al., 2015) through the glycoprotein production (glomalin) (Balota et al., 2016), contributing to protect soil C stocks (Rillig, 2004) and soil aggregates against erosion factors (García-Orenes et al., 2012).
- Currently, little is known on the effect exercised by soil microorganisms on plant health. Understanding the microbial consortia and mechanisms involved in disease suppression may help to better manage plants while reducing fertilizer and pesticide inputs. There are two types of disease suppression in soils: i) a general, worldwide type effective in every soil, based on competitive activities of the overall micro- and macroflora; ii) specific suppression attributed to the enrichment of specific subsets of soil microorganisms (Raaijmakers and Mazzola, 2016). The figure 1 show plants exposed to the fungal pathogen in two different soil context: i) in a conducive soil with a low abundance of antagonistic microbial consortia, the fungal pathogen causes disease; ii) whereas, in a suppressive soil with a high abundance of antagonistic microbial consortia, most seedlings remain healthy (Raaijmakers and Mazzola, 2016).



Figure 1 – Lines of difense: plants exposed to a fungal pathogen in disease-conducive and -suppressive soils (Raaijmakers and Mazzola, 2016).

- Moreover, enanching the soil microbial consortia by AMF strains, through the beneficial plant-AMF symbiosis, it was reported an improves resistance to disease by soil-borne pathogens (i.e. nematode and fungal pathogens) (Linderman, 1992; Harrier and Watson, 2004; Aliasgarzad et al., 2006; St-Arnaud and Vujanovic, 2007; Pozo and Azcón-Aguilar, 2007, Ipsilantis et al., 2009), contributing to reduce the use of the fungicides and nematocide (Bender et al., 2016).
- Moreover, it is also well-known that the interactions between host plant and soil microorganisms influence soil greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions (CO₂, N₂O and CH₄) (Jackson et al., 2008; Philippot et al., 2008; Frank and Groffman, 2009). Cavagnaro et al. (2012) reported an increase the soil CO₂ emissions in AMF colonized plants, probably due to direct fungal respiration or indirect influence on heterotrophic microorganisms (Johnson et al., 2002; Langley and Hungate, 2003; Zhu and Miller, 2003; Cavagnaro et al., 2008). Furthermore, some authors demonstrated that AMF symbiosis have a positive effect on N₂O emissions reduction (Bender et al., 2014) and N₂O emissions regulation at high soil moisture (Lazcano et al., 2014), thus suggesting that they may contribute to climate change mitigation (Berruti et al., 2016).
- Crop management practices such as intensive soil tillage and mineral fertilization, the use of fungicides and insecticides, and low crop diversity due to the monoculture, negatively affect soil microorganisms' biodiversity, particularly AMF association (Verbruggen et al., 2010). Low-input agriculture system based on organic fertilizer/amendment such as digestate and olive mill wastewater, can be considerate a viable alternative to mitigate the negative effect of conventional or intensive crop management on AMF association.
- The worldwide energy demand is growing rapidly (about 50% by 2040) mainly due to the increasing emerging nations energy consumption. Actually, over 85% of world energy demands is based on fossil-fuels, which has promoted to more than 90% of CO₂ emissions from their combustion related to greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions (International Energy Agency (IEA), 2016). In this context, the use of renewable energy sources can be considerate a viable alternative to fossil-based fuels; among them, the lignocellulosic biomass (e.g. agricultural residues and energy crops, etc.) is one of the most interesting source currently being used to produce energy through the anaerobic digestion processes (Sawatdeenarunat et al., 2016).
- In the recent years, thanks to the incentive European environmental policies, the anaerobic digestion (AD) processes for biogas production is expanding in several countries (Perazzolo et al., 2016), reaching 17.376 AD plants in Europe, mainly localized in

Germany (10.846 AD plants) and in Italy (1.555 AD plants) (European Association Biogas, 2015).

- Anaerobic digestion is a natural processes, where in anaerobic conditions about 20-95% of the feedstock organic matter is degraded by micro-organisms, to produce two by-products: biogas effluents (~ 70% CH₄ and~ 30% CO₂) and digestate (liquid and solid fraction) (Lukehurst et al., 2010; Möller and Müller, 2012; Insam et al., 2015; Romero-Güiza et al., 2016). The physico-chemical digestate characteristics varies strongly in relation to: i) feedstocks; ii) digestate design and operation conditions; and iii) digestate post-treatment (Holm-Nielsen et al., 2009).
- Digestate is considerate an important source of residual organic-C and essential plant nutrients for the agriculture system, in fact it could be used as organic fertilizer or soil amendment in agro-ecosystems (Alburquerque et al., 2012b; Bachmann et al., 2014; Nicoletto et al.; 2014; Nkoa et al., 2014), reducing or replacing completely mineral fertilizer application with less environmental and economic costs (Walsh et al., 2012; Maucieri et al., 2017). The digestate agronomic value is manly related to phisycal-chemical composition (Kuusik et al., 2017), characterized by higher NH₄-N (about 60-80%):TN ratio and pH value and lower organic matter contents, total and organic carbon contents, biological oxygen demand C:N ratio and viscosities than undigested materials (Möller and Muller, 2012; Kuusik et al., 2017). Furthermore, it contains also a P source, as orthophosphates, rapidaly available for uptake by crops and a slow-release form (struvite crystals), due to precipitation of magnesium, ammonium and phosphate ions during AD, with a N-P-K-Mg rating of 5.7-28.9-0.0-9.9 (Tao et al., 2016).
- Digestate solid fraction (DSF) is easily transportable (Al Seadi and Lukehurst, 2012), hygienically safe (Saveyn and Eder, 2014) and can be applied directly as organic fertilizer in soil (Al Seadi and Lukehurst, 2012), leading to enhanced plant–available P (Nest et al., 2015) with the support of the degradative activity of soil microorganisms (Richardson and Simpson, 2011). Although the digestate liquid fraction (DLF) generates higher interest than the solid one, because it contains more nitrogen and potassium (Romero-Güiza et al., 2016), we have to consider that the DLF soil distribution methods usually adopted (mainly splah-plate distribution), lead to a loss of N, due to its volatilization. In fact, the direct contact of DLF with high pH with the atmosphere determines the NH₄-N conversion into ammonium, which is released into air (Maurer and Müller, 2012; Nkoa, 2014).

- Several potential benefits derive by digestate soil application in agro-ecosystem since it improves: 1) crop yield (Abudaker et al., 2012; Vaneeckhaute et al., 2013; Nicoletto et al., 2014); 2) crop nutrient uptake (Bachmann et al., 2014; Koszel and Lorencowicz, 2015); 3) soil fertility through higher nutrients availability (mainly N, P and K) (Arthurson, 2009; Möller and Müller, 2012); 4) soil aggregation due to the organic matter applied, whose content can vary between 30 and 80% in relation to the used digestate (Vaneeckhaute et al., 2017) – thus indirectely enhancing soil structure and improving water infiltration rates, necessary for a good crop production (Arthurson, 2009; Wager-Baumann, 2011; Nkoa et al., 2014; García-Sánchez et al., 2015); and 5) soil microbial activity and its microbial diversity (Petersen et al., 2003; Oldare et al., 2008; García-Sánchez et al., 2015).
- It must be also considered the potential risk of inappropriate application of digestate in agriculture soil related to its salinity (i.e. Na⁺ and Al³⁺) content and stability degree (Romero-Güiza et al., 2016). High volumes or continued spreading of digestate with high salt contents, can lead to an excessive salt and heavy metals accumulation in soil, thus inhibiting the plant growth (Alburquerque et al., 2012a; Restrepo et al., 2013; Mata-Alvarez et al., 2014); while, the use of the unstable digestate can exert a negative effect on organic matter mineralization and nutrient turn-over in plant-soil system (Alburquerque et al., 2012b; Abdullahi et al., 2008; Restrepo et al., 2013).
- It is well-known that soil microorganisms represent a fundamental living and metabolically active component of soil quality (Arthurson, 2009; Watts et al., 2010), contributing not only to the organic matter decomposition and nutrients mineralization, but also to new organic matter production (Bachmann et al., 2014). Although several authors have investigated the digestate spreading e effect on soil microbial populations, reporting a positive or nil effect on soil microbial biomass, enzyme activities and changes in microbial community composition (Abubaker et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2012; Walsh et al., 2012; Johansen et al., 2013; Bachmann et al., 2014), to our knowledge, the effect of digestate liquid fraction (DLF) and solid fraction (DSF) application on mycorrhized plants has not yet been investigated.
- Olive tree is the most important cultivated in Mediterranean basin, and the Spain is the main producing country (2.5 million ha), followed by Italy (1.13 million ha), Greece (0.85 million ha) and Portugal (0.35 million ha) (FAOSTAT, 2013).
- The olive oil production in these countries represents almost 98% of the total world's production (Magdich et al., 2016). Consequently, about 30 106 m³ of olive mill

wastewater (OMW) are annually produced during a short period of time, since the volume of OMW per 1000 Kg of olives ranges from 0.5 to 1.5 m^3 according to the oil extraction method (Barbera et al., 2013). The high amounts of OMW produced, must be properly managed to avoid the negative environmental impacts associated with their disposal, due to the amount of phenolic compounds (Barbera et al., 2013; Di Bene et al., 2013), that exert phytotoxic and antimicrobial effects (Obied et al., 2005; Saadi et al., 2007). These risks led olive oil-producing countries to enact some directives to regulate the direct OMW spreading. In particular, in Europe Union (UE) each member countries established different limits for OMW spreading (according to d.lgs 152/2006 in Italy the legal limit is 80 m3 ha⁻¹) (Barbera et al., 2013).

- OMW chemical composition is highly variable due to the regional olive varieties characteristics, the harvesting period and oil extraction method (traditional or continuous systems) (Belaqziz et al., 2016; Magdich et al., 2016). The OMW are constituted mainly by: 1) water (about 83-94%); 2) organic matter compounds (about 14-16%); 3) mineral nutrients (about 0.4-2.5%) (Ammar et al., 2005), especially high phosphorus, potassium, calcium, magnesium and iron levels (Sierra et al., 2007), but low nitrogen content (Barbera et al., 2013); 4) sub-acid pH manly due to the presence of organic acid (Poiana and Mincione, 2002); 5) high biological oxygen demand (BOD) and chemical oxygen demand (COD) (Galanakis, 2011; Rahmanian et al., 2014); high EC value (from 5.5 up to 12.0 dS m⁻¹) (Roig et al., 2006); and 6) inhibiting substances (i.e. lipidic and phenol compounds), particularly polyphenols contents at the levels ranging from 0.79 (El Hajjouji et al., 2008) to 13.5 g L⁻¹ (Achak et al., 2009), that may have negative environmental impact when applied to soil (Barbera et al., 2013).
- It is recently reported that the direct OMW application exerts a positive effect on soil structure proprieties, increasing the micro- and macro porosity and aggregate stability, mainly due to the organic matter applied with OMW spreading (Barbera et al., 2013) that represents approximately 65% of their dry weight (Paredes et al., 1999; Poiana et al., 2004), and improving the nutrient contents and soil fertility (Gargouri et al., 2014). For these reason and the OMW lower cost, it can be used as a soil amendment and/or organic fertilizer in agriculture systems (Barbera et al., 2013), particularly in semi-arid climatic conditions, such as Sicily region, affected by soil organic matter depletion and water deficiency (Garcia et al., 1994; Alianello et al., 2001).
- Although several authors showed a negative OMW influence during the seed germination phase (El Hadrami et al., 2004; Isidori et al., 2005; Quaratino et al., 2007; Pierantozzi et

al., 2011) and plant seedling emergence (Hanifi and El Hadrami, 2008) as result of the high OMW polyphenol content, while Barbera et al. (2013) reported beneficial effects on crop yield.

- The OMW effect on soil microbial components is related to the volumes applied, that can on the one hand, influence temporary soil C enrichment, which is easily degradable and thus stimulates the microflora growth, and on the other hand inhibits certain microorganisms such as soil-borne fungal pathogens (Barbera et al., 2013). So far the OMW spreading effect on AMF symbiosis are poorly investigated (Mechri et al., 2008). However, some authors (Mechri et al., 2008; Piotrowski et al., 2008; Ipilantis et al., 2009; Di Bene et al., 2013) reported that OMWs exerted a negative effect on AMF symbiosis, consequently decreasing AMF root colonization, mainly due to their high phosphorus content, C:N ratio, pH, EC values and phytotoxic substances.
- The sustainability of water resources is a critical problem for satisfying the increase water demands of different competitive sectors, mainly agriculture which globally uses over 70% of fresh water (Singh, 2015). Although in the recent past, the irrigation with poor quality water has been considered a limiting environmental factor for sustainable development (Cordoba et al., 2010; Gaudino et al., 2014), today the use of this water for irrigation is becoming a viable alternative for crop production and agriculture development, especially in semi-arid and arid Mediterranean regions subjected to limited fresh water resources (Dorta-Santos et al., 2016). However, we have to consider that poor quality water contains dissolved salts (mainly chloride and sulphate) (Belaid et al., 2009) which can negatively affect soil microbial community (Zalidis et al., 2002), organic matter mineralization (Bouksila et al., 2013), crop productivity and economic returns (Hu and Schmidhalter, 2004; Mahajan and Tuteja, 2005; Shrivastava and Kumar, 2015). Salinity is one of the major causes of soil degradation in the world (Hasegawa et al., 2000; Zhu, 2003 Giri et al., 2003; Al-Karaki, 2006; Evelin et al., 2009), that affects approximately 20% of irrigated land (Qadir et al., 2014). Several studies reported that poor quality water irrigation determined a physical and chemical soil degradation in the short and medium-term distribution (2-20 years) in arid regions (Lado and Ben-Hur, 2009). Salt negative effects on agricultural soil are also linked to the improper use of fertilizers or seawater intrusion into groundwater aquifers (Zalidis et al., 2002; Shrivastava and Kumar, 2015). Under low rainfall or poor drainage conditions, the salt accumulates over time on soil layer due to reduced leaching salts losses, thus resulting in soil salinity (Blaylock, 1994). It is well-known that all plant physiological stages are

negatively affected by salinity (Shrivastava and Kumar, 2015) due to three distinct physiological stresses: i) toxic effects of specific ions such as sodium and chloride, which disrupt the structure of enzymes and other macromolecules, damage cell organelles, reduce photosynthesis and respiration, inhibit protein synthesis, and induce ions deficiency (Ruiz-Lozano et al., 2012); ii) osmotic effect due to physiological drought because plants must maintain lower internal osmotic potentials to prevent water from moving from the roots into the soil (Aggarwal et al., 2012); iii) nutrient imbalance caused by depression in uptake and/or transport (Marschner, 1995; Adiku et al., 2001). Furthermore, under salinity conditions plant phosphorus uptake is significantly reduced because phosphate ions precipitate with Ca, Mg and Zn then being unavailable to plants (Wang et al., 2008; Park et al., 2009; Evelin et al., 2009; Bano and Fatima, 2009).

- In this context, the use of salt-tolerant crops and soil microorganism such as AMF, could represent a sustainable solution to maintain crop productivity in semi-arid areas affects by salinity conditions.
- It is demostrated that AMF symbiosis increase plant tolerance to abiotic stress such as drought (Ruiz-Lozano, 2003; Miransari, 2010) and salinity (Evelin et al. 2009; Miransari, 2010; Porcel et al., 2012). Possible AMF-mediated adaptation mechanisms inducing plant tolerance to saline conditions (Wu et al., 2010) are as the followings: 1) nutrient uptake improvement, especially phosphorus (P) (Al-Karaki 2000; Al-Karaki et al., 2001; Asghari et al., 2005); 2) accumulation of soluble sugars into the mycorrhizal roots (Feng et al. 2002); 3) K⁺/Na⁺ ratio adjustment (Giri et al., 2007; Asghari, 2012); 4) changes in antioxidant enzymatic activates (such as CAT, APX, POD and SOD) (He et al., 2007); 5) increase in the photosynthetic efficiency (Elhindi et al., 2016; Shamshiri and Fattahi, 2016).
- Although AMF are widely found in saline soils (Yamoto et al., 2008; Wilde et al., 2009), some of their features such as spore germination, fungal hyphae growth (Porcel et al., 2012), arbuscules formation (Tian et al., 2004; Sheng et al., 2008), and root colonization levels (Juniper and Abbott, 2006) may be negatively affected by high salinity. Nevertheless, under saline conditions, several studies reported a positive effect on plant growth and yield production in presence of AMF in both glycophyte and halophyte plants (reviewed by Evelin et al., 2009 and Ruiz-Lozano et al., 2012). Furthermore, it is known that native AMF can perform better in the soils they were isolated from such as agricultural (Calvente et al., 2004) or semi-arid degraded soils (Caravaca et al., 2003). Estrada et al., (2013) reported that although maize shoot biomass production was

negatively affected by increasing salt concentrations in the soil solution, the presence of native AMF inoculums isolated from a dry and saline soil, improved maize production as compared to un-inoculated plots. A meta-analysis carried out on 60 papers to evaluate AMF response on C3 and C4 plant growth and nutrient uptake under saline conditions (Chandrasekaran et al., 2016), reported a general positive increase on shoot (67.1%), roots (57.8%) and total plant biomass (71.1%) and N (93.2%), P (86.8%) and K (42.7%) uptake in presence of AMF inoculation.

- Despite these reported positive mycorrhizal behaviors, the positive influence exerted by AMF inoculum on crop production under saline conditions is not yet fully understood and demonstrated in the Mediterranean areas where native strains of michorrhizas are not yet isolated . In order to maximize the crop performance in semi-arid conditions, the isolation of AMF strains from Mediterranean saline soil and their study, could contribute to explain better the response and ecophysiology of AMF in response to use of poor quality water.
- In view of the above mentioned, the aim of this Ph. D. research, in two different pedoclimatic Mediterranean region (Veneto and Sicily), is to assess AMF inoculation effect on biomass production in relation to organic fertilizer (digestate and olive mil wastewater) and irrigation with poor quality water, as follows:

Veneto region:

i) six perennial and annual energy crop for biomass production fertilizer with digestate liquid fraction; ii) triticale biomass production under different fertilization rates (mineral fertilizer, digestate liquid fraction, digestate solid fraction and not fertilizer), using seed-coated fungicides; iii) environmental impacts in terms of soil CO₂ emissions and nitrogen leaching.

Sicily region:

 i) three years legume-based succession producing forage (durum wheat-scutellata intercropping), and broad bean and chickpea grain, fertilized with different OMW volumes; ii) a yearly evaluation of millet genotypes for forage production using poor quality water for irrigation at two salinity levels and two water restitution regimes. **Chapter II**

Effects of mycorrhizal inoculation and digestate liquid fertilization on biomass production of six energy crops under rainfed condition

Abstract

The ecosystem services provided by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) and the use of dedicated energy crops and organic waste (as digestate), are a viable alternative to reduce the environmental negative impacts of intensive agriculture, opposing the climate change ongoing. The aim of this work was to evaluate AMF inoculation effects on both biomass production and soil CO₂ emissions of six energy crops fertilized with digestate liquid fraction (DLF). The trial was carried out in an experimental farm of the north-east Italy (Legnaro), and it lasted three years. The results showed, that in all studied crops, AMF inoculation did not affect biomass production. The AMF root colonization was variable during the experimental years as a result probably of the high N input and weather conditions. AMF treatment significantly reduced NH₄-N leaching (-32.8%), but conversely it increased NO₃-N leaching (+70.0%), soil CO₂ emission (+23.1%) and cumulative CO₂-C emissions (+17.0%) released into the atmosphere. AMF exerted a plant-specific effect on soil CO₂-C emissions, determining the highest emissions increment (+30.4%) in giant reed and Jerusalem artichoke, while the lowest one (+7.75%) in sorghum. Giant reed showed the highest biomass production (42.7 ± 3.73 Mg ha⁻¹), followed by miscanthus (29.1 \pm 2.58 Mg ha⁻¹), sorghum (26.2 \pm 1.36 Mg ha⁻¹), maize $(22.6 \pm 1.47 \text{ Mg ha}^{-1})$, Jerusalem artichoke $(21.6 \pm 1.46 \text{ Mg ha}^{-1})$ in the average of the two cuts) and lolium (6.29 \pm 0.39 Mg ha⁻¹). Sorghum showed the highest N (5.03% \pm 0.11) and P ($0.67\% \pm 0.03$) concentrations in the biomass among the studied crops, and at the same time a lower N uptake compared to giant reed and a lower P uptake compared to maize. Sorghum (208.9 \pm 14.9 g N_{ue} g⁻¹ and 1592.6 \pm 118.5 g P_{ue} g⁻¹) and miscanthus (152.7 \pm 11.6 g $N_{ue}~g^{\text{-1}}$ and 1628.6 \pm 130.5 g $P_{ue}~g^{\text{-1}})$ showed the best nitrogen and phosphorus use efficiency, with a moderate NO₃-N leaching. One hour after digestate spreading, soil CO₂ emission levels significantly raised but just after 24 hours, they returned to pre-digestate spreading condition. Plant-specific effects on soil CO₂ emissions were observed, with the highest emissions in giant reed and Jerusalem artichoke, whereas the lowest in sorghum. The CH₄ yields derived by biomass gasification must be considered with caution because of a single year experiment for annual and perennial crops was considered. Concluding, the AMF inoculation exercised only a marginal effect, whereas the DLF effect on biomass production can be compared to mineral fertilization.

Introduction

- The global energy demand is growing rapidly and it is presently satisfied by fossil fuels (Weiland, 2010). Due to climate change, limited fossil energy resources and the increase of the atmospheric CO₂, there is a global consensus that future consumption of energy should be directed to renewable energy sources (Johansen et al., 2013). In this context, the use of biomass to produce energy is a viable alternative to energy from fossil sources and it can be used at global scale in the world (McKendry, 2002). Anaerobic digestion (AD) of the biomass allows production of biogas as a renewable energy source from one hand and a high quantity of digestate as system waste from the other hand. This latter can exert negative environmental impact if it is not adequately treated or re-used in a proper way (Galvez et al., 2012). Digestate is characterized by higher NH₄-N:TN ratio and pH, lower organic matter contents, total and organic carbon contents, biological oxygen demand, C:N ratio and viscosities than undigested materials (Möller and Muller, 2012). Due to its high nutrients content, digestate (Tambone et al., 2010) is used as organic amendment or fertilizer in different agro-ecosystems (Bachmann et al., 2014; Nicoletto et al.; 2014; Nkoa, 2014). The application of organic amendments in agroecosystems has been widely recommended to improve the soil physical fertility and the soil carbon stock (Thangarajan et al., 2013; Ryals et al., 2014). However, at the same time, amendments influence soil greenhouse gas emission (Thangarajan et al., 2013) and so particular attention should be paid for the evaluation of environmental impact from all points of view. Several authors reported positive fertilizer effects of digestate on crops (Montemurro et al., 2010; Haraldsen et al., 2011; Alburquerque et al., 2012; Garfi et al., 2011), replacing inorganic fertilizer application with less environmental cost (Walsh et al., 2012; Maucieri et al., 2017).
- Symbiotic mycorrhizal fungi, such as arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF), are a significant component of the soil microbial populations and they influence soil fertility and crops yield (Garg and Chandel, 2010; Cozzolino et al., 2013) and ecosystem sustainability (Gianinazzi et al., 2010). AMF play an important ecosystem service improving plants nutrition (Smith and Smith, 2011) and water uptake (Augé et al., 2015), nutrient mobilization from organic substrates (Finlay, 2008), soil C content (Rillig et al., 2001; Zhu and Miller, 2003; Orwin et al., 2011; Cheng et al., 2012; Averill et al., 2014), plants' resistance to abiotic stresses (Ruiz-Lozano et al., 2012; Aroca et al., 2013; Augé et al., 2014), soil aggregates stabilization (Rillig, 2004) and soil erosion reduction (Mardhiah et al., 2016). AMF natural functions have been marginalized in intensive agriculture due to

negative effect of tillage and high inputs of inorganic fertilizers and herbicides (Lumini et al., 2011; Zocco et al., 2011; Borriello et al., 2012; Berruti et al., 2014). AMF influence soil CO₂ emission directly through their respiration and indirectly influencing heterotrophic microorganisms. These last can be: 1) negatively influenced considering that AMF increases plant nitrogen (Miransari, 2011) and water uptake (Augé, 2004; Augé et al., 2015); or 2) positively influenced by AMF carbon release in the soil. Lazcano et al. (2014) reported that AMF colonization of tomato roots did not have a significant effect on total CO₂ emissions but the same amount of CO₂ emitted for root biomass unit was higher in AMF colonized plants. Several authors have studied the digestate effect on soil microbial populations (Abubaker et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2012; Walsh et al., 2012; Johansen et al., 2013; Bachmann et al., 2014), but to our knowledge the effect of digestate liquid fraction (DLF) application on plants mycorrhization has not yet been investigate.

- The understanding of the interactions between AMF and digestate spreading on both plant production and soil CO₂ emissions are crucial for the development of sustainable agriculture.
- With this in mind the aims of this work were to evaluate in open field conditions the AMF inoculation effects on both biomass production and soil CO₂ emissions of six perennial and annual energy crops fertilized with DLF.

Materials and Methods

Experimental description

The experiment has been carried out from January 2014 to March 2017 at the "L. Toniolo" experimental farm of the University of Padova at Legnaro (45° 21' N; 11° 58' E; 6 m a.s.l.), north-east Italy. The adopted experimental design was a split-plot with AMF inoculation as the main-plot (AMF-Y = inoculated and AMF-N = un-inoculated) and six herbaceous perennial or annual crops as the sub-plots replicated four times, for a total 48 concrete growth boxes (2x2 m side) and 12 treatments. The perennial species were *Arundo donax* L. (Giant reed), *Miscanthus x giganteus* Greef et Deu (Miscanthus), *Heliantus tuberosus* L. (Jerusalem artichokes), *Lolium perenne* L. (Lolium) and the annual species were *Zea mays* L. (Maize) and *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench (Sorghum). The growth boxes were installed with the top surface at 1.3 m above ground level, to avoid water table influence, and the bottom open, to allow water percolation and were filled with fulvi-calcaric Cambisol soil, according to FAO-UNESCO classification. The first 50 cm soil profile in all boxes has been replaced using fulvi-calcaric Cambisol with

Daramators	Deep soil (cm)				
1 al ametel s	0-50				
Sand (%)	23.7 ± 2.83				
Silt (%)	57.1 ± 2.51				
Clay (%)	19.2 ± 1.13				
эН	7.48 ± 0.06				
ECe (µS cm ⁻¹)	271.3 ± 13.0				
ГNK (mg Kg ⁻¹)	1425 ± 47.8				
NO ₃ -N (mg kg ⁻¹)	22.2 ± 3.71				
$NO_2-N (mg kg^{-1})$	0.03 ± 0.002				
NH ₄ -N (mg kg ⁻¹)	2.95 ± 0.29				
PO ₄ -P (mg kg ⁻¹)	1.14 ± 0.18				
P (g kg ⁻¹)	0.89 ± 0.01				
Ca (g kg ⁻¹)	70.3 ± 1.46				
K (g kg ⁻¹)	7.94 ± 0.56				
Mg (g kg ⁻¹)	35.6 ± 0.61				
Na (g kg ⁻¹)	0.36 ± 0.02				

chemical-physical characteristics reported in Table 1 in January 2014, before the beginning of experiment.

The DLF was distributed once a year (April 1st 2014, March 19th 2015 and April 1st 2016) at dose of 250 kg N ha⁻¹ in all boxes. Main DLF chemical characteristics are reported in table 2. AMF inoculation (mix granular inoculum of *Rhizophagus intraradices, Funneliformis mosseae, Glomus etunicatum* and *G. clarum* obtained from MycAgro Lab., France) were carried out during sowing or plants transplanting at dose of 500 propagules m⁻², only in 2014 for perennial herbaceous crops, and in 2014 and 2015 for annual ones. No AMF inoculation was carried out at the beginning of 2016 crop season to evaluate, from previous two years' inoculation, the persistence and success of AMF inoculum in the experimental soil. After an adequate soil preparation, giant reed and Jerusalem artichoke (local ecotype) was transplanted on February 26th 2014 at 7 rhizomes m⁻², niscanthus (local ecotype) was transplanted on February 26th 2014 at 7 plants m⁻², lolium (cv. Mathilde) was sowed in April 24th 2014 using 5 g seeds m⁻². Sorghum (hybrid Sugar Graze II) was sowed (4.5 g seeds m⁻²) on April 24th 2014, April 13th 2015 and April 19th 2016 and it was thinned to obtain 7 plants m⁻². During experiment, the boxes with maize

Table 1 – Chemical-physical characteristics of the soil

and sorghum were annually interchanged. Growth boxes were kept free of weeds manually during spring seasons in both years, then weed control was not necessary.

Deverysters	Years						
Parameters	2014	2015	2016				
EC (mS cm ⁻¹)	25.2	24.9	24.9				
рН	7.4	7.6	7.8				
$COD (g L^{-1})$	44.1	40.3	41.3				
Dry matter (DM) (%)	4.8	5.0	6.0				
Ash (%)	1.4	1.5	1.6				
Total Carbon (% DM)	36.3	32.4	38.5				
Sulfur (% DM)	1.0	0.7	1.0				
TKN (mg kg ⁻¹)	4906.4	4874.6	5230.8				
NH ₄ -N (mg kg ⁻¹)	3374.5	3199.6	2927.8				
NO ₃ -N (mg kg ⁻¹)	17.9	4.5	-				
NO ₂ -N (mg kg ⁻¹)	1.5	1.6	-				
PO ₄ ³⁻ (mg kg ⁻¹)	422.4	297.2	47.1				
TP (mg kg ⁻¹)	537.3	589.1	640.5				
K (mg kg ⁻¹)	3072.2	2619.4	3287.1				
Ca (mg kg ⁻¹)	895.6	999.4	900.7				
Na (mg kg ⁻¹)	222.4	293.1	264.5				
Mg (mg kg ⁻¹)	590.0	464.1	500.7				

Table 2 – Chemical-physical characteristics of the DLF spreaded during three experimental years

Meteorological variables

Over the experimental period, the main meteorological variables (rainfall, maximum, minimum and average temperature, wind speed and solar radiation) and potential evapotranspiration (ET_0) were collected using a weather station located about 500 m far from the experimental site (ARPAV, Legnaro).

Bio-agronomic parameters

The main bio-agronomic traits (culm height and diameter, leaf number) were measured weekly on three plants for each growth box over the first two growing seasons. Plants were randomly selected and marked after plants emergence. At each harvest shoot density was detected.

Biomass sampling and analysis

During each experimental year plants harvest was scheduled considering plants species and meteorological conditions. Giant reed, miscanthus and maize were managed adopting single cut; sorghum was managed adopting multiple cuts (three); Jerusalem artichokes were managed adopting both single and double cuts. Lolium was managed with five cuts during the three experimental years (Tab. 3). At the harvest time, fresh biomass production for each growth box was measured in the field. A subsample of fresh biomass was used to determine the biomass moisture content drying it in a thermo-ventilated oven at 65 °C until constant weight. Then dry biomass was milled at 2 mm (Cutting Mill SM 100 Comfort, Retsch, Germany) to determine total nitrogen (N) by Kjeldahl method and phosphorus (P) content (Balthrop et al., 2011).

Spacia					Year				
specie	2014			2015			2016		
A. donax	03/10	-	-	01/10	-	-	04/10	-	-
M. x giganteus	03/10	-	-	01/10	-	-	04/10	-	-
H. tuberosus (single cut)	03/10	-	-	01/10	-	-	04/10	-	-
H. tuberosus (double cut)	17/06	03/10	-	17/06	01/10	-	17/06	04/10	-
Z. mays	20/08	-	-	06/08	-	-	12/08	-	-
S. bicolor (multiple cut)	11/07	04/09	30/10	10/07	03/09	29/10	21/07	12/09	03/11
L. perenne	11/07	04/09	-	13/05	-	-	30/05	04/10	-

Table 3 - Harvesting schedule during the trial

Nitrogen and phosphorus uptake and nutrient use efficiency

Nitrogen and phosphorus uptake were calculated as the product of nutrient concentration and

dry biomass yield.

Nutrient use efficiency indicates the total biomass produced per unit of nutrient absorbed, and it is expressed as the ratio of dry matter production and nutrient content (g g^{-1}) (Beale and Long, 1997).

Soil moisture measurement

Volumetric soil water content was measured every 10 cm in the 0-90 cm soil profile with a Diviner 2000 device (Sentek, Stepney, Australia) which consists of a probe and hand-held data logging display unit, allowing measures onsite. Data were collected weekly in the two years between the 1st and the 3rd DLF distribution (from April 2014 to April 2016).

Water sampling and analysis

A porous ceramic plate (Ø 27 cm) was placed at 0.90 m depth in 18 boxes. The plates had air-entry suction of 50 kPa, saturated hydraulic conductivity of $1.25*10^{-5}$ cm s⁻¹. They were connected to a suction system by a network of Rilsan plastic thin (Ø 2 mm) pipes, protected by bigger (Ø 20 mm) and more rigid PVC pipes. This system consented the conduction of vacuum and the collection of percolation water samples. The central components were placed in a small building close to the growth boxes (Fig.1) and consist of:

- 1 electric vacuum pump (power 0.37 KW) provided with a mechanical vacuum gauge. The pump was connected to a tank (50 L), provided with 2 pressure switches that allow the regulation of minimum and maximum thresholds;
- 1 pair of 5 L bottles to collect overflows;
- 18 pairs of 1 L bottles to collect samples; each pair was connected to one ceramic plate by a plastic pipe;
- 1 panel to control distribution of the vacuum, each ceramic plate was handled separately by means of a valve.



Figure 1 – Layout of the suction system to collect percolated water samples. A) electric vacuum pump; B) mechanical vacuum gauge; C) tank; D) pressure switches; E) bottles for overflows; F) panel to control distribution of the vacuum; G) valve; H) bottles to collect samples; I) porous ceramic plate

- The system was started by manual activation of the pump, which, once it reached the set power, stabilized the suction intensity and began samples collection in the bottles.
- The percolation water samples were taken, at 3 different times, in both the 60 days after DLF spreading in 2014 and the 45 days after DLF spreading in 2015; and 5 times after the first growing season from December 2014 to 2015 DLF spreading and 2 times after the second growing season.
- A total of 223 percolation water samples were collected and analysed to detect total nitrogen (TN), ammonium nitrogen (NH₄-N), nitric nitrogen (NO₃-N), total phosphorus (TP) and orthophosphate (PO₄-P). All samples were frozen immediately after collection and stored until laboratory analysis. TN and TP were determined using Valderrama method (Valderrama, 1981), PO₄-P with Olsen method (Olsen et al., 1954), NO₃-N by modified Cataldo method (Cataldo at al., 1975) and NH₄-N by Fiastar 5000.

Root sampling and analysis

Root samples from three randomly selected plants per box were collected during each growing season in June with a hand-operated soil probe (5 cm diameter) in the first 20 cm depth for all crops, except for giant reed (in the first 30 cm depth). Subsequently, roots were washed clean of soil with some drops of Tween 20 and then rinsed several times in tap water in agreement with Vierheilig et al. (1998). Root samples were cleared and stained as reported in Annex I, for estimating the percentage of AMF colonization according to Trouvelot (1986) as follows: F%= mycorrhization frequency (the percentage of root fragments showing fungal colonization), M%= AMF colonization intensity (the percentage of fungi structures referred to the whole root system), m%= AMF colonization intensity (the percentage of fungi structures referred to colonized root fragments), a%= abundance of arbuscules (percentage of arbuscules presence referred to the whole root system).

Soil CO₂ emission

- Soil CO₂ emission was weekly monitored in each growth box from April 2014 (1st DLF distribution) to April 2016 (3rd DLF distribution). For CO₂ measure device maintenance soil CO₂ emission was not measured from mid-October to December 2014. Considering literature data on soil CO₂ emission peak in the first hours and days after DLF distribution (Grigatti et al., 2011) the frequency of soil CO₂ emission measures after DLF distribution was increased. The CO₂ flux was measured with the static non-stationary chamber technique (Maucieri et al., 2016a) using a chamber with a volume of 5 L and 10 cm square base. Soil CO₂ flux was determined by measuring the temporal change in CO₂ concentration inside the chamber using a portable IR instrument (Geotech G150), detecting CO₂ concentrations at levels of parts per million.
- CO₂ flux was calculated using the following formula:

$$CO_2 = V/A * dc/dt$$

where CO_2 flux is expressed in mg CO_2 m⁻² s⁻¹; V (m³) is the volume and A (m²) the footprint of the flux chamber; 'c' is the CO_2 concentration (mg CO_2 m⁻³) and 't' the time step (s).

In each CO₂ measurement point, soil temperature and moisture (TDR 100 Soil Moisture Meter) in the first 7.5 cm were also detected.

Biochemical Methane Potential (BMP)

The BMP was estimated by the CREA laboratory (Modena – Italy) according to Owen et al. (1979), by monitoring cumulative methane production from a mixture (substrate + inoculum) incubated in anaerobiotic conditions at 35°C and pH 7. The mixture was constituted by: 1 g of volatile solids (VS) for sample, 50 mL of substrate (liquid pig manure) and 50 mL of standard inoculum.

Statistical analysis

The normality of data was checked using the Shapiro–Wilk test. Data that were normally distributed were analyzed using the analysis of variance (ANOVA) and significant differences were determined by Fisher's LSD test. Instead, for the data that didn't show normal distribution, Kruskal-Wallis and Mann-Whitney nonparametric tests were used to check the significant differences. Correlations between not normally distributed dataset were evaluated using Spearman Rank correlation.

Results

Meteorological variables

The experimental site is characterized by a sub-humid climate, with a mean annual rainfall of about 838 mm, quite evenly distributed throughout the year. The mean annual temperature is about 13.5 °C. During the three experimental years, air temperature ranged from -5.6 to +36.8 °C (Fig. 2a), the highest amount of rainfall was recorded in 2014 (1311 mm year⁻¹) whereas the lowest one in 2015 (-59.4% of rainfall). Intermediate rainfall was recorded during 2016 (-26.4% compared to 2014) (Fig. 2b). The maximum solar radiation and ET₀ were measured between June and July with fairly similar values in all three years (Fig. 2b and 2c).



Figure 2 – Meteorological data recorded during the three experimental years: a) Maximum, minimum and average temperature; b) Rainfall and solar radiation; c) Potential evapotranspiration (ET₀).

Bio-agronomic traits: culm height, culm diameter and leaf number as affected by AMF inoculation, species, experimental year and cutting management

- As reported in table 4, AMF inoculation did not affected significantly the bio-agronomic traits of all the crop species, with the only exception of miscanthus, where AMF inoculation determined a significant (p<0.05) culm height decrease (-4.90%) as compared to un-inoculated treatment.
- Considering the first two experimental years, in 2014, giant reed, miscanthus, Jerusalem artichoke managed with single and double biomass cutting and maize showed a significant increase in all the bio-agronomic traits as compared to 2015, except for giant reed culm height which was not different in both years (Tab. 4).

Species Cut		T :	AMF treatment				Years			
		Irait	AMF-N		AMF-Y		2014		2015	
		Culm height (cm)	305.9 ± 10.9	ns	298.7 ± 10.7	ns	308.6 ± 7.96	ns	296.1 ± 13.0	ns
A. donax	SC	Culm diameter (cm)	1.59 ± 0.10	ns	1.68 ± 0.08	ns	1.92 ± 0.07	а	1.36 ± 0.07	b
		Leaf number	38.0 ± 1.35	ns	37.0 ± 1.45	ns	40.0 ± 0.78	а	$\textbf{35.0} \pm \textbf{1.71}$	b
		Culm height (cm)	293.5 ± 5.11	а	279.1 ± 8.22	b	311.7 ± 4.44	а	261.0 ± 519	b
M. x giganteus	SC	Culm diameter (cm)	1.38 ± 0.10	ns	1.36 ± 0.08	ns	1.78 ± 0.03	а	0.96 ± 0.03	b
		Leaf number	18.0 ± 0.38	ns	18.0 ± 0.47	ns	20.0 ± 0.16	а	16.0 ± 0.26	b
TT / 1		Culm height (cm)	223.4 ± 21.8	ns	229.5 ± 21.0	ns	293.8 ± 4.44	а	159.1 ± 8.56	b
H. tuberosum	SC	Culm diameter (cm)	2.09 ± 0.36	ns	2.20 ± 0.29	ns	3.14 ± 0.16	а	1.14 ± 0.10	b
(single cul)		Leaf number	78.0 ± 13.1	ns	82.0 ± 12.1	ns	121.0 ± 2.16	а	39.0 ± 2.97	b
		Culm height (cm)	142.9 ± 6.05	ns	150.7 ± 6.79	ns	159.9 ± 4.46	а	133.7 ± 5.87	b
	1	Culm diameter (cm)	1.69 ± 0.19	ns	1.79 ± 0.25	ns	2.42 ± 0.12	а	1.06 ± 0.07	b
H. tuberosum		Leaf number	38.0 ± 3.40	ns	39.0 ± 4.66	ns	51.0 ± 1.60	а	25.0 ± 1.28	b
(double cut)		Culm height (cm)	133.4 ± 24.4	ns	138.0 ± 23.0	ns	211.1 ± 6.61	а	60.3 ± 6.94	b
	2	Culm diameter (cm)	1.16 ± 0.15	ns	1.22 ± 0.14	ns	1.62 ± 0.07	а	0.76 ± 0.07	b
		Leaf number	45.0 ± 4.40	ns	31.0 ± 4.42	ns	59.0 ± 2.57	а	35.0 ± 3.63	b
Z. mays		Culm height (cm)	252.7 ± 5.90	ns	258.5 ± 5.84	ns	268.8 ± 3.94	а	242.5 ± 6.26	b
	1	Culm diameter (cm)	3.43 ± 0.15	ns	3.39 ± 0.15	ns	3.82 ± 0.13	а	3.00 ± 0.11	b
		Leaf number	17.0 ± 0.18	ns	17.0 ± 0.16	ns	18.0 ± 0.12	а	17.0 ± 0.08	b
		Culm height (cm)	209.7 ± 5.51	ns	206.4 ± 6.61	ns	223.9 ± 5.65	а	192.3 ± 4.54	b
	1	Culm diameter (cm)	1.57 ± 0.07	ns	1.53 ± 0.05	ns	1.41 ± 0.05	b	1.70 ± 0.05	a
		Leaf number	10.0 ± 0.22	ns	10.0 ± 0.23	ns	10.0 ± 0.20	ns	10.0 ± 0.24	ns
<i>c i</i> · <i>i</i>		Culm height (cm)	181.2 ± 13.8	ns	166.2 ± 15.5	ns	236.4 ± 7.93	а	110.9 ± 5.62	b
S. DICOIOR	2	Culm diameter (cm)	1.15 ± 0.05	ns	1.04 ± 0.04	ns	1.23 ± 0.03	a	0.97 ± 0.04	b
(muniple cui)		Leaf number	9.0 ± 0.28	ns	9.0 ± 0.29	ns	9.0 ± 0.29	ns	9.0 ± 0.28	ns
		Culm height (cm)	90.1 ± 2.88	ns	91.8 ± 10.5	ns	98.3 ± 3.27	а	$\overline{83.6\pm2.14}$	b
	3	Culm diameter (cm)	0.78 ± 0.03	ns	0.80 ± 0.03	ns	0.86 ± 0.03	а	0.71 ± 0.02	b
		Leaf number	7.0 ± 0.31	ns	7.0 ± 0.22	ns	6.0 ± 0.16	b	7.0 ± 0.25	a

 Table 4. Main effects of experimental variables on bio-agronomic traits. Different letters show statistical differences using LSD – Fisher Test

*SC = single cut management

In Jerusalem artichoke, as concerns the effects of the interaction biomass cutting numbers x years, all the bio-agronomic traits were significantly (p<0.001) higher in the single biomass cutting (Fig. 3a, 3b and 3c) in both years, with the only exception for the culm diameter in the 2015 (Fig. 3b).





Figure 3 – Interaction between biomass cutting numbers x years in Jerusalem artichoke on: a) culm height; b) culm diameter and c) leaf number, in both experimental years. Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.001 (LSD – Fisher Test).

When only the double biomass cutting was considered in Jerusalem artichoke on the first year (2014), a significantly (p<0.01) higher (+32.0%) culm height was registered at the second cut compared to the first one; an opposite trend was observed in 2015, with a significantly (p<0.01) higher (+121.7%) culm height at the first cut as compared to the second one (Fig. 4a). In both experimental years, Jerusalem artichoke showed at the first cut a significantly (p<0.01) higher (+49.2% for 2014 and +40.1% for 2015) culm diameter as compared to the second one (Fig. 4b). Only in the second growing season at the second cut, AMF inoculation induced a significant (p<0.01) leaf number increase (+19.7%) compared to un-inoculated plots (Fig. 5).



Figura 4 - Culm height (a) and culm diameter (b) in Jerusalem artichoke as affected by biomass cutting numbers and cropping season. Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.01 (LSD – Fisher Test).



Figure 5 – Leaf number in Jerusalem artichoke as affected by mycorrhizal inoculation, biomass cutting numbers and cropping season. Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.01 (LSD – Fisher Test).

In sorghum, for all the three biomass cuttings, culm height was significantly (p<0.001) higher in 2014 (+16.5%, +113.1% and +17.6% for first, second and third cut, respectively) compared to 2015 (Fig. 6a). Culm diameter was significantly (p<0.001) higher (+20.5%) in 2015 than 2014, only at the first cut (Fig. 6b); while, in the second and third cut, it was significantly (p<0.001) higher in 2014 (+26.7% and +20.9% for second and third cut, respectively) than 2015 (Fig. 6b). The same leaf number was determined in the first and the second cutting in 2014 and 2015 (Fig 6c); in the third cutting leaf number resulted significantly (p<0.001) higher (+27.0%) in 2015 than 2014 (Fig. 6c).


Figure 6- Sorghum bio-agronomic traits in both experimental years as affected by biomass cutting number and cropping seasons on culm height (a); culm diameter (b) and leaf number (c). Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.001 (LSD – Fisher Test).

In lolium, the first two biomass cuttings were made in 2014 and the third one in 2015. The AMF inoculation did not determine any difference on plant height (grand mean = $67.2 \pm 2.0 \text{ cm plant}^{-1}$). At the third cut (the only cut made in 2015), lolium plant height showed a significant (p<0.001) increase (+30.4% and +78.5%) compared to first and second cut, respectively (Fig. 7).



Figure 7 – Plant height in lolium as affected by biomass cutting numberDifferent letters show statistical differences at p<0.001 (LSD – Fisher Test).

Shoot density

AMF inoculation affected shoot density only in miscanthus and sorghum (Tab. 5).

In particular, in miscanthus, AMF inoculation determined a significantly (p<0.05) lower (-27.1%) shoot density than un-inoculated treatment only in the first year; but not in the following two years (Fig. 8). In sorghum, a positive AMF inoculation effect was observed on shoot density, with a significant (p<0.001) increase (+15.4%) as compared to un-inoculated treatment (Tab. 5).



Figure 8 – AMF inoculation effect on shoot density in miscanthus during experimental years. Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.05 (LSD – Fisher Test).

Considering all the experimental years, the same trend in shoot density was found in giant reed and Jerusalem artichoke when managed with the double biomass cutting, with a significant (p<0.01) increase from the first to the third year (Tab. 5); while, the shoot density in Jerusalem artichoke managed with a single biomass cutting, significantly increased only between the first and the second year, whereas it did not show any difference between the second and third year (Tab. 5). Miscanthus showed a significant (p<0.001) decrease (-17.9%) in shoot density from the first to the second year, with the highest density reached at the third year (Tab. 5). An opposite trend was found in sorghum with a significantly (p<0.001) higher shoot density on the first year compared the other ones (Tab. 5).

S	AN	IF tr	eatment	ţ		Years					Biomass Cuttings					
Species	AMF	-N	AMF	-Y	2014		2015		2016		1 st		2 nd		3 rd	
	109.0		113.0		12.0		34.0		38.0							
A. donax	±	ns	±	ns	±	c	±	b	±	а						
	14.9		3.7		1.16		0.93		1.26							
M x	79.0		69.0		74.0		60.0		88.0							
M. X	±	a	±	b	±	b	±	c	±	а						
gigunieus	3.83		4.60		5.85		2.24		1.16							
H.	73.0		80.0		23.0		97.0		109.0							
tuberosum	±	ns	±	ns	±	b	±	а	±	а						
(single cut)	18.4		16.9		5.74		3.01		8.56							
H.	117.0		100.0		53.0		128.0		160.0		100.0		117.0			
tuberosum	+	ne	+	ne	55.0 +	c	120.0	h	+	9	107.0	ne	+	ne		
(double	15 /	115	15.0	115	10.8	C	 3 5 5	U	10.1	а	10 1	115	0.85	115		
cut)	13.4		15.0		10.8		5.55		10.1		19.1		9.85			
S. bicolor	111.0		128.0		154.0		102.0		103.0		62.0		104.0		193.0	
(multiple	±	b	±	а	±	а	±	b	±	b	±	c	±	b	±	а
cut)	10.2		11.7		13.0		11.9		13.3		3.64		11.2		5.90	

Table 5. Main effects of experimental variables on shoot density (culm m⁻²)

Jerusalem artichoke managed with double biomass cutting showed a significant interaction cuts x experimental years, with an opposite shoot density trend at the first and the third year; no difference was found between the first and the second cut in 2015 (Fig. 9).



Figure 9 – Effect of the two cuts on shoot density in Jerusalem artichoke during experimental years. Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.05 (LSD – Fisher Test).

Comparing single and double biomass cutting, Jerusalem artichoke showed a significant (p<0.001) shoot density increase (+48.0%) when managed with the double cutting, as shown in Fig. 10.



Figure 10 – Comparison of the effect between single and double biomass cutting on shoot density in Jerusalem artichoke. Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.001 (LSD – Fisher Test).

Sorghum showed a significant (p<0.001) higher shoot density at the third cut in all the three experimental years (Fig. 11). In the first year, shoot density significantly increased from the first to the third cut, whereas, in the second and third year, no differences was observed between the first and second cut, highlighting low tillering values.



Figure 11 – Effect of the multiple cuttings on shoot density in sorghum during experimental years. Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.001 (LSD – Fisher Test).

Dry biomass production as affected by AMF inoculation, species, experimental year and biomass cutting numbers

Comparing all the studied crops, the highest and lowest total aboveground dry biomass production was found in giant reed (42.7 ± 3.73 Mg ha⁻¹) and lolium (6.29 ± 0.39 Mg ha⁻¹). As regards the experimental years, giant reed and lolium showed a progressive increase over the years (Tab. 6), with the highest total dry biomass production in the third one (2016). In miscanthus however, no difference was observed between 2014 and 2015 (Tab. 6). On the contrary, for Jerusalem artichoke, maize and sorghum, the highest total aboveground dry biomass production was observed in the first year (2014) (Tab. 6). Considering Jerusalem artichoke biomass cutting numbers, in the average of the experimental years, no statistical differences were found between single and double

cutting on total aboveground dry biomass production (grand mean = 21.6 ± 1.46 Mg ha⁻¹). Focusing attention only on the double biomass cutting, Jerusalem artichoke showed significant (p<0.001) higher aboveground dry biomass production (+67.3%) at the first cut compared to the second one (Tab. 6).

In sorghum, it was observed a significant (p<0.01) decrease from the first to the third cut in dry biomass production, as shown in table 6.

							-		_								
S	AN	1F tr	eatmei	nt		Years						Biomass Cuttings					
Species	AMI	F-N	AMI	F-Y	201	4	2015		2016		1 st		2 nd		3 rd	1	
	43.0		42.4		20.6		45.6		62.0								
A. donax	±	ns	±	ns	±	c	±	b	±	а							
	5.96		4.75		1.10		1.20		3.17								
	30.3		27.9		19.0		22.3		46.0								
M. x giganteus	±	ns	±	ns	±	b	±	b	±	а							
	3.68		3.76		0.71		1.23		1.36								
H tubarosum	18.2		21.9		26.1		18.4		15.6								
(single out)	±	ns	±	ns	±	а	±	b	±	b							
(single cul)	1.82		3.17		3.86		1.16		1.10								
H tuberosum	20.8		25.4		31.7		15.9		21.7		14.5		8.64				
(double cut)	±	b	±	а	±	а	±	c	±	b	±	а	±	b			
(uouoie cui)	3.61		2.71		0.73		1.61		3.36		1.46		1.05				
	21.8		23.3		32.0		17.7		17.9								
Z. mays	±	ns	±	ns	±	а	±	b	±	b							
	2.08		2.14		0.61		1.03		0.79								
S bicolor	26.4		26.0		33.5		20.2		25.0		11.6		12.4		2.23		
(multiple cut)	±	ns	±	ns	±	а	±	c	±	b	±	а	±	а	±	b	
(munple cui)	1.45		1.30		1.61		0.95		1.24		0.45		1.04		0.18		
	10.1		10.8		7.89		9.05		14.5								
L. perenne	±	ns	±	ns	±	c	±	b	±	a							
	0.90		0.97		0.33		0.45		0.55								

Table 6. Main effects of experimental variables on dry biomass production (Mg ha⁻¹)

Among the studied crops, only in Jerusalem artichoke managed with double biomass cutting and in sorghum, AMF inoculation affected the total dry biomass production. In Jerusalem artichoke, in the average of the two cuts, AMF inoculation induced a significant (p<0.05) biomass production increase (+22.6%) than un-inoculated plots (Tab. 6) due to the heavy effect detected in 2016 (Fig. 12a). Considering the interaction between AMF inoculation and biomass cutting number, AMF significantly (p<0.01) effected biomass only at the first cut determining a dry biomass production increase of +39.7% at the first cut as compared to un-inoculated plots (Fig. 12b); no statistical difference in biomass was determined at the second cut by AMF treatments (grand mean = 8.64 ± 1.05 Mg ha⁻¹).



Figure 12 - Dry biomass production in Jerusalem artichoke managed with a double biomass cutting: a) AMF inoculation effect during the three years b) interaction between AMF inoculation x cuts. Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.05 and p<0.01 (LSD – Fisher Test).

In sorghum, analysing the interaction AMF inoculation x years on yearly cumulative aboveground dry biomass, emerged a significant (p<0.05) negative effect of AMF inoculation (-16.9 % compared to un-inoculated treatment) at the first year, whereas no effect was observed at the second and third year (Fig. 13a). The AMF negative effect in 2014 was mainly due to the noticeable reduction in the second cut biomass production (Fig. 13b).



Figure 13 – Dry biomass production in sorghum: a) AMF inoculation effect during experimental years;
b) interaction AMF x cuts x years. Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.05 (LSD – Fisher Test).

In lolium, the highest aboveground dry biomass production was detected at the third and the fourth cut, when it was well establishment in the growth boxes (Fig. 14). Considering the experimental years, when lolium was cut two times in the same year (first and third year), a significant (p<0.01) dry biomass production decrease was observed at the second cut as compared to the first one (-45.5% and -24.4% in 2014 and 2016, respectively) (Fig 14).



Figure 14- – Dry biomass production in *lolium* for each cutting during the experimental years. Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.001 (LSD – Fisher Test).

In the average of the other studied factors, adding the cumulative aboveground dry biomass production in the three experimental years, the highest dry yield was observed in giant reed, followed by miscanthus, sorghum, Jerusalem artichoke, maize and lolium (Fig. 15).



Figure 15 – Cumulative total dry biomass production in all the studied crops. Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.01 (LSD – Fisher Test).

Nitrogen and phosphorus concentrations in dry biomass tissues

- AMF inoculation did not exert any effect on N and P biomass concentration in all the studied crops.
- Regarding the biomass cutting numbers, AMF treatment did not shown any difference between single and double cut in Jerusalem artichoke for both nutrient concentrations. Analysing separately the two cuts, it was observed a positive effect of AMF on N biomass concentration only at the second cut, with a significant (p<0.05) increase (+27%) compared to un-inoculated plots (Tab. 7). In sorghum, AMF inoculation negatively (p<0.01) affected (-12.5%) the N biomass concentration only at the first cut (Tab. 7) whereas no effects were monitored at the second and the third cuts. An AMF significant (p<0.001) positive effect (+13.2%) on the P concentration in sorghum biomass was observed only at the third cut (Tab. 7).
- Considering the cropping season effect on N and P concentration in the biomass dry matter (Tab. 7), giant reed biomass did not show any difference on N concentration among the three years; while, it showed a significantly (p<0.01) higher P concentration in 2016 compared to the previous years. Miscanthus, maize and lolium showed a significantly (p<0.001) higher N and P concentration in the first year (2014) compared to following ones. Comparing the Jerusalem artichoke biomass cutting numbers, the biomass harvested in the plots managed with double cutting showed a significant (p<0.001) higher N and P concentration). In particular, the interaction biomass cutting management x years, showed that the highest N concentration was monitored in the biomass of the first cut in 2014 (Fig. 16a); in the three years, the biomass harvested at the first cut showed significant (p<0.001) higher P concentration than the second cut (except 2016) and the single cut one (Fig 16b).



Figure 16– Effect of the interaction biomass cutting management x years in Jerusalem artichoke on N concentration (a) and P concentration (b). Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.001 (LSD – Fisher Test).

	Biomass	Concentration	A	AMF treatment					Years						
Species	Cutting	(% D.M.)	AMF	'-N	AMF	Y	201	4	2015		2016				
			1.230		1.249		1.317		1.161		1.241				
		Ν	±	ns	±	ns	±	ns	±	ns	±	ns			
A. donax			0.109		0.067		0.139		0.081		0.105				
		P	0.086		0.091		0.088		0.063		0.114				
		P	± 0.008	ns	±	ns	± 0.000	в	± 0.005	c	±	а			
			0.008		0.011		1.014		0.003		0.012				
		Ν	0.072 ±	ns	±	ns	1.014 ±	а	0.540 ±	b	0.070 ±	b			
			0.066	110	0.089	110	0.060	u	0.034	U	0.084	U			
M. x giganteus			0.066		0.074		0.093		0.044		0.073				
		Р	±	ns	±	ns	±	а	±	c	±	b			
			0.006		0.009		0.008		0.002		0.005				
			1.109		1.035		0.896		0.909		1.411				
TT . T		Ν	±	ns	±	ns	±	b	±	b	±	a			
H. tuberosum			0.14/		0.120		0.029		0.046		0.176				
(single cul)		р	+	ns	+	ns	+	h	+	h	+	а			
		1	0.012	115	0.008	115	0.002	Ū	0.014	Ū	0.004	u			
			1.75		2.00		2.406		1.734		1.485				
		Ν	±	ns	±	ns	±	а	±	b	±	b			
	1 st		0.19		0.21		0.043		0.096		0.237				
	1		0.21		0.21		0.203		0.209		0.220				
TT . T		Р	±	ns	±	ns	±	ns	±	ns	±	ns			
H. tuberosum			0.01		0.01		0.006		0.005		0.020				
(aouble cut)		N	1.54	h	1.70	9	1.170	h	1./00	9	1.010	9			
		14	0.15	U	0.11	a	0.153	U	0.124	a	0.133	a			
	2 st		0.15		0.15		0.129		0.118		0.198				
		Р	±	ns	±	ns	±	b	±	b	±	a			
			0.02		0.02		0.006		0.008		0.004				
			1.064		1.082		1.189		1.001		0.988				
		Ν	±	ns	±	ns	±	а	±	b	±	b			
Z. mays			0.040		0.035		0.019		0.045		0.039				
		Р	+	ns	+	ns	+	а	+	с	+	h			
		-	0.018	110	0.020	110	0.004	u	0.006	•	0.004	U			
			1.400		1.225		1.348		1.333		1.257				
		Ν	±	а	±	b	±	ns	±	ns	±	ns			
	1 st		0.061		0.050		0.096		0.076		0.050				
		_	0.159		0.164		0.150		0.132		0.201				
		Р	±	ns	±	ns	±	b	±	с	±	а			
			0.008		1 273		0.005		1 3 4 3		1 303				
		Ν	1.150 ±	ns	1.275 ±	ns	±	b	1.545 ±	а	1.505 ±	а			
S. bicolor	- st		0.095	110	0.071	110	0.025	0	0.148		0.043				
(multiple cut)	2 st		0.159		0.178		0.205		0.130		0.171				
		Р	±	ns	±	ns	±	a	±	с	±	b			
			0.011		0.013		0.014		0.005		0.009				
		N .	1.064		1.082		2.379		2.144		2.993				
		N	± 0.040	ns	± 0.025	ns	± 0.054	в	± 0.020	c	± 0.056	а			
	3 st		0.040		0.035		0.034		0.029		0.030				
		Р	±	b	±	а	±	а	±	b	±	а			
			0.024		0.030		0.016		0.004		0.012				
			2.098		2.068		2.705		2.041		1.482				
		Ν	±	ns	±	ns	±	а	±	b	±	c			
L. nerenne			0.143		0.138		0.063		0.056		0.012				
p		-	0.306		0.294		0.335		0.299		0.265				
		Р	± 0.010	ns	\pm 0.014	ns	± 0.010	а	± 0.000	ab	± 0.012	b			
			0.010		0.014		0.010		0.008		0.012				

Table 7. Main effects of experimental variables on nitrogen and phosphorus concentration (% D.M.)

In sorghum, averaging the cuttings, there was not any differences on N concentration among years (grand mean = 1.68 ± 0.08); a significantly (p<0.001) lower (-36.1% and -38.2%) P concentration was found in 2015 as compared to 2014 and 2016, (0.251% \pm 0.02 and 0.259% \pm 0.02, respectively). Furthermore, the highest N and P concentrations were found at the third cut in all the experimental years (Fig. 17a and Fig. 17b).



Figure 17 – Effect of the interaction between crops management x years in sorghum on N concentration (a) and P concentration (b). Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.001 (LSD – Fisher Test).

In lolium biomass, N concentration during the experimental years, showed a significant (p<0.001) constant decrease from the first to the fifth cut (Fig. 18a). Instead, the highest P concentration was found between the first and second cut whereas the lowest P concentration was found at the fourth cut (Fig. 18b).



Figure 18 – Effect of the biomass cutting numbers in lolium during experimental years on N concentration (a) and P concentration (b). Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.001 (LSD – Fisher Test).

Total biomass nitrogen and phosphorus uptake per hectare

- AMF inoculation did not exert any effect on N and P uptake in all the studied crops and cut managements. Despite the biomass cutting management, in Jerusalem artichoke, AMF inoculation significantly (p<0.05) increase N (+31.2%) and P (+31.4%) uptake compared to un-inoculated plots which showed an uptake of 177.2 \pm 25.0 Kg ha⁻¹ for N and 17.6 \pm 2.1 Kg ha⁻¹ for P.
- Regarding sorghum biomass cutting management, AMF inoculation negatively (p<0.01) affected (-25.3%) N uptake in the 2014, and positively (p<0.01) increased it (+20.6%) in the 2016 (Fig. 19a). Considering P, AMF inoculation significantly (p<0.01) increased (+26.1%) the sorghum uptake only in 2016 (Fig. 19b).



Figure 19 – Effect of the interaction between AMF treatments x years in sorghum on N uptake (a) and P uptake (b). Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.01 (LSD – Fisher Test).

The highest N and P uptakes were observed in 2016 for giant reed and miscanthus and in 2014 for maize (Tab. 8).

	Biomass	Untako	A	MF tr	eatment		Years					
Species	Cutting	(Kg ha ⁻¹)	AMF	-N	AMF	-Y	201	4	2015		2016	
			507.6		524.4		266.4		530.2		751.4	
		Ν	±	ns	±	ns	±	с	±	b	±	а
A. donax			71.6		63.0		25.2		43.1		46.4	
		D	37.4		40.7		17.7	1	28.5	1	70.9	
		P	± 7 2 4	ns	± 9.49	ns	± 169	b	$\frac{\pm}{220}$	b	± 7.06	а
			196.1		218.2		191 3		120.8		309.4	
		Ν	±	ns	±	ns	±	b	±	с	±	а
			23.0		37.0		9.30		8.73		42.0	
M. x giganteus			19.6		20.9		17.5		9.90		33.4	
		Р	±	ns	±	ns	±	b	±	c	±	а
			2.86		3.55		1.04		0.84		2.51	
		.	195.6		216.9		233.1		168.0		217.6	
II to be an annual		N	$\frac{\pm}{22.0}$	ns	±	ns	±	ns	± 19.1	ns	± 26.4	ns
H. tuberosum (single cut)			25.0		24.2		21.4		13.1		20.4	
(single cul)		Р	±	ns	±	ns	±	ns	±	ns	±	ns
		•	1.90		2.26		2.82		3.31		0.77	
			228.6		343.5		443.5		189.2		225.4	
		Ν	±	ns	±	ns	±	а	±	b	±	b
	1 st		63.4		56.4		12.0		31.9		86.7	
	-		25.3		36.0		37.4		22.8		31.8	
TT / 1		Р	±	ns	±	ns	±	ns	$\frac{\pm}{2}$	ns	±	ns
H. tuberosum (double cut)			4.29		4.92		1.50		<u>3.60</u> 90.3		9.10	
(uoubic cui)		Ν	107.5 ±	ns	138.5 ±	ns	155.7 ±	а	90.3 ±	b	122.0 ±	ab
		14	15.4	115	14.8	115	22.2	u	7.68	U	10.6	uo
	2 st		12.5		12.9		17.1		6.02		15.0	
		Р	±	ns	±	ns	±	а	±	b	±	а
			2.19		2.35		1.51		0.41		0.41	
			237.9		251.8		380.3		176.7		177.5	
		Ν	±	ns	±	ns	±	а	±	b	±	b
Z. mays			28.9		52.0		/.04		26.2		24.6	
		р	49.0 +	ns	+	ns	94.0 +	а	+	c	54.0 +	h
			8.68	115	9.89	115	2.61	u	1.74	c	1.82	U
			160.5		144.5		178.3		145.3		134.0	
		Ν	±	ns	±	ns	±	а	±	b	±	b
	1 st		14.7		7.59		18.1		9.63		9.90	
			17.9		19.2		19.7		14.5		21.6	
		Р	±	ns	±	ns	±	а	±	b	±	а
			1.21		1.4/		1.11		0.81		1./3	
		N	140.8	ns	145.5	ns	+	а	07.5 +	h	+	а
S. bicolor		14	16.3	115	12.0	115	9.91	u	10.1	0	9.74	u
(multiple cut)	2 st		21.6		22.2		34.7		8.57		22.3	
· • •		Р	±	ns	±	ns	±	а	±	c	±	b
			3.74		3.01		1.66		0.58		1.60	
			53.6		53.0		72.3		54.2		33.3	
		Ν	±	ns	±	ns	±	а	±	b	±	с
	3 st		5.19		4.59		3.07		1.80		1./1	
		Р	0.04 +	b	/ .0 / +	я	+	я	+	h	+.52 +	c
		1	0.88	U	1.18	а	0.60	а	0.20	U	0.28	C
			119.2		129.5		109.8		184.6		108.7	
		Ν	±	ns	±	ns	±	b	±	а	±	b
I паранна			9.77		12.4		12.0	$ \pm $	12.5		8.18	
L. perenne		1	17.9		18.1		12.9		26.8		18.7	
		Р	±	ns	±	ns	±	c	±	а	±	b
			1.49		1.28		0.94		1.24		0.75	

Table 8. Main effects of experimental variables on nitrogen and phosphorus uptake (Kg ha⁻¹)

Jerusalem artichoke, in the average of single and double cut, showed the highest N uptake in 2014 while, the highest P uptake was found in 2014 and 2016 (Fig. 20a and 20b). Although there were not any differences on N and P uptake between single and double cut (grand mean = for 205.0 ± 19.2 Kg N ha⁻¹ and 20.3 ± 1.85 Kg P ha⁻¹), considering the plots managed with two cuts, the highest N and P uptake were detected at the first cut (Fig 21a and 21b).



Figure 20– Effect of the years in Jerusalem artichoke in the average of the single and double biomass cutting N uptake (a) and P uptake (b). Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.001 (LSD – Fisher Test).



Figure 21 – Comparison single and double biomass cutting management in Jerusalem artichoke on N uptake (a) and P uptake (b). Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.001 (LSD – Fisher Test).

In sorghum, the lowest N and P uptake was found at the third cut in all the three years. The highest N uptake were measured at the first and second cut in 2014, as well as to the second one in 2016 (Fig. 22a). Instead, the highest P uptake was found in the 2014 at second cut (Fig. 22b).



Figure 22 – Effect of the interaction between the three cutting x years in sorghum on N uptake (a) and P uptake (b). Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.001 (LSD – Fisher Test).

Considering the biomass cuts during the experimental years in lolium, the same trend was observed for N and P uptake with a significant (p<0.001) strong decrease from the first to the second cut and from the third to the fifth one (Fig. 23a and 23b).



Figure 23 – Effect of the five cuts in lolium during experimental years on N uptake (a) and P uptake (b). Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.001 (LSD – Fisher Test).

Nitrogen and phosphorus use efficiency (N_{ue} and P_{ue})

- AMF inoculation did not exert any effect on N and P use efficiency. Analysing separately the three cut in sorghum, it was observed an AMF positive (p<0.05) effect on nitrogen use efficiency (N_{ue}) at the first cut and a significant (p<0.001) decrease on phosphorus use efficiency (P_{ue}) at the third cut (Tab. 9).
- Considering the experimental years, in giant reed no statistical differences was found in relation to the years for N_{ue}, whereas, miscanthus and maize showed the highest efficiency in the 2015 and 2016 (Tab. 9). Instead, for the same species, the highest Pue was found in 2015 (Tab. 9).

	AMF inoculation		Years									
Species	Cut	$(g g^{-1})$	AMF	-N	AMF	-Y	2014	ļ.	2015		2016	
			88.7		82.8		82.2		88.9		86.2	
		Ν	±	ns	±	ns	±	ns	±	ns	±	ns
			7.98		4.86		8.74		5.88		9.75	
A. donax			1286.5		1286.1		1245.3		1671.1		942.4	
		Р	±	ns	±	ns	±	b	±	а	±	b
			133.3		148.2		157.3		145.2		97.7	
			160.2		145.2		100.9		189.7		167.5	
		Ν	±	ns	±	ns	±	b	±	a	±	а
M v gigantaus			15.7		17.5		5.51		14.8		21.5	
m. x giganieus			1671.4		1585.9		1115.8		2318.7		1451.4	
		Р	±	ns	±	ns	±	b	±	а	±	b
			160.5		212.3		73.6		163.3		160.2	
			97.0		101.7		111.9		110.8		75.3	
		Ν	±	ns	±	ns	±	ns	±	ns	±	ns
H. tuberosum			10.5		8.72		3.68		5.26		11.9	
(single cut)		-	1197.7		1078.0		1210.5		1329.3		873.8	
		Р	±	ns	±	ns	±	ns	±	ns	±	ns
			126.3		88.2		33.5		154.3		27.8	
		N	60.6		53.7		$41.6 \pm$		58.2		/1./	
		Ν	±	ns	± 7.52	ns	0.75	ns	± 2.10	ns	±	ns
	1^{st}		0.18		/.55				3.19		9.29	
		р	4/8.6		480.8		494.4		4/8.9		465.8	
II tub mogum		r	± 10.1	ns	± 22.1	ns	$\pm \ 13.9$	ns	± 11.9	ns	± 42.2	ns
n. tuberosum			80.0		60.3				57.6		63.2	
(uouble cul)		N	+	ne	+	ne	$91.1 \pm$	ne	+	ne	+	ne
		1	113	115	6 77	115	14.5	115	⊥ 4 69	115	5 29	115
	2 st		724.8		705.7				858 3		506.5	
		Р	+	ns	+	ns	781.0	ns	±	ns	±	ns
		-	76.3		71.9	110	± 0.75	110	3.20	110	9.29	
			91.1		94.5				101.3		102.3	
		Ν	±	ns	±	ns	84.3 ±	b	±	а	±	а
~			3.83		3.78		1.34		4.39		4.24	
Z. mays			515.0		504.8		220.1		680.7		520.4	
		Р	±	ns	±	ns	539.1	с	±	а	±	b
			43.4		45.1		± 4.40		27.0		12.1	
-			73.0		83.3		76.0 +		77.1		80.4	
		Ν	±	b	±	а	70.9±	ns	±	ns	±	ns
	1 st		3.38		3.74		5.00		5.21		3.29	
	1		644.9		644.7		670.7		763.0		500.9	
		Р	±	ns	±	ns	±	b	±	а	±	с
			28.9		44.4		21.7		27.9		17.9	
			98.7		81.2		100.6		91.8		77.4	
		Ν	±	ns	±	ns	±	ns	±	ns	±	ns
S. bicolor	2^{st}		15.0		4.39		2.50		23.5		2.83	
(multiple cut)		р	659.5		594.7		505.1	1	//9.4		596.9	1
		P	± 44.1	ns	± 42.0	ns	± 25.0	b	± 22.6	а	± 25.7	b
			44.1		42.0		42.2		<u> </u>		33.7	
		N	+1.1	ne	+0.5	ne	42.2	h	+0.7	9	+	c
		1	1 69	115	1.82	115	0.99	U	0.61	а	0.63	C
	3 st		336.8		304.5		254.7		458.7		248.5	
		Р	+	а	+	h	+	h	+	а	+	h
		•	28.9	u	30.8	0	10.7	U	7.68	u	7.89	Ū
			52.1		53.1		37.5		49.6		69.1	
		Ν	±	ns	±	ns	±	с	±	b	±	а
-			3.57	11S ± 3.90		1.20	$c \pm 2.00$	-	2.88			
L. perenne			333.6		354.0		301.6		341.0		387.4	
		Р	±	ns	±	ns	±	b	±	b	±	а
			11.5		15.9		7.85		19.9		15.2	

Table 9. Main effects of experimental variables on nitrogen and phosphorus use efficiency $(g g^{-1})$

In relation to biomass cutting numbers, Jerusalem artichoke showed a significantly (p<0.001) higher N and P use efficiency in the single cut (+90.4% for N_{UE} and +55.5% for P_{UE}) compared to double cut (597.5 ± 35.4 g g⁻¹ for N and 63.9 ± 4.21 g g⁻¹ for P). In Jerusalem artichoke the interaction biomass cutting management x years, showed a significantly (p<0.01) higher N_{ue} in the single cut in the 2014 and 2015; while, in the double one only at the second cut in 2014 (Fig. 23a). The same trend of N_{ue} was also observed for P_{ue} in single cut in the 2014 and 2015, while in the double biomass cutting the highest P_{ue} was found in the 2014 and 2015 at the second cutting (Fig. 24b).



Figure 24 – Comparison between single and double cut in Jerusalem artichoke on: a) nitrogen and b) phosphorus use efficiency. Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.01 (LSD – Fisher Test).

In sorghum, the highest N_{ue} was observed at the second cut (Fig.25a). Focusing attention on P_{ue} , and considering the interaction biomass cutting x years, sorghum showed a significantly (p<0.001) higher P_{ue} in 2015 than in 2014 and 2016 for all the three cuttings (Fig. 25b).



Figure 25- a) Effects of the three biomass cutting management on nitrogen use efficiency and b) interaction cuttings x years on phosphorus use efficiency in sorghum. Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.001 (LSD – Fisher Test).

In lolium a progressive increase from the first to the fifth cut in N_{ue} (Fig. 26a) was found; whereas, it was observed a lower P_{ue} between the first and the second cut, with an increase in the following cuttings (Fig. 26b).



Figure 26 –Evaluation of the nitrogen (a) and phosphorus (b) use efficiency in lolium during the growing season. Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.001 (LSD – Fisher Test).

Overall, averaging the experimental years and cut managements, the highest Nue was observed in sorghum; while the highest Pue were found in sorghum and in miscanthus compared to the other crops (Fig. 27a and Fig. 27b).



Figure 27 – Comparison of the nitrogen (a) and phosphorus (b) use efficiency in all crops. Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.01 (LSD – Fisher Test).

NH₄-N, NO₃-N and PO₄-P leaching

In the average of the studied crops, AMF inoculation exerted a positive environmental effect on the leaching of ammonium nitrogen, with a significant NH₄-N reduction of - 32.8% and a negative effect on nitrate nitrogen with a significant NO₃-N leaching increase of +70.0% (Fig. 28a and 28b). No specific crop effect NH₄-N concentration in the percolation water was observed during experimental years with a concentration median value of 1.39 mg NH₄-N L⁻¹. On the contrary, crop species had significant (p<0.001) effect on NO₃-N leaching with the highest median value in presence of maize (30.0 mg NO₃-N L⁻¹) and the lowest median value in presence of lolium (1.21 mg NO₃-N L⁻¹) (Fig. 29). No differences were found between giant reed and sorghum (median value of 17.9 mg NO₃-N L⁻¹), and between miscanthus and Jerusalem artichoke (median value

21.9 mg NO₃-N L^{-1}) (Fig.28). Also the TNK concentration was not affected by studied factors, with a median concentration of 3.74 mg TKN L^{-1} .

The P concentration in water percolation, ranged from 0.0 to 1.83 mg L^{-1} for TP and from 0.0 to 1.35 mg L^{-1} for PO₄-P.



Figure 28– AMF inoculation effect on: a) NH_4 -N and b) NO_3 -N concentration in the water percolation. Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.01 and p<0.001(Test Mann-Whitney).



Figure 29 – Effect of the crops on NO₃-N concentration in water percolation. Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.001(Test Kruskal-Wallis).

AMF root colonization (%)

AMF root colonization was variable among the crop species and during the experimental years, with the lowest values measured at the first year for all species with the only exception of Jerusalem artichoke (Tab. 10). In fact, Jerusalem artichoke root colonization decreased from the first to third years; while an opposite trend was observed for the other crops (Tab. 10).

			Years													
			2014					2015					2016			
Species	AMF treatment	F%	m%	M%	a%	A%	F%	m%	M%	a%	A%	F%	m%	M%	a%	A%
1 donar	AMF-N	6.7	0.8	3.8	0.0	0.0	25.0	4.3	16.9	1.1	0.1	78.3	33.9	41.1	90.3	31.4
A. uonux	AMF-Y	48.3	9.2	19.2	40.6	3.55	52.5	19.7	37.0	18.6	3.8	76.2	22.2	29.7	81.6	18.6
<i>M. x</i>	AMF-N	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	53.3	9.3	15.8	73.1	6.4	95.8	26.6	27.7	73.5	20.2
giganteus	AMF-Y	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	38.3	8.3	19.5	63.1	6.3	82.4	14.7	18.0	83.6	12.4
II tub mostus	AMF-N	62.0	13.8	22.4	53.4	7.36	79.8	23.8	29.0	55.0	16.9	75.8	21.0	27.8	89.4	18.9
n. iuverosus	AMF-Y	100	84.3	84.3	94.4	79.5	90.9	45.4	49.2	79.3	37.4	55.8	18.6	31.5	86.7	16.0
7 mans	AMF-N	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	86.7	34.7	39.0	94.7	32.9
Z. mays	AMF-Y	40.0	5.73	14.7	62.8	3.66	10.9	1.0	8.9	38.3	0.5	65.8	23.4	31.0	69.2	20.2
C hisslan	AMF-N	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	40.0	1.2	3.0	38.8	0.47	28.3	3.6	14.4	73.7	3.2
S. Dicolor	AMF-Y	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	20.0	0.6	2.9	8.2	0.05	34.2	3.3	11.1	79.0	2.4
Al Al	AMF-N	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	31.7	8.4	25.8	59.6	4.4	82.1	36.1	43.5	86.0	30.5
L. perenne	AMF-Y	36.7	3.8	10.0	59.4	2.43	66.7	22.5	25.8	41.9	15.0	82.7	27.0	31.6	90.3	23.9

 Table 10- AMF root colonization during the experimental years.



Presence of AMF structures as arbuscules and vesicles at the third years (2016). Giant reed (1A and 2A); miscanthus (1B and 2B); Jerusalem artichoke (1C and 2C); maize (1D and 2D); sorghum (1E) and lolium (1F, 2F and 3F).

Soil moisture content

- Considering the first two experimental years, for all crop species and soil layers the percentage soil moisture was significantly (p<0.001) higher during the first cropping season compared to the second one (Tab. 11).
- The AMF inoculation determined a significantly (p<0.05) increase of soil moisture in the 0-30 cm depth soil layer in miscanthus (+22.3%), Jerusalem artichoke managed with double cut (+36.3%) and sorghum (+14.0%) compared to un-inoculated plots (Tab. 11). Instead, a significant (p<0.05) soil moisture decrease of -21.3% and -14.7% in presence of AMF inoculation was monitored for giant reed in the 0-30 cm layer and for Jerusalem artichoke managed with single cut in the 60-90 cm layer, respectively (Tab. 11).

Plant spacies	Donth soil (cm) —	Yea	ır		AMF in	oculation	
	Deptil son (cm)	2014-2015	2015-2016	p-value	AMF-N	AMF-Y	p-value
	0-30	30.4	22.1	0.001	28.2	22.2	0.05
A. donax	30-60	33.4	18.4	0.001	25.4	23.3	ns
	60-90	32.8	15.0	0.001	22.4	20.8	ns
	0-30	32.1	18.0	0.001	21.8	26.6	0.05
M. giganteus	30-60	36.2	19.1	0.001	33.7	31.1	ns
	60-90	36.6	14.5	0.001	35.4	32.7	ns
	0-30	28.9	17.1	0.001	22.7	18.2	ns
H. tuberosus (SC)	30-60	35.5	16.5	0.001	22.1	22.0	ns
	60-90	32.2	13.8	0.001	18.4	15.7	0.05
	0-30	26.3	17.7	0.001	18.9	25.8	0.05
H. tuberosus (DC)	30-60	33.8	16.9	0.001	22.2	21.0	ns
	60-90	33.0	15.9	0.001	18.8	17.2	ns
	0-30	28.2	13.8	0.001	19.8	22.6	ns
Z. mays	30-60	33.9	17.0	0.001	29.7	28.5	ns
	60-90	34.4	18.0	0.001	32.8	29.4	ns
	0-30	29.0	18.4	0.001	24.3	27.7	0.05
S. bicolor	30-60	33.9	17.3	0.001	30.4	30.6	ns
	60-90	35.2	17.0	0.001	32.1	32.2	ns
	0-30	26.5	12.0	0.001	18.42	16.10	ns
L. perenne	30-60	30.7	16.2	0.001	25.50	28.40	ns
	60-90	32.9	16.6	0.001	29.57	31.69	ns

Table 11 – Soil moisture content (%)

Soil CO₂ emissions

- In 2014, in the average of the crop species, we observed a CO_2 peak emission (median value 7.2 g CO_2 m⁻² h⁻¹) one hour after spreading with a significant decrease just after 24 hours (median value 0.8 g CO_2 m⁻² h⁻¹), with emissions not significantly different from those measured before the spread (0.7 g CO_2 m⁻² h⁻¹). Similarly, in 2015, we detected a CO_2 peak emission one hour after spreading (median value 4.3 g CO_2 m⁻² h⁻¹) with a significant reduction after 24 hours (median value 0.5 g CO_2 m⁻² h⁻¹).
- During the first four measurements after DLF distribution (1-8 April 2014), in the perennial crops (giant reed, miscanthus and Jerusalem artichoke) transplanted about one mounth before digestate spreading (1 April 2014), there were no differences in soil CO₂ emissions (median value 0.40 g CO₂ m⁻² h⁻¹) between AMF inoculated and un-inoculated plots . Also in first 6 measurements performed in 2015 (19-30 March 2015) and 4 ones of the 2016 (1-14 April 2016), after DLF distribution, no statistical differences were found in soil CO₂ emissions (median value 0.49 g CO₂ m⁻² h⁻¹ for 2015 and 0.73 g CO₂ m⁻² h⁻¹) between AMF inoculated and un-inoculated plots and un-inoculated plots and un-inoculated plots of the 2016 (1-14 April 2016), after DLF distribution, no statistical differences were found in soil CO₂ emissions (median value 0.49 g CO₂ m⁻² h⁻¹ for 2015 and 0.73 g CO₂ m⁻² h⁻¹) between AMF inoculated and un-inoculated plots in all the tested species.
- Averaging all the species and considering all the measurements carried out during the crop growing season, AMF inoculation significantly (p<0.001) increase (+23.1%) soil CO₂ emissions as compared to un-inoculated plots (median value of 0.27 g CO₂ m⁻² h⁻¹). Considering each crop, AMF inoculation determined a significant (p<0.05) soil CO₂ emissions increase for miscanthus (+40.0%) and for Jerusalem artichoke (+30.0%) compared to un-inoculated plots (Fig. 30a and Fig. 30b). No statistical difference was found in giant reed, maize, sorghum and lolium between AMF inoculated and un-inoculated plots (median values of 0.53, 0.28, 0.30 e 0.40 g CO₂ m⁻² h⁻¹, respectively).



Figure 30 – AMF inoculation effect on soil CO₂ emission in a) miscanthus and b) Jerusalem artichoke. Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.001(Test Kruskal-Wallis).

For all crop species, except giant reed, soil CO₂ emissions were positively correlated (Spearman R) with soil temperature and negatively correlated (Spearman R) with soil moisture (Tab. 12).

Plant species	Soil temperature (°C)	Soil moisture (%)
A. donax	0.005^{ns}	0.028 ^{ns}
M. giganteus	0.5541***	-0.1056**
H. tuberosus	0.5142***	-0.1513***
Z. mays	0.5319***	-0.0494 ^{ns}
S. bicolor	0.5905***	-0.1183***
L. perenne	0.6582***	-0.2675***

Table 12 –Correlation between soil temperature and moisture and soil CO₂ emission.

*= p<0.05; **= p<0.01; ***= p<0.001; ns= not significant

Considering the cumulative CO_2 emissions at the end of the 25 monitoring months (05 May 2016), AMF inoculation determined a significant (p<0.001) cumulative CO_2 -C increase (+17.7%) than un-inoculated plots (a grand median = 1619.3 g CO_2 -C), with median values higher for giant reed and Jerusalem artichoke (+30.4%), and for maize (+24.5%), while, the lower median values were observed in miscanthus (+13.2), lolium (+9.70) and sorghum (+7.75%), compared to un-inoculated treatment (median values = 1134.2, 1399.8 and 1635.1 g CO_2 -C for giant reed Jerusalem artichoke, and maize; and 1449.9, 2.258.8 and 1838.1 g CO_2 -C for miscanthus, lolium and sorghum, respectively) (Fig. 31a and Fig. 31f).



Figure 31 –Soil CO₂ emission cumulative in giant reed (a), miscanthus (b), Jerusalem artichoke (c), maize (d), sorghum (e) and lolium (f).

Biochemical Methane Potential (BMP)

- A preliminary BMP analysis, performed only in the first year (2014), showed a CH₄ higher yield in absence of AMF inoculation for giant reed, miscanthus and Jerusalem artichoke managed with single cut whereas a CH₄ lower yield for maize, sorghum and lolium (Tab. 13).
- Regarding to the cut biomass management, inside of the double cut in Jerusalem artichoke, the second cut showed higher CH_4 yield than the first one (Tab. 13). In sorghum and lolium the highest CH_4 yield was obtained at the second cut (Tab. 13).

cumulative CH ₄ (mL)										
C	AN	AF-N		AMF-Y						
Crops	Mean	SD	Mean	SD						
A. donax	222	5.9	214	9.4						
M. x giganteus	215	1.8	213	2.2						
H. tuberosus (SC)	211	8.9	189	9.0						
H. tuberosus (DC) – I cut	6	2.3	7	0.9						
H. tuberosus (DC) – II cut	137	87.6	199	11.0						
Z. mays	5/3/71	-	115	97.6						
S. bicolor (I cut)	5/96	-	169	25.5						
S. bicolor (II cut)	180	9.2	214	5.6						
S. bicolor (III cut)	6/131	-	209	18.0						
L. perenne (I cut)	66/6	-	167/10	-						
L. perenne (II cut)	192	16.0	226	6.0						

Table 13 – Energy crops methane yield

*SC= single cut; *DC=double cut

Discussion

In literature, the AMF positive effect on plant growth has been widely reported (Wu et al. 2005; Cho et al. 2009; Celebi et al., 2010; Abdel-Fattah et al., 2012; Tauler and Baranza, 2015). However, it is well known that the AMF effect is variable and dependent on plant mycorrhizal fungi interaction (Romero-Munar et al., 2017). According to this assumptions, AMF root colonization was variable during the experimental years, with different responses of the crops to the symbiosis, i.e. a positive AMF inoculation effect observed on Jerusalem artichoke managed with double biomass cutting and negative AMF inoculation effect on miscanthus. The lower AMF arbuscular abundance (A%) in the first experimental year, in all species excluding Jerusalem artichoke (with the highest A%), can be due to: 1) physical soil disturbance during the setting up of the experimental due to the boxes filling with soil in the first 50 cm depth. In fact, it is widely reported that the soil disturbance strongly negatively affects the success of the AMF inoculation and modify the AMF community (Jasper et al., 1989; Jansa et al., 2002; Verbruggen et al., 2013; Van der Heyde et al., 2017); 2) high nutrient contents in the soil used to fill the boxes. In a soil with high nutrient availability, the most of the plant nutrient uptake occurs from the rich circulating soil solution, neglecting the nutrient sources provided by AMF

symbiosis (Berruti et al., 2014); 3) high nutrients (especially N) input through DLF supply. It is known that AMF colonization decreases strongly with high fertilization input due to the reduction in carbon allocation from plant to mycorrhizas (Verbruggen et al., 2013; Berruti et al., 2014). This behavior of the plant can increase the AMF competition for limited C resources (Berruti et al., 2014).

- In the second year, while Jerusalem artichoke showed an A% decline of about 53.0% compared to the first year, the other crops exhibited nil difference or slight increases of A% between the first and the second year. This result was probably due to the climate conditions recorded during 2015, that may have negatively affected AMF colonization. In particular, the lowest rains with an uneven distribution and the associated highest ET environmental demand during June and July, have led to a drastic soil moisture reduction. In nature, AMF spores must remain viable from one period of root growth to the next; however, under drought conditions, the decay in the spores viability is progressively correlated with the soil drought conditions and time of exposure which may be a critical factor in the success or AMF survival (Ruiz-Lozano et al., 1996). Few studies concern AMF sporulation under water stress conditions (Silva et al., 2015), with variable effects of soil water content on AMF spore germination in relation to fungi species and genera (Giovannetti et al., 2010). The AMF species spore's germination used in our research are strongly inhibited by osmotic potentials ranging from -0.50 to -2.20 MPa (Giovannetti et al., 2010). This latter result is in agreement with the percentage soil moisture recorded in 2015 in our study that ranged from 12.0 to 22.1% and corresponding to an osmotic pressure from about -0.50 to -0.10 MPa (Dal Ferro et al., 2016). The soil wetting and drying cycle actives the spores, determining an early and fast mycorrhizal colonization (Braunberger et al., 1996). It is well-known that the mycorrhizal spores must be well hydrate before starting their physiological activity (Tommerup, 1984). Consequently, the water stress inhibits the spores' germination and the hyphae network growing in the soil (Huang et al., 2011). The negative effects on AMF colonization registered during 2015, may be tied to the emergence of the spores germination tubes before the soil drying, and to their following damage determined by the following soil desiccation.
- On the third year, the AMF inoculum persistence in the soil, taking into account that AMF inoculation was not performed also in all annual crops, was evaluated. A general AMF root colonization (A%) increase probably due to cropping systems stabilization (Berruti et al., 2014) was observed, except for Jerusalem artichoke.

- In view of these finding, AMF inoculation was not efficient to promote dry biomass production in the studied crops, except in Jerusalem artichoke managed with double biomass cutting, probably due to high N input and indigenous mycorrhizal fungi presence in the plots.
- Microscopic observations confirmed the presence of typical AMF structures such as arbuscules, vesicles or inter and intracellular hyphae in all studied plant species. Furthermore, the highest AMF root colonization in un-inoculated plots, could be explained by the presence of indigenous AMF communities in the soil used in the experimental trial. Indeed, it is known that AMF species introduced in a agro-ecosystem compete with local AMF communities presumably better adapted to edaphic conditions (Verbruggen et al., 2013).
- In literature, the few studies on AMF effect for giant reed and miscanthus, reported a higher AMF root colonization for both perennial crops as compared to our results. In fact, Tauler and Baraza (2015), Baraza et al. (2016) and Romero-Munar et al. (2017) reported a giant reed mycorrhizal colonization ranging from 36.0 to 48.6%; whereas, for miscanthus Sarkar et al. (2015) and Firmin et al. (2015) found a mycorrhizal colonization ranging from 23.0 to 38.0%, up to maximum value of 70.0%. Although the sorghum is used as a trap culture for mycorrhizal propagation (Selvakumar et al., 2016), due to its capacity of establish AMF symbiosis and abundance sporulation, a lower AMF root colonization was found in our plants as compared to literature data, in which it ranges from 14.0 to 79.7% (Guo et al., 2013; Silva et al., 2015; Maucieri et al., 2016b). This latter results could be ascribed to the used sorghum genotype multi-cutting hybrid, that did not establish an effective AMF symbiosis. Instead, AMF root colonization in maize was in agreement with Celebi et al. (2010), Guo et al. (2013) and Tian et al. (2013), which found a mycorrhizal colonization ranging from 8.1% to 77.2%. To our knowledge there aren't specific studies on AMF root colonization of Jerusalem artichoke. Focusing on our first Jerusalem artichoke colonization data, during the three years we have found a range from 16.0% to 80.0%. In lolium our AMF root colonization results are in agreement with Hartwig et al. (2002) and Chen et al. (2007), which reported a colonization ranging from 3.2% to 25.7%.
- It is a well-known that AMF improves plant nutrients (N and P) uptake efficiency (Smith and Read, 1997), particularly under limited macronutrients availability conditions (Cruz et al., 2004; Kannq et al., 2006; Li et al., 2006; Schreiner, 2007), by increasing the abilities of the host plants to explore a larger volume of soil than un-colonized plants

(Duponnois et al., 2008). Nevertheless, the carbon costs of AMF symbiosis can be high for the host plant (more than 20% of the C fixed by plant) (Bago et al., 2000). In an agriculture system under high nutrient input while the carbon costs remain the same for AMF symbiosis, the relative nutrient advantages for crops are reduced, and the mycorrhized plants performance can be lower compared to un-mycorrhized ones (Janos, 2007). However, the interaction between AMF symbiosis and fertilization remain complex and difficult to predict (Beauregard et al., 2008).

- In Jerusalem artichoke managed with double biomass cutting, AMF inoculation determined the highest N biomass concentration and uptake only at the second cut. Instead, in sorghum AMF inoculation determined a reduction on N concentration biomass and uptake only in the first cut, while AMF inoculation exerted a positive effect on the P concentration biomass and uptake only in the third cut, showing the highest values than un-inoculated plots. Although Jerusalem artichoke and sorghum dry biomass productions after the first cut decreased, the highest nutrient biomass concentrations and uptakes in AMF inoculated plots as compared to un-inoculated ones, could be explained by the increase of the root absorptive surface area through the extra-radical hyphae (Amaya-Carpio et al., 2009; Kuzyakov and Xu, 2013).
- Among the studied crops, only in sorghum AMF inoculation influenced positively N (at the 1st cut) and negatively P (at the 3rd cut) use efficiency, although it is widely reported that mycorrhizal symbiosis provides a major contribution to nutrient use efficiency in the crops due to increase of the plant root systems (Zhang et al., 2010).
- In this study, in presence of AMF inoculation, a higher NO₃-N and lower NH₄-N leaching than un-inoculated plots was observed. This result could be explained by the AMF extraradical hyphae preference to uptake nitrogen from soil as NH₄-N than NO₃-N, thus delivering it to the host plants (Frey and Schüepp, 1993; Johansen et al., 1993; Mäder et al., 2000; Govindarajulu et al., 2005; Tanaka and Yano, 2005). On the contrary, Bender et al. (2015) did not find any AMF effects on NH₄-N leaching losses and N plant uptake. The same authors at the end of the experimental period, reported high NH₄-N amounts in the soil, suggesting that NH₄-N was not AMF nitrogen favorite form for uptake or its translocation by AMF to plant is a slow process. Early paper showed that AMF can immobilize large nitrogen amounts in their hyphal biomass, Hodge and Fitter (2010), thus suggested that AMF hyphae could work as a sink for N, thus reducing N leaching (Bender et al., 2015). Another possible reason is that AMF presence may have promoted the microbial community that more efficiently immobilizes N (Bender et al., 2015).

- Among the studied crops, the highest and lowest NO₃-N leaching losses were observed in maize and lolium, respectively. Although these crops belong to the same botanical family (Poaceae) with the same type of root system, but different spatial, density, length, hair and relative exploration of the topsoil soil volume by the roots, the lowest N leaching in lolium can be explained by its perennial nature.
- AMF inoculation did not show significant effect on P leaching. The low P concentration found in percolation water, could be ascribed to the silty-loam soil used in our experiment, characterized by an alkaline pH and high Ca⁺ content. Phosphorus supplied with DLF, at contact with soil Ca carbonate, generates a calcium salt of phosphoric acid (di-calcium phosphate (DCP)) which could be partially precipitate and be absorbed by plant (Shen et al., 2011) or transformed to less available forms to plants at alkaline pH (such as octocalcium phosphate and hydroxyapatite) (Arai and Sparks, 2007) such as our soil pH.
- As concerns soil CO₂ emission, AMF influence directly with their respiration and indirectly by influencing heterotrophic microorganisms the CO₂ soil flux (Cavagnaro et al., 2012). Considering all studied crops, AMF inoculation determined a soil CO₂ emission increase, in particular the highest CO₂ emission in miscanthus and Jerusalem artichoke could be ascribed to: 1) direct effect of AMF with their respiration; 2) indirect mycorrhizal effect due to the alteration of root exudation patterns that influence soil microbial activity (Lazcano et al., 2014) and the increase of roots respiration (Jones et al., 2004). In our study, the increase of soil CO₂-C emissions in presence of the AMF inoculation is in agreement with Cavagnaro et al. (2012) results who reported a higher soil CO₂ emission in plots containing mycorrhizal treatment.
- Considering the above-ground biomass production in the studied crops, in giant reed and miscanthus the biomass harvested at the end of the first year was quite low due to the transplanting date, occurred in late February 2014. In fact, in the following two years, total above-ground dry biomass (DBP) produced by giant reed, was about 2.2 (2015) and 3.0 (2016) times higher as compared to the 2014, confirming the DBP rapidly increase from the young to mature crop (Angelini et al., 2005, 2009). Also shoot density followed the same trend of DBP. Nevertheless, the highest giant reed shoot dry weight per plant observed in the first year (172.0 g shoot⁻¹), compared to following years (134.0 and 163.0 g shoot⁻¹ in 2015 and 2016, respectively), can be ascribed to favorable climate conditions which have also significantly promote the culm diameter and leaf number. In miscanthus, although all bio-agronomic features and shoot density were higher on the first year, the

single shoot dry weight in 2014 was -30% and -50% lower as compared to 2015 (37.0 g shoot⁻¹) and 2016 (52.0 g shoot⁻¹); but despite this behavior, a quite low total aboveground dry biomass was observed at the end of the first and second year, and higher yield of about 2.2 time in 2016. Several studies carried out on the two above mentioned perennial crops, reported variable total above-ground dry biomass production ranging, for giant reed, from 22.0 to 47.0 Mg ha⁻¹ (Angelini et al., 2005, 2009; Nassi o Di Nasso et al., 2011a, 2011b; Traina et al., 2015) up to maximum value of 99.0 Mg ha⁻¹ under nonlimiting water and N availability (Borin et al., 2013) and for miscanthus, ranging from 29.0 to 43.0 Mg ha⁻¹ (Angelini et al., 2009; Nassi o Di Nasso et al., 2011a, 2011b; Traina et al., 2015). In both perennial crops, the highest N biomass concentrations was observed in 2014 and the lowest P biomass concentrations was in 2015. In giant reed, at the higher N biomass concentrations, corresponded the lowest N uptake due to the lowest total aboveground dry biomass; conversely at the lowest P biomass concentrations in 2015, a higher P uptake was observed probably due to the about 2.2-time higher total aboveground dry biomass than 2014. Despite the reduction in giant reed N biomass concentration in 2015 and 2016, we observed an opposite trend in the nutrient uptake, due to the higher total aboveground dry biomass. The high N biomass concentration in the 2014 for giant reed and miscanthus, could be attributed to predominance of young vegetative tissues (Kering et al., 2012).

- In miscanthus although in the 2015, the N (-46%) and P (-52%) concentrations were lower compared to 2014, the slightly total aboveground dry biomass increase (+17.0%) was not able to compensate the lower nutrients concentration, determining the lowest N and P uptake. In miscanthus, Cosentino et al. (2007) reported a lower N concentration (values ranging from 0.53% to 0.63%) and N uptake (value ranging from 90.0 Kg ha⁻¹ to 160 Kg ha⁻¹) compared to our study. For the same crop Cadoux et al. (2012) reported in P concentration (0.08%) and uptake values (22.5 Kg P ha⁻¹) in agreement with our results.
- Jerusalem artichoke is a perennial rhizomatous grass (Heuzè et al., 2015). The favorable climate conditions of the first experimental year positively promoted all its bio-agronomics characteristic, in both biomass cutting managements, determining the highest above-ground dry biomass. Several studies indicated that Jerusalem artichoke is sensitive to water stress with negative effect on tubers yield and plant biomass production (Denoroy, 1996; Schittenhelm, 1999; Danuso et al., 2002; Monti et al., 2005). Our results are in agreement with these previous studies, confirming for this species, the above-ground biomass yield reduction in the dry cropping seasons. The shoot density increase

during the experimental years may be due to the formation of new tubers (or secondary tubers; Denoroy et al., 1996) that were not harvested during experiment. However, during experiment, the total above-ground dry biomass production decreased mainly in relation to the higher shoot intra-specific competition for water, nutrients and solar radiation availability.

- In Jerusalem artichoke the dry biomass production, in the mean of the years and cutting managements (21.6 Mg ha⁻¹), was slightly lower compared to Baldini et al. (2004) (25.0 Mg ha⁻¹) and in line with Curt et al. (2006) (21.8 Mg ha⁻¹) and Matias et al. (2013) (22.7 Mg ha⁻¹). Lower above-ground biomass production than our study was obtained by Liu et al. (2011) under drought soil and climatic condition (15.3 Mg ha⁻¹), cultivating 59 Jerusalem artichoke clones in 24 provinces of China.
- The higher N and P biomass concentration of Jerusalem artichoke managed with double biomass cutting as compared to the single one is ascribed to the different phenological stage at which the harvest was carried out. It is well-known as the tissues nutrient concentrations change during the growing season, with higher values during the full growth activity (between July and August) as compared to late summer and winter period (Nassi o Di Nasso et al., 2011a). This explain because, in Jerusalem artichoke managed with a double biomass cutting, at the first cut, performed in June, the highest N and P biomass concentration obtained, combined with the highest dry biomass production, determined the highest N and P uptake values. The lower N and P uptake, observed at the second cut, may be explained by the short period between the first and second cut, which did not allow an efficient remobilization of the nutrients from the below-ground biomass to the above-ground one, resulting in a lower N and P concentration and also to the lowest above-ground biomass production.
- Considering the annual crops, on the first year, the highest total above-ground dry biomass production in maize and sorghum, can be ascribed to the favorable climate conditions which promoted a higher leaf number culm height and diameter (except for sorghum). In the following two years, the total aboveground biomass production was drastically reduced in both crops, particularly during the driest second year. Comparing the annual biomass production in the three years, although maize and sorghum showed similar production in the 2014, in the following two years, sorghum showed a higher yield (+14.0% for 2015 and +40.0% for 2016) than maize. Unlike maize which is sensible to water stress (Pandey et al., 2000; Çakir, 2004) sorghum is a drought tolerant crop (Paes de Camargo and Hubbard, 1999), and its higher yields in the 2015 and 2016, can be

partially explained by its ability to capture and extract the water deep in the soil profile due to morphology of its root system (Wright and Smith, 1983; Singh and Singh, 1995), and osmotic adjustment at low levels of leaf water potential (Ludlow et al., 1990; Girma and Krieg, 1992).

- The sorghum shoot density showed a progressive increase from the first cut to the third one during the three experimental years, with a significantly reduction in the second and third year comparing the first one, due to the lower tillering consequent to the low soil water availability. Sorghum shoot density increased as a result of the cuts. These results are confirmed by Duncan and Gardener (1984) that reported a shoot density increase (ranging from 4.0% to 22.0%) at the second cut in 10 sweet sorghum cultivars. The increase of shoot density has resulted in a progressive decrease of all bio-agronomic traits and aboveground biomass production according to with Iptas and Brohi (2003) who showed a decrease (ranging from -8.0% to -21%) from the first to the third cut in above-ground dry matter of sorghum-sudangrass hybrid.
- Above-ground biomass production in maize, in the average of the study years (22.5 Mg ha⁻¹), was in line with the yields reported by Farrè and Faci (2006) (21.4 Mg ha⁻¹), Di Paolo and Rinaldi (2008) (23.5 Mg ha⁻¹), Kerckhoffs et al. (2012) (from 12.0 to 33.7 Mg ha⁻¹) and Ra et al. (2012) (20.1 Mg ha⁻¹). Instead the sorghum above-ground biomass production (26.2 Mg ha⁻¹) was higher than previous studies (Farrè and Faci (2006) (18.3 Mg ha⁻¹), Kerckhoffs et al. (2012) (24.9 Mg ha⁻¹) and Ra et al. (2012) (25.3 Mg ha⁻¹).
- During the three trial years, in maize we have observed the same trend for N and P biomass concentrations and uptakes, with the highest values in the 2014 due to the highest total above-ground dry matter. In sorghum, at the higher N biomass concentration registered in the 2016 cropping season, corresponded a lower N uptake, due to the lower aboveground biomass production. The lowest P biomass concentration and uptake observed in maize and sorghum in the 2015, could be attributed at the lower soil moisture content (about 0.25 MPa and -0.20 MPa in deep soil 0-90 cm, respectively). Although few studies were carried out on this issue, it is well documented that low soil water content greatly reduces the diffusion rate of some ions, including phosphorus (Dunham and Nye 1976; Mackay and Barber 1985). Jupp and Newman (1987) in pots experiment on lolium reported a cessation of phosphorus uptake likely due to reduction in the diffusion rate of phosphorus uptake likely due to reduction in the diffusion rate of phosphorus to the root surface in the drying soil.
- Considering the cuts management in sorghum, the highest N and P biomass concentration and the lowest N and P uptake were observed at the third cut. This result is due to a

higher nutrient absorption from soil promoted by the biomass cutting and at the same time to a lower above-ground dry biomass production.

- Lolium, during the experimental activities, was managed with five cuts. In the 2014, in the first two cuts the lower total above-ground dry matter observed, can be explained by the crop establishment period. In fact, after this period, at the third (2015) and fourth (2016) cut, the highest total above-ground dry matter was found. Lolium is negatively affected by drought stress (Liu and Jiang, 2010) and requires a large amount of water to sustain its growth (Liu and Jiang, 2010; Sampoux et al., 2011, Turner et al., 2012). For this reason, after the third cut (2015), it was not possible schedule a further cut in October, due to the driest second year, which has determined a reduction and the end of the shoot growth, and subsequently the beginning of leaf lamina senescence (Blum, 1996).
- In lolium, the decrease in N biomass concentration from first to fifth cut during the three experimental years could be attributed at DLF splash-plate distribution method that reduce full N crop availability as compared to the distribution in the soil layer. In fact, before sowing (in 2014), the DLF after spreading was incorporated in the soil through a minimum tillage, whereas in the following distribution (2015 and 2016), DLF was only spreaded on soil. Considering N losses from the soil surface, N volatilization after spreading must be taken in account, considering DLF chemical characteristics, especially high NH₄-N:TN ratio and high pH value. DLF with a high pH, directly in contact with the atmosphere, determined NH₄-N change into ammonia (NH₃) and its volatilization into air (Maurer and Müller, 2012; Nkoa, 2014). Pacholski et al. (2010) estimated a NH₃ volatilization between 7 and 24% of applied NH₄-H. Comparing the distribution methods, Wulf et al. (2002) quantified NH₃ gas emissions at about 350, 275, 160 and 50 mg NH₃-N m^{-2} h^{-1} in relation to splash plate, trailing shoe, harrow and injection methods respectively, within the first 10 h following DLF distribution. Nevertheless, the lower lolium N biomass concentration (-30%) and the highest N uptake at the third cut as compared to the first one, are explained by the higher aboveground biomass production.
- It is widely reported that the P has poor mobility in the soil, with low concentrations in the soil solution and a large part of it is linked to diverse soil minerals. The adsorption/desorption and precipitation/dissolution equilibria, control the P concentration in the soil solution and, thereby, both its chemical mobility and bioavailability. In our study, in the three years, the lolium P tissue concentration was more or less stable, due to the loam-clay soil nature and/or alkaline pH soil. Despite, such as for N uptake, also the

highest P uptake found at the third cut, can be attributed to the higher aboveground dry biomass production.

- Comparing the studied species, sorghum showed the highest N_{ue} followed by miscanthus, whereas considering P_{ue} both crops presented the highest values. Our N_{ue} values for both crops are in agreement with the data obtained by Olson et al. (2013), which reported values ranging from 111 to 370 g DM g⁻¹ N⁻¹ for sorghum and from 125 to 333 g DM g⁻¹ N⁻¹ for miscanthus. In our hybrid sorghum genotype for biomass production, the high N_{ue} could be explained by its long vegetative growth phase, due to the multiple cuts, efficient light interception, and radiation use efficiency (Mullet et al., 2014). The miscanthus N_{ue} could be ascribed by its low nutrient requirement during the crop life cycle (Cosentino et al., 2007; Cadoux al., 2012) due to nutrients translocation from aboveground biomass to the rhizome during the autumn/winter season and vice versa through spring growth (Lewandowski et al., 2000; Olson et a., 2013). Generally, the improvement of nutrient use efficiency is desirable, since it reduces the fertilizer input and negative environmental impacts, maintaining a good agriculture yield (Bender et al., 2015).
- Considering the crop C3 and C4 physiological categories, the C4 species are more efficient convertors of sunlight into biomass and water use compared to C3 ones (Sage and Monson, 1998; Byrt et al., 2011). Nevertheless, in our study under the same environmental conditions and fertilization rate, the giant reed (C3 specie) compared to the other species, was more performant in term of dry biomass produced. However, this result could have been influenced by an uneven distribution of the rainfall during the experimental years. In fact, in the Mediterranean environment, when rarely water availability is not a limiting factor, a C4 species such as miscanthus would be able to optimize its biomass accumulation compared to C3 species such as giant reed (Nassi o Di Nassi et al., 2011b).
- Considering CO₂ soil emission, the rapid flux during the first hour after DLF distribution, can be attributed to release of CO₂ dissolved in the digestate as well as to the rapid microorganism respiration of easily degradable C compounds (Bol et al., 2003; Fanguerio et al., 2010). Soil CO₂ emission trend after spreading is in line with previous studies carried out in laboratory conditions (Grigatti et al., 2011; Chen et al., 2012). After digestate distribution, these latter authors reported a very intensive soil CO₂ emission within of the first 24 h (Grigatti et al., 2011) and 48 h (Chen et al., 2012), which subsequently decreased as compared to the control. With the only exception for giant reed, soil CO₂ emission monitored in the plots cultivated with the other species was

positively correlated with temperature highlighting the positive effect of this parameter on microbial activity and negatively correlated with soil moisture, indicating the effect on organic material decomposition (Sänger et al., 2011) exerted by soil aerobic metabolism. In fact, high water content in soil profile reduce air permeability and gas diffusivity (Saggar et al., 2008; Ball, 2013) negatively influencing the oxygen availability for soil aerobic microbial population. However, the simultaneous effect of soil moisture and temperature on soil CO_2 emissions should be also taking into account (Maucieri et al., 2017) as reported in Suseela et al. (2012), who found that soil respiration proceeded fastest at the warmest temperatures when soil water content ranged from 20% to 30%.

Biochemical Methane Potential (BMP) is a procedure widely used to determine the methane yield of a given organic matter, including crop biomass, during its anaerobic degradation (Raposo et al., 2011). Di Girolamo et al. (2013) in a laboratory experiment evaluating the effect of hydrothermal pre-treated on giant reed methane yield, reported a CH₄ yield ranging from 273 to 337 mL g^{-1} VS for untreated and pre-treated without acid catalyst. Ragaglini et al. (2014), in the same crop, investigating the effect of different harvest times, reported a CH₄ yield ranging from 258.3 to 391.7 mL g⁻¹ VS. In an experimental farm in North-Italy (Bologna), three perennial species (giant reed, switchgrass, and an inter-specific hybrid sorghum, known as sorghum Silk) and four annual crops (three sorghum genotypes, namely a fiber, sweet and forage hybrid and one maize hybrid) were evaluated for their methane yield (Barbanti et al., 2014). This latter study reported a CH₄ yield of 217 mL g⁻¹ VS for giant reed, 271 mL g⁻¹ VS for sorghum Silk, 316 mL g⁻¹ VS for maize, and a range from 251 to 268 mL g^{-1} VS for the three sorghum genotypes. Chandra et al. (2012), in their review, among the major lignocellulosic crop biomass, showed an average approximate CH₄ yield in maize of 338 m mL g⁻¹ VS. On *Miscanthus* x giganteus, Wahid et al. (2015) in mesophilic conditions, reported a CH₄ yield of 234.1 mL g⁻¹ VS at 30 incubation days and 303.2 mL g⁻¹ VS at 90 incubation days. Concerning Lolium perenne, Xie et al. (2011) studying the effects of alkal-termal pre-treatment, reported a CH₄ yield ranging from 325.8 (control) to 452.5 mL g⁻¹ VS in NaOH treated samples . In our study, the CH₄ yields, measured only in the first experimental year, were widely variable in relation to crops biomass, AMF treatments and cutting management. Nevertheless, our CH₄ yield are lower than those reported in the literature. This finding can be attributed at the different analytical method used. In fact, we analyzed dry biomass, whereas, the reported studies the fresh one. In view of these finding, further and more detailed analysis are needed to confirm the methanogenic potential of the six energy crops studied.

Conclusions

- Our study showed that AMF inoculation was not able to enhance dry biomass production in the studied crops, with the only exception of the Jerusalem artichoke managed with double biomass cuts, probably due to the high N input and indigenous mycorrhizal present in all plots. Nevertheless, a positive environmental contribution was provided by AMF inoculation in relation to NH₄-N leaching reduction; conversely an increase in NO₃-N leaching and soil CO₂ emission were measured. Considering dry biomass production, giant reed (C3 plant) is confirmed to be the most productive among the studied energy crops, followed by miscanthus, sorghum, maize, Jerusalem artichoke, and lolium. On the other hand, giant reed showed a low nitrogen use efficiency and higher cumulative soil CO₂-C emissions (+30.4%). Instead, sorghum and miscanthus showed the best N and P utilization and the lower cumulative soil CO₂-C emissions. Considering the two annual crops (maize and sorghum), sorghum showed the highest biomass production, probably due to its drought tolerance and NUE.
- In view of these finding, the use of DLF as organic fertilizer for biomass production and energy crops with NUE relatively high, can be considered a viable alternative to reduce mineral fertilization inputs and negative environmental impacts. Further researches are need to investigate the role of indigenous mycorrhizal community on crop production using organic fertilizer and their interaction with bio-fertilizer based on AMF.

Annex I

Considering all the annual and perennial crops studied, the root samples after begin washed with Tween 20 and rinsed several times in tap water, and subsequently they were cleared and stained with different procedures as follows:

Arundo donax L. (common name: Giant reed)

✓ Root samples were cleared in 10% KOH for 30 min, rinsed three time with tap water stained with 5% ink-vinegar (Pellikan Blue) for 1 hour and de-stained in tap water for 30 min.;

Miscanthus x giganteus Greef et Deu. (common name: Miscanthus)

✓ Root samples were cleared in 10% KOH for 10 min, rinsed three time with tap water stained with 5% ink-vinegar (Pellikan Blue) for 10 min., and de-stained in tap water for 5 min.;

Helianthus tuberosus L. (common name: Jerusalem artichokes)

- ✓ Root samples were cleared in 10% KOH for 20 min, rinsed three time with tap water stained with 5% ink-vinegar (Pellikan Blue) for 20 min., and de-stained in tap water slightly acidified for 10 min.;
- Zea mays L. (common name: Maize)
- ✓ Root samples were cleared in 10% KOH for 10 min, rinsed three time with tap water stained with 5% ink-vinegar (Pellikan Blue) for 30 min., and de-stained in tap water slightly acidified for 15 min.;

Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench (common name: Sorghum)

 Root samples were cleared in 10% KOH for 10 min, rinsed three time with tap water stained with 5% ink-vinegar (Pellikan Blue) for 30 min., and de-stained in tap water slightly acidified for 15 min.;

Lolium perenne L. (common name: Lolium)

- Root samples were cleared in 10% KOH for 3 min, rinsed three time with tap water stained with 5% ink-vinegar (Pellikan Blue) for 5 min., and de-stained in tap water slightly acidified for 5 min.;

Furthermore, all the root samples crops studied were also cleared and stained, as follow:

 Root samples were cleared with 10% KOH (45°C) for about 1 hour, rinsed three time with tap water, stained with 0.1% cotton blue in 80% lactic acid overnight, and then de-stained in 80% lactic acid for 48 hours.
Chapter III

Effects of mycorrhizal inoculation and digestate fertilization on triticale biomass production from fungicide-coated seeds

Abstract

Crop fertilization management using organic wastes and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) inoculation can play a crucial role in the agro-ecosystems sustainability. However, in the conventional agricultural systems, agrochemicals as fungicides can reduce the positive effect of AMF. The aim of this study was to evaluate the agronomic (biomass production) and environmental (soil CO₂ emission) effects of AMF inoculation and digestate spreading on triticale cultivation, using commercial seeds coated with fungicide. The field experiment was carried out in 2014-2015 at the University of Padua experimental farm (Italy), adopting a split-plot design, where the main plot was AMF inoculation (inoculated vs un-inoculated) and sub-plots were fertilization treatments (NF=no fertilization; DL=digestate liquid fraction; DS=digestate solid fraction; MF=mineral fertilization). Low AMF root colonization was observed, likely due to the effect of fungicide. AMF inoculation effect determined only a significant lower shoot density. Dry biomass yield was significantly higher in MF treatment (21.8 ± 1.04 Mg ha⁻ ¹) and lower in NF treatment (14.5 \pm 0.73 Mg ha⁻¹), whereas, no significant difference was found between DS and DL treatments, with an average yield of 17.2 ± 2.10 Mg ha⁻¹. Soil CO₂ emissions, during cropping season, were not significantly different, if we consider both AMF inoculation and fertilization treatments with a median value of 447.3 $mg m^{-2} h^{-1}$.

Introduction

- During the past century, agriculture industrialization induced a significant productivity increase, which led to a greater amount of food available to population (Pérez-Montano et al., 2014). On the other hand, in the last 30 years, the climate change caused by human activities has led, from year to year, to a significantly decrease of yield in the major cultivated crops (maize, soybean, rice and wheat) in the global harvest area (Iizumi and Ramankutty, 2016; Lesk et al., 2016). Furthermore, the unsuitable soil agronomic management practices, have promoted soil degradation and loss of organic matter and fertility, increasing production costs (to maintain high crops yield) and contributing to CO₂ emissions (Montemurro et al., 2007; Lal, 2008). Soil organic matter as well known, plays a significant role in preserve and improve soil fertility, by its positive effects on soil physical, chemical and biological proprieties (Montemurro et al., 2004), increasing soil carbon stocks (Raviv et al., 1998; Caravaca et al., 2002).
- The formation of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) associations between the roots of many terrestrial plant species are widespread in the natural environment and can provide considerable benefits to the host plant (Gosling et al., 2006; Cavagnaro, 2014; Berruti et al., 2015). In particular, AMF play an important role in crop nutrition, by greatly increasing the absorptive surface of the root system. Moreover, the AMF rapid growth and high plasticity enable the mycorrhizal hyphae to exploit nutrient patches in the soil (Tibbett and Roots, 2000; Facelli and Facelli, 2002) and to increase uptake of nutrients in inorganic form, principally immobile phosphate (P) (Koide, 1991; George et al., 1995; Clark and Zeto, 2000) and nutrients from organic sources (Hodge et al., 2001; Hodge and Fitter, 2010). In addition, influencing soil microorganisms AMF indirectly affect soil biochemical reactions including organic matter mineralization and nitrification (Hamel, 2004). AMF association may also increase host plant resistance/tolerance against biotic (Hol and Cook, 2005; Akhtar and Siddiqui, 2008) and abiotic stresses, including salinity, drought and pollution (Franco-Ramírez et al., 2007; Giri et al., 2007; Sudová et al., 2007; Cartmill et al., 2008; Debiane et al., 2008, 2009; Campagnac et al., 2010). In return, the AMF receive carbon (C) from the host plant. Unsuitable agricultural practices, affect soil microorganisms activities; soil tillage, chemical fertilizers (Borriello et al., 2012; Berruti et al., 2014) and agro-chemical products, such as fungicides, used in coated seeds to control pathogens, can exhibit undesirable effects on non-target plant-beneficial microorganisms such as AMF (Campagnac et al., 2008), causing in the AMF communities a reduction in the number of individuals and species diversity (Gosling et

al., 2006). Several authors, report higher levels of AMF colonization, higher propagule numbers or higher diversity in organic farming (Bending et al., 2004; Oehl et al., 2003, 2004) and AMF is assumed that can compensate for the reduced use of P fertilizers (Galvez et al., 2001). However, the actual importance of AMF in the enhancing of resilience and functions of ecosystem and agro-ecosystems, in particular to crop performance, remains to be determined (Gosling et al., 2006).

- The application of high quality organic materials as soil amendment and/or fertilizer, is the basis to support low-input sustainable agriculture, increasing or preserving soil organic matter content (Mäder et al., 2002) and improving fertility and optimizing crop production (Diacono and Montemurro, 2010).
- The most important advantage of organic fertilizers is their participation in the natural nutrient cycle, while inorganic fertilizers are additional to it (Monnet, 2003). Digestate is the byproduct of the anaerobic digestion and due to process characteristics it is considered a good quality soil fertilizer and/or amendment (Nicoletto, 2013a, 2013b, 2014; Maucieri et al. 2016a). Its chemical composition depends on the feedstock and can therefore vary (Möller and Müller, 2012). The use of digestate (liquid and solid fractions) for soil fertilization and/or amendment, has led to an improvement of soil fertility with a decrease of the amount of chemical fertilizer used in cropping systems (Möller and Müller, 2012).
- Triticale (*x Triticosecale* sp. Wittmack ex A. Camus 1927) is an artificial hybrid cereal produced by a crossing between female parent wheat (*Triticum* spp. L.) with male parent rye (*Secale cereale* L.). This crossing has provided to triticale high agronomic features as yield of wheat and rusticity of rye. Interest for triticale utilization has steadily grown and triticale cultivars have been grown in more than 30 countries (McGoverin et al., 2011), because it is a suitable alternative to other cereals (Bassu et al., 2013). In Europe, in the last 13 years, the total area under cultivation for triticale has increased of about 45% (FAOSTAT, 2014). On the basis of its agronomic features, triticale is an interesting crop in Mediterranean optimal and marginal cultivation areas (Ehdaie et al., 2001; Giunta et al., 2003). Currently, this crop is grown for grazing, fresh forage, silage, and hay but even for human feed and bioethanol production. Furthermore, cereal straw is a main animal feed source and the use of triticale straw is in continuous expansion, especially in Mediterranean and semi-arid Countries (Cazzato et al., 2012).

The aim of this study was to evaluate the agronomic (biomass production) and environmental (soil CO₂ emission) effects of AMF inoculation and digestate spreading on triticale cultivation using commercial seed coated with fungicide.

Materials and Methods

Experiment description

- The experiment was carried out in 2014-2015 cropping season at the University of Padua Experimental Farm "Lucio Toniolo", North-East Italy (45°20' N; 11°57' E) under field conditions. The climate of the site is sub-humid (Köppen climate classification), with a mean annual rainfall of about 850 mm, fairly uniformly distributed throughout of the year. The temperature increases from January (average minimum value: -1.5 °C) to July (average maximum: +27.2°C). According to the FAO-UNESCO classification the soil is a fulvi-calcaric Cambisol with a loamy texture. The adopted experimental design for the trial was a split-plot with three replications. AMF inoculation was the main plot (inoculated (AMF-Y) vs un-inoculated (AMF-N)), whereas fertilization treatments were the sub-plots (no fertilization (NF), mineral fertilization (MF), digestate liquid fraction (DL) and digestate solid fraction (DS)) randomly distributed. Each plot had a size of 16 m² (4x4m) for a total of 24 plots. Mineral fertilization has been distributed in three times as follows: i) before sowing: 40 kg N ha⁻¹ as ammonium nitrate, 65 kg P ha⁻¹ as superphosphate and 65 kg K ha⁻¹ as potassium sulfate; ii) top-dressed: 50 kg N ha⁻¹ as ammonium nitrate provided at 116 and 173 days after sowing (DAS) respectively. Organic fertilization with DL and DS were supplied manually before sowing, at rate equivalent to 140 kg N ha⁻¹. Due to their chemical composition (Tab. 1), 16 kg P ha⁻¹ and 88 kg K ha⁻¹ for DL and 105 kg P ha⁻¹ and 109 kg K ha⁻¹ for DS were also provided.
- Triticale was sown on 28 October 2014, at a rate of 220 kg seeds ha⁻¹. In the trial were used seeds coated with fungicide (Celest® Trio Syngenta AG, Basel, Switzerland = 2.34% Fludioxonil, 2.34% Difenoconazoloe and 0.93% Tebuconazoloe). AMF inoculation was done with a commercial inoculum (MICOSAT F wp CCS Aosta, Italy: based on mycorrhizal fungi: *Funneliformis mosseae*, *F. caledonius*, *F. coronatus*, *Septoglomus viscosum*; saprophytic fungi: *Trichoderma harzianum*; and rhizosphere bacteria: *Pseudomonas fluorescens*, *Bacillus subtilis*, *Agrobacterium radiobacter*), mixed with seeds and at the sowing distributed at a dose of 1.2 kg ha⁻¹. After 149 DAS, a second inoculation was performed, distributing for each plots of AMF-Y treatment 1.6 g of commercial mix inoculum suspended in 10 liters of water.

Parameter	Liquid fraction	Solid fraction
Dry Matter (%)	6.16	24.68
TKN (% DM)	9.09	2.23
NH ₄ -N (% DM)	5.10	0.94
NO ₃ -N (% DM)	0.08	0.03
P (% DM)	1.02	0.72
K (% DM)	5.41	1.53
Ca (% DM)	1.57	0.70
Mg (% DM)	0.94	0.62
Na (% DM)	0.46	0.12

Table 1 – Main chemical-physical characteristics of the digestate on dry weight basis. (DM = dry matter)

Roots sampling and analysis

Root samples from three randomly selected plants per plot were collected during the growing season at three harvest time points (114, 177 and 223 DAS) with a hand-operated soil probe (5 cm diameter) at 20 cm depth. Roots were washed clean of soil with some drops of Tween 20 and then rinsed several times in tap water. Then, roots were cleared with 10% KOH, stained with 5% ink-vinegar and de-stained in distilled water (Vierheilig et al., 1998). AMF colonization percentages were estimated according to Trouvelot (1986), for each treatments as follows: F%= mycorrhization frequency (the percentage of root fragments showing fungal colonization), M%= AMF colonization intensity (the percentage of fungi structures referred to the whole root system), m%= AMF colonization intensity (the percentage of fungi structures referred to colonized root fragments), a%= abundance of arbuscules (percentage of arbuscules presence referred to the whole root system).

Triticale bio-agronomic measurements

- During growing season, four times from 143 to 178 DAS, the Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) (APS1-CropCircle, Holland Scientific, Lincoln, NE, USA) was measured.
- On 8 June 2015, the aerial biomass was harvested (at dough stage BBCH scale (Hess et al., 1997) and the dry weight was determined by drying in a thermo-ventilated oven at 65°C until the constant weight was reached. Furthermore, at the harvest time, culm height and shoot density in each plot were detected.

Soil CO₂ emission

During growing season, seven times from 78 to 178 DAS, soil CO_2 emissions were measured in each plot. CO_2 flux was measured with the static non-stationary chamber

technique (Maucieri et al., 2016a) using a chamber with a volume of 5 L and 10 cm square base. Soil CO_2 flux was determined by measuring the temporal change in CO_2 concentration inside the chamber using a portable IR instrument (Geotech G150), detecting CO_2 concentrations at levels of parts per million.

CO₂ flux was calculated using the following formula:

$$CO_2 = \frac{V}{A} * \frac{dc}{dt}$$

where CO_2 flux is expressed in mg CO_2 m⁻² s⁻¹; V (m³) is the volume and A (m²) the footprint of the flux chamber; 'c' is the CO_2 concentration (mg CO_2 m⁻³) and 't' the time step (s).

- In each CO₂ measurement point, soil temperature and moisture (TDR 100 Soil Moisture Meter) in the first 7.5 cm were also detected.
- Cumulative CO_{2(eq)} emission saving due to substitution of mineral fertilization with digestate fractions was calculated considering the quantity of macronutrients supplied (N, P₂O₅, K₂O), and using the specific emission factors reported in Capponi et al. (2012). Particularly, considering mineral fertilizers production, the estimated avoided CO_{2(eq)} emissions for were of 3.26 kg CO_{2(eq)} for each kg of N, 2.01 kg CO_{2(eq)} for each kg of P₂O₅ and 1.41 kg CO_{2(eq)} for each kg of K₂O.

Statistical analysis

- AMF colonization percentage values were arccosine transformed; bio-agronomics and AMF colonization percentage values were subjected to a two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) to assess the interactions between the two fixed factors (AMF inoculation and fertilization regimes). The data were post-hoc tested (p<0.05) using the Fisher LSD test.
- Soil CO₂ emission data were not normally distributed so they were analyzed with Kruskal-Wallis and Mann-Whitney non-parametric tests. Correlation between soil temperature and moisture with CO₂ emissions were evaluated using Spearman Rank correlation.

Results

Root mycorrhization

Triticale roots did not show any mycorrhizal colonization at 114 and 177 DAS. Instead, at harvest time, which coincided with hard-dough stage (223 DAS), AMF root colonization was observed, without significant difference between inoculated and un-inoculated plots. AMF colonization values ranged from 5.0% to 85.0% for F%, from 0.1% to 19.2% for

M%, from 1.0% to 29.5% for m%, from 0.0% to 60.6% for a% and from 0.0% to 11.6% for A%.

Regardless the AMF inoculation, DS treatment showed significantly (p<0.05) higher values for F%, M% and A% compared to the other treatments (Tab. 2).

Table 2 - Fertilization treatment effects on AMF colonization at 223 days after sowing (mean \pm SE).MF = mineral fertilization, DL = digestate liquid fraction, DS = digestate solid fraction and NF = nofertilization. F% = mycorrhization frequency (the percentage of root fragments showing fungalcolonization), M% = AMF colonization intensity (the percentage of fungi structures referred to the wholeroot system), m% = AMF colonization intensity (the percentage of fungi structures referred to colonizedroot fragments), a% = abundance of arbuscules (percentage of arbuscules presence referred to the rootfragments showing fungal colonization); A% = abundance of arbuscules (percentage of arbuscules (percentage of arbuscules presence referred to the whole root system).Different letters indicate significant differences amongfertilization treatments for Fisher LSD test at p<0.05. ns = not significant difference.</td>

Mycorrhizal	Fertilization							
Index	MF	DL	DS	NF				
F%	$19.2\pm5.4^{\text{b}}$	$13.3\pm2.8^{\text{b}}$	$70.0\pm7.5^{\rm a}$	$17.5\pm4.2^{\text{b}}$				
M%	2.8 ± 1.9^{b}	$1.9\pm0.6^{\text{b}}$	$11.3\pm2.8^{\text{a}}$	$3.8\pm1.7^{\text{b}}$				
m%	9.3 ± 4.3^{ns}	14.6 ± 4.1^{ns}	15.5 ± 3.7^{ns}	18.3 ± 7.8^{ns}				
a%	36.4 ± 12.4^{ns}	20.4 ± 9.5^{ns}	50.5 ± 3.2^{ns}	$30.4\pm10.0^{\text{ns}}$				
A%	1.3 ± 0.8^{b}	$0.5\pm0.24^{\text{b}}$	6.0 ± 1.7^{a}	1.7 ± 0.8^{b}				

Triticale bio-agronomic traits and biomass yield

No statistical difference was determined by AMF inoculation on the culm height (Tab. 3) and NDVI index (Tab. 4), with a grand mean of 125 ± 6.9 cm plant⁻¹ and 0.64 ± 0.07 , respectively. The MF treatment has determined a significantly (p<0.05) greater culm height (+8.3%) than NF one (120.2 ± 6.8 cm plant⁻¹); whereas DS and DL treatments did not show statistical difference on culm height, with a grand mean of 125.3 ± 5.7 cm (Table 3). No significant interaction (p=0.387) showed fertilization and AMF inoculation tretments on culm height. In absence of AMF inoculation, shoot density showed a significant (p<0.05) increase of +16.4% as compared to AMF-Y treatment (396.0 ± 35.4 shoots m⁻²). As expected, the shoot density was significantly (p<0.05) higher in the MF treatment than NF ones; among organic fertilization treatments, only DS was not statistically different from MF treatment (Tab. 3). No significant interaction (p=0.371) showed fertilization and AMF inoculation treatments, DAS and their interaction, with the highest values always monitored for MF treatment and the lowest ones for NF treatment (Tab. 4).

Table 3 – AMF inoculation and fertilization treatments effects on bio-agronomic traits (mean ± SE).MF = mineral fertilization, DL = digestate liquid fraction, DS = digestate solid fraction, NF = nofertilization, AMF-Y= inoculated and AMF-N=un-inoculated treatments. Capital letters denote significantdifferences among fertilization treatments using Fisher LSD test (p<0.05) whereas lower case letters</td>denote significant differences between AMF treatments using Fisher LSD test (p<0.05). ns = no significant</td>difference.

Bio-agronomic traits	AMF treatment		Mean			
	mon treatment	MF	DL	DS	NF	witcan
Culu haiaht	AMF-Y	131.7±3.93 ^{ns}	122.3 ± 3.48^{ns}	$124.3{\pm}4.98^{ns}$	116.0 ± 3.51^{ns}	123.6±2.40 ^{NS}
Cuim neight	AMF-N	$128.7{\pm}3.93^{ns}$	$129.0{\pm}1.73^{ns}$	125.7 ± 2.73^{ns}	124.3 ± 2.96^{ns}	126.9±1.39 ^{NS}
(cm plant)	Mean	130.2±2.57 ^A	125.7±2.29 ^{AB}	125.0±2.56 ^{AB}	120.2 ± 2.77^{B}	125.3 ± 1.40
Shoot downto.	AMF-Y	425.3±7.4 ^{cd}	388.0±13.9 ^{cd}	393.3±16.2 ^{cd}	377.3 ± 33.8^{d}	396.0±10.2 ^B
Shoot density $(aulma m^{-2})$	AMF-N	$489.3{\pm}10.9^{ab}$	440.0 ± 17.4^{bc}	501.3±26.9 ^a	414.7±23.1 ^{cd}	461.3 ± 13.8^{A}
(culms m ⁻²)	Mean	457.3 ± 15.5^{A}	414.0 ± 15.3^{BC}	447.3 ± 27.9^{AB}	396.0±20.1 ^C	428.6±10.8

1 abie 1 bis = 1 bis bis	Table 4 - NDV	VI index at four	different day	after sowing	(DAS) times ((mean ± SE)).
---	---------------	-------------------------	---------------	--------------	------	-----------	-------------	----

DAS	AME treatmont	Fertilization					Moon	
DAS	AMIT treatment	M	F	DL]	DS	NF	Ivican
	AMF-Y	0.770±	0.022	0.688 ± 0.022	0.688	8±0.035	0.583 ± 0.020	0.677±0.023
143	AMF-N	0.730±	0.009	0.695 ± 0.018	0.671	1±0.022	$0.591 {\pm} 0.051$	0.672 ± 0.020
	Mean	0.750±	0.014	0.691±0.013	0.670	0±0.018	0.587 ± 0.025	0.675±0.015
	AMF-Y	0.713±	0.010	0.652 ± 0.016	0.65	l±0.017	0.573±0.021	0.647±0.017
153	AMF-N	0.726±	0.005	0.666 ± 0.005	0.664	4±0.012	0.562 ± 0.026	0.655±0.019
	Mean	0.720±	0.006	$0.659{\pm}0.008$	0.658	8±0.010	0.567±0.015	0.651±0.012
	AMF-Y	0.692±	0.009	0.615 ± 0.008	0.612	2±0.006	0.557±0.013	0.619±0.015
162	AMF-N	0.727±	0.001	0.605 ± 0.013	0.632	2±0.012	0.527 ± 0.018	0.623 ± 0.022
	Mean	0.709±	0.009	0.610 ± 0.007	0.622	2 ± 0.008	0.542 ± 0.012	0.621±0.013
	AMF-Y	0.740±	0.013	0.639 ± 0.022	0.637	7±0.039	0.513±0.015	0.632±0.026
178	AMF-N	0.731±	0.020	$0.589{\pm}0.002$	0.622	2±0.026	$0.498 {\pm} 0.021$	0.610 ± 0.027
	Mean	0.736±	0.011	0.614 ± 0.015	0.629	9±0.021	0.506±0.012	0.621±0.018
				ANOV	A			
		SS	DF	MS	F	Prob F	Sign. F	LSD (p<0.05)
	DAS	0.0486	3	0.01618	32.684	0.00000	**	0.012916
	AMF	0.0004	1	0.00039	0.2877	0.64540	ns	0.032315
	Fertilization	0.3819	3	0.12729	37.749	0.00000	**	0.036523
	DAS X AMF	0.0031	3	0.00105	2.1174	0.11032	ns	0.018266
DA	AS X Fertilization	0.0160	9	0.00178	3.5911	0.00175	**	0.025831
AM	1F X Fertilization	0.0012	3	0.00039	0.1171	0.94832	ns	0.051651
DAS X	AMF X Fertilization	0.0071	9	0.00079	1.5969	0.14317	ns	0.036531
	Residual	0.0238	48					
	Total	0.5362	95					

Dry matter yield (DMY) was significantly (p<0.05) higher in the MF treatment with 21.8 ± 1.04 Mg ha⁻¹ compared to organic fertilization which showed, on the average of the DS and DL, a decrease of -21.2%. The lowest DMY, as expected, was found in the NF subplots (14.5 \pm 0.3 Mg ha⁻¹) with a significant (p<0.05) decrease compared to fertilization treatments of -33.5% (MF) and -15.5% (on the average of the DS and DL) (Fig. 1). No significant difference was showed (p=0.464) in relation to AMF inoculation and by interaction between fertilization and AMF inoculation (p=0.128) on DMY.



Figure 1 - Dry matter yield under different fertilization treatments (mean \pm SE). MF = mineral fertilization, DL = digestate liquid fraction, DS = digestate solid fraction, NF = no fertilization. Different letters indicate significant differences among fertilization treatments for Fisher LSD test at p<0.05.

Soil CO₂ emission

- No significant difference on soil CO₂ emission was detected among both AMF inoculation and fertilization treatments (Fig. 2), with an emission median value of 447.3 mg m⁻² h⁻¹. During soil CO₂ emission measurements, in the upper 7.5 cm soil layer, moisture ranged from 23.8% to 57.4% and temperature from 4.8°C to 16.8°C. In the average of treatments, soil CO₂ emissions were positively correlated with soil temperature (Spearman R = 0.617; p<0.001), whereas no correlation were found with soil moisture (Spearman R = -0.015).
- Considering the DL and DS macronutrients content (N, P₂O₅, K₂O), and using the CO_{2(eq)} specific emission factors for mineral fertilizers production (Capponi et al., 2012), the avoided carbon emission in the atmosphere due to the substitution of mineral fertilizers with nutrients supplied through digestate was -674.4 and -1121.2 kg CO_{2(eq)} ha⁻¹ for DL and DS, respectively. On the contrary, MF determined a net in CO_{2(eq)} emission in atmosphere (+863.8 kg CO_{2(eq)} ha⁻¹).



Figure 2 - Box-plot diagrams of soil CO_2 emissions in relation to fertilization (a) and AMF inoculation (b). MF = mineral fertilization, DL = digestate liquid fraction, DS = digestate solid fraction and NF = no fertilization.

Discussion

Root AMF colonization

Although the levels of arbuscular colonization found in triticale roots (A%) were lower than those reported in literature, which range from 25% to 66% (Pandey et al., 2005, Brito et al., 2012), it could be suggested that AMF inoculation was not effective, in relation to the seed coating with Celest® Trio, a fungicide containing *fludioxonil* and two sterol biosynthesis inhibitors (SBIs, difenoconazole and tebuconazole). When used alone, fludioxonil does not seem to affect AMF activity, as reported by Murillo-Williams and Pedersen (2008) that have observed on soybean seed where a fungicide (fludioxonil) was applied, a better AMF root colonization, potentially due to the lower competition by aggressive pathogens. However, if *fludioxonil* is used together with systemic fungicides, it can have a negative effect on AMF colonization (Jin et al., 2013). As a matter of fact, these latter authors have found a reduction (-9.4%) on mycorrhizal colonization in pea by indigenous AMF in response to the application of fungicides with systemic and nonsystemic activities (Apron Maxx® RTA®). Interestingly, this suppressive effect on mycorrhizal colonization was more pronounced in inoculated plants. Moreover, the same authors have found that the suppressive effect is present only when commercial AMF inoculum were used in chickpea (-15.6%). Campagnac et al. (2008), Zocco et al. (2008), and Calonne et al. (2010), using various SBI fungicides at different concentrations, have reported drastic Rhizophagus intraradices development reductions (germination, germ tube elongation, colonization, extra-radical hyphal growth and sporulation). Therefore, in our study, the negative effect on AMF root colonization could have been determined by the mechanism of action of difenoconazole and tebuconazole. Considering that in the previous years, the soil was managed under conventional agronomic techniques using seeds coated with fungicide, the low root colonization could be due to the consequent detrimental effect also on the native AMF community.

Several authors have demonstrated that the application of high amounts of chemical fertilizers (particularly P and N) used in the intensive agrosystems to improve crop yield, negatively affect AMF root colonization and the number of AMF propagules in soil (Johnson, 1993; Liu et al., 2000; Kahiluoto et al., 2001; Burrows and Pfleger, 2002; Treseder and Allen, 2002). On the contrary, organic source of nutrients (manure, compost and crop residues), and slow-release fertilizers (such as rock phosphates) stimulate the activity of AMF (Gosling et al., 2006). A part of phosphorus contained in the DS is present in the form of struvite (formed during the anaerobic digestion process) which has

low P availability (Möller and Müller, 2012) and could have determined a higher percentage of AMF colonization. Moreover, Heydari and Maleki (2014) have observed significantly higher AMF colonization levels in inoculated barley supplied with rock-phosphate and struvite, compared to other fertilization treatments. In addition, the increased amount of organic matter present in the soil due to the DS supply could have reduced the effects of the hydrophobic fungicides (*difenoconazole* and *tebuconazole*) on AMF activity. This is supported by the work of Roy et al. (2000) that have observed an improved sorption of hydrophobic fungicides by humic substances in presence of low soil moisture.

Triticale bio-agronomic traits and biomass yield

In absence of AMF inoculation, the shoot density showed significant higher value than AMF-Y treatment in agreement with Hartnett et al. (1994) who found a similar response for others Poaceae species. Despite AMF inoculation the highest DMY was obtained in the MF treatment whereas the lowest one in NF one. Similar triticale DMY productions, using mineral fertilizers in Mediterranean condition, have been reported by Santiveri et. al. (2004) (24.3 Mg DMY ha⁻¹ supplying 92 kg N ha⁻¹) and Giunta and Motzo (2004) (22.3 Mg DMY ha⁻¹ supplying 97 kg N ha⁻¹), whereas, in the same cultivation area of this study (Po Valley), Delogu et al. (2002), supplying 170 kg N ha⁻¹, reported a production ranging from 8.3 to 19.2 Mg ha⁻¹ of DMY at milk-dough stage. The digestate treatments lower DMY was probably due to the lower efficacy of N, since the other two macronutrients, P and K, applied with MF were lower compared to DS, and lower (P) and higher (K) as compared to DL. The lower efficacy of N applied with digestate can be due to: 1) the distribution period (all N in pre-sowing in DL and DS treatments, in three times in MF treatment), and 2) the possible ammonia volatilization losses (on average 15% NH₄⁺-N applied) that occur manly within the first 10 hours after digestate distribution (Quakernack et al., 2012) especially for DL where NH_4^+ -N represents about 56% of TKN.

Soil CO₂ emission

No significant difference on soil CO_2 emission among fertilization treatments is in agreement with our previous research (Maucieri et al., 2016a), where we observed, using only DL, a significant increase of soil CO_2 emission, only in the first days after distribution. The absence of significant difference in soil CO_2 emission among fertilization treatments, can be attributed to the characteristics of organic matter content in the digestate. In fact, the digestate used in this experiment came from a mesophilic (35-40 °C) anaerobic digestion plant, that had a substrate retention time of 88-92 days. According to Maucieri et al. (2017), it can be assumed that, considering anaerobic digestion process characteristics of digestate, except the easily available organic matter mostly degradable in the short term (Alburquerque et al., 2012), stabilized organic matter was supplied, which did not influence soil CO_2 emission during the monitored period.

Conclusions

- To our knowledge, this is the first field study on triticale biomass production, which evaluates combined effects of AMF inoculation, seeds coated with fungicide and digestate fertilization.
- The results obtained in this study, even if relative to one growing season, indicate that AMF inoculation determined only a reduction of shoot density without significant effect on biomass yield, suggesting that mycorrhizal inoculation increases plant's weight. All other parameters were not significantly affected by AMF inoculation. Mineral fertilization determined the highest DM yield (+27% respect to digestate treatments); even so, environmental (e.g. higher CO_{2(eq)} emission) and economical (e.g. fertilizer costs) effects should be considered. In relation to soil CO₂ emissions, no significant differences were detected among treatments during cropping season.
- On the basis of the biomass production, although lower than that obtained using chemical fertilizers, triticale fertilization with digestate could be an interesting agronomic practice in sustainable agriculture to reduce environmental and economic costs.

Chapter IV

Olive mill wastewater spreading and AMF inoculation effects in a low-input semi-arid Mediterranean crop succession

Abstract

The aim of this trial was to evaluate, in semi-arid marginal Mediterranean agro-ecosystem (Sicily-Italy), the effects of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) inoculation and olive mill wastewater (OMW) volumes (40 and 80 m³ ha⁻¹) on forage (durum wheat-M. scutellata intercropping), and grain production of broad bean (Vicia faba L. minor) and chickpea (Cicer arietinum L.). AMF inoculation significantly increased (+13.6%) forage total dry biomass production and durum wheat nitrogen (+22.8%) and phosphorus (+32.5%) uptake. In broad bean, AMF inoculation significantly promoted phosphorus uptake (+11.5%) and root nodule number (+13.9%). Due to meteorological conditions, chickpea did not reach reproduction phase thus showing no production. OMW spreading reduced weed presence in the forage (-31.3%), broad bean root nodule number (-29.7%) and nodule dry weight (-22.7%). Furthermore, OMW spreading determined higher M. scutellata dry biomass production (+19.3%) compared to the control treatments (0, 40 and 80 m³ H₂O ha⁻¹) which showed an average production of 361 g m⁻², and a significant increase in broad bean grain yield with a production of 2.46 ± 0.12 and 1.94 ± 0.09 Mg ha⁻¹ in presence and absence of OMW, respectively. During the experiment AMF colonization was not affected by OMW volumes. The obtained results showed that the OMW spreading and AMF inoculum could be promising agronomic practices to valorize the Mediterranean marginal agro-ecosystem.

Introduction

- Olive tree cultivation represents a significant part of the agricultural lands in the Mediterranean areas. The Spain is main producing country (2.5 million ha), followed by Italy (1.13 million ha), Greece (0.85 million ha) and Portugal (0.35 million ha) (FAOSTAT, 2013). From olive oil processing derive a huge amount of olive mill wastewater (OMW) (Kapellakis et al., 2008) with an annual production of about 30 10⁶ OMW m³ during a short period (from October to February) (Barbera et al., 2013). OMWs must be properly managed to avoid the negative environmental impacts associated with their disposal, due to the amount of phenolic compounds (Barbera et al., 2013; Di Bene et al., 2013) that exert phytotoxic and antimicrobial effects (Obied et al., 2005; Saadi et al., 2007). For this reason, olive oil producing countries have enact national directives to regulate the OMW spreading (according to d.lgs 152/2006 in Italy the legal limit is 80 m³ OMW ha⁻¹). Considering OMW chemical composition (Paredes et al., 1999) it can be used in agriculture as soil amendment/fertilizer, especially to supply mineral nutrients such as K, P, Mg and Fe and organic matter (OM). Particularly taking into account their K and P content, OMW can be distributed on legume-based crop rotation to contribute to their nutrients requirements satisfaction.
- Crop rotation and intercropping are important agronomic practice in semi-arid areas, increasing soil fertility and crop water use efficiency and enhancing environmental sustainability (Díaz-Ambrona and Mínguez, 2001; Scalise et al., 2015). The agro-ecological role of the crop rotation and intercropping between cereal and legumes becomes of crucial importance to support productions in low-input cropping systems of Mediterranean marginal land. In particular, legume crops play an important role for sustainability in cropping systems (Pala et al., 2007) through an improvement and yield stabilization due to the biologically fixed-N, and the reduction of the mineral nitrogen input (Bedoussac and Justes, 2010).
- Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) are a widespread group of soil microbial community that form mutualistic symbiosis with about 90% of vascular plants (Berruti et al., 2014). This symbiosis is a key component of sustainable and low-input agricultural system; it is well- known to improve plant growth, nutrients uptake (Bücking and Kafle, 2015; Tarraf et al., 2015; Langeroodi et al., 2017), in particular phosphorus, and plant tolerance or resistance to abiotic and biotic stress (mainly, drought, salinity and soil-borne pathogens) (Ipsilantis et al., 2009). For these reasons, they are considered plant growth-promoting microorganisms.

- So far, the OMW effects on soil microbial communities and in particular on AMF are poorly investigated (Mechri et al., 2008), and it is not yet clear whether OMW may have a negative impact on it. Ipsilantis et al. (2009) reported a significant AMF colonization decrease in broad bean just after OMW spreading and a colonization increase after 10 and 30 days after spreading. Di Bene et al. (2013) assessed the short- and long-term effects of long-lasting repeated OMW applications on mycorrhizal symbiosis, reporting that OMW applications decreased AMF colonization, but improved arbuscular abundance in both short- and long-term.
- The aim of this experiment was to evaluate, in a three years crop succession in semi-arid low-input marginal Mediterranean agro-ecosystem, AMF inoculation and OMW volumes effects on forage (durum wheat-*M. scutellata* intercropping), broad bean (*Vicia faba* L. minor) and chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) grain productions.

Materials and methods

Experiment description

- The field experiment was carried out in Ispica, South Italy (Sicily) (36°44' N 14°58' E, 31 m a.s.l.) from October 2013 to June 2016 in a sandy soil (USDA, 1999) under Mediterranean conditions, according to Köppen climate classification (1936). The chemical-physical soil characteristics are reported in Table 1. A factorial split-plot design was adopted, with AMF inoculation (inoculated vs not inoculated) as split treatment (26.5 x 7.5 m) and OMW volumes (0, 40 and 80 m³ h⁻¹) as the within-plot treatment (5.3 x 7.5 m). In addition, to highlight the effect of water quantity supplied with OMW, other two within-plots (40 and 80 m³ H₂O ha⁻¹) have been included in the experimental design. OMW chemical composition, that was in line with literature data as reviewed by Roig et al. (2006), is reported in table 2.
- In the first cropping season (October 2013 April 2014) the effect of treatments (AMF inoculation and OMW) on *Triticum durum* Desf. sicilian old landraces (Timilia and Sicilia) intercropped with *Medicago scutellata* (L.) Mill. for forage production has been studied. Each within-plot was divided in six sub-plots (2.65 x 2.5 m), three for each wheat genotype, randomly distributed. The OMW and fresh water were distributed 22 days before sowing on 26th October 2013. Considering OMW macronutrients content (Tab. 2) at full dose (80 m³ ha⁻¹), 32.8 Kg N ha⁻¹, 34.8 Kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹ and 413.5 Kg K₂O ha⁻¹ were supplied to the soil. In the same day of OMW distribution, only in the first cropping season, 30 Mg ha⁻¹ of cattle manure has been distributed in all plots. The OMW and

manure were buried by rotary hoeing in the first soil layer (10 cm) the day after distribution and a further rotary hoeing (about 20 cm depth) was carried out the day before sowing. To sustain the cereal crop, according to soil characteristics (Tab.1), and particularly the low soil N content and sandy texture, 40 kg urea-N ha⁻¹ has been distributed at the durum wheat culm elongation phenological phase.

Parameters	Mean	(±SD)
Skeleton (%)	28.1	4.8
Sand (%)	73.6	1.5
Silt (%)	12.6	0.5
Clay (%)	13.8	2.0
Organic matter (%)	1.36	0.24
Total Nitrogen (%)	0.076	0.015
Total Phosphorus (%)	0.052	0.003
pН	7.3	0.1
EC (dS m^{-1})	0.320	0.096

Table 1 – Soil physical-chemical characteristics

Table 2 - Olive mill wastewater physical-chemical compositions

Parameters	2014	2015	2016	Mean	(±SD)	Literature data (Roig et al., 2006)
pН	4.34	5.21	4.87	4.81	0.44	4.2 - 5.17
Total Polyphenols (g L ⁻¹)	2.83	2.64	2.96	2.81	0.16	0.98 - 10.7
$EC (dS m^{-1})$	6.91	7.26	7.23	7.13	0.19	5.50 - 12.0
Dry matter (%)	6.30	6.60	6.58	6.49	0.17	6.33 - 7.19
$\mathrm{Na}^{+}(\mathrm{g}\ \mathrm{L}^{-1})$	0.18	0.23	0.21	0.21	0.03	0.11 - 0.30
$K^{+}(g L^{-1})$	4.29	4.03	4.17	4.16	0.13	1.97 - 8.97
$TP(gL^{-1})$	0.19	0.27	0.28	0.25	0.05	0.14 - 0.31
$TN (g L^{-1})$	0.41	0.61	0.57	0.53	0.11	0.62 - 2.1

- In the second cropping season (October 2014 May 2015) *Vicia faba* L. minor (cv. Prothabon 101) was cultivated. In the split-plot design, the within-plots area (5.3 x 7.5 m) was divided in four subplots (2.65 x 3.75 m) instead of the previous six ones. The OMW and freshwater were distributed 60 days before sowing on 10th October 2014. Respect to the previous year, the macronutrients supply with OMW at full dose (80 m³ ha⁻¹) was 48.8 Kg N ha⁻¹, 49.5 Kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹ and 388.4 Kg K₂O ha⁻¹ due to the different composition (Tab.2). Nutrients supplied with OMW were the only fertilization. The OMW was buried by rotary hoeing in the first soil profile (10 cm) five days after spreading; a further rotary hoeing (about 20 cm) was carried out the day before sowing. After crop emergence, weeds were manually controlled until full crop development.
- In the third cropping season (February 2016 June 2016), *Cicer arietinum* L. (cv. Pascià) for grain production was cultivated, with the same experimental design of the second

year. The OMW and freshwater were distributed on 23^{rd} October 2016, 4 months before sowing. OMW macronutrients supply at full dose (80 m³ ha⁻¹) was 45.6 Kg N ha⁻¹, 51.3 Kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹ and 401.9 K₂O Kg ha⁻¹. The OMW was buried by rotary hoeing in the first soil profile (10 cm) three days after spreading; a further rotary hoeing soil tillage (about 20 cm) was carried on 23^{rd} January and 1^{st} February 2016. On the first month after crop emergence weeds were removed by hoeing.

Seeds evaluation and sowing dose choosing

- Before sowing, for each crop, 1000 seeds weight and germination were evaluated to determine the amount of seed to be sown per unit area. Seed samples were randomly taken from seed stocks and 1000 seeds weight and percentage germination were assessed according to standard methods (ISTA, 1996). For wheat the 1000 seeds weight was 41.8 g for Sicilia and 29.0 g for Timilia with a germination of 92.8% and 97.5% for the two cultivar respectively. Durum wheat was sown at a dose of 400 germinable seeds m⁻². For *M. scutellata* the seeds used for sowing were collected from local population in the experimental area in the Spring 2013. The 1000 seeds weight was 1.52 g. Due to tegumental seed dormancy (Uzun and Aydin, 2004), germination was only 12.3%, so 2.5 g seeds m⁻² were sown to reach 200 germinable seeds m⁻². For broad bean the 1000 seeds weight was 420.9 g and the germination was 86.7%; it was sown to obtain 35 germinable seeds m⁻². *C. arietinum* showed a 1000 seeds weight of 481.6 g and a germination rate of 82.4%; it was sowed at 30 germinable seeds m⁻².
- AMF inoculation (based on *Rhizophagus intraradices* inoculum self-produced in laboratory) was carried out, for each cropping season, at the sowing (75 spore m⁻²) distributing the inoculum along the row.

Meteorological variables

Over the experimental period, the main daily meteorological variables: maximum, minimum and average temperature, rainfall and potential evapotranspiration (ET₀) according to Penman-Monteith equation, were provided by the SIAS (Sicilian Informative Agro-Meteorological Service) though an agrometeorological stations located approximately 1.5 km from the experimental site.

Bio-agronomic parameters

For all cropping seasons bio-agronomic traits (culm height for wheat and scutellata; culm height and leaf number for broad bean and chickpea) were weekly monitored for all crop life cycle.

On the third study year, after the crop emergence, the driest climate conditions have reduced the plant growth until its stopped at the end of April 2016 and subsequently brought the plants to die in May 2016. For this reason, the data on the last research year are not discussed.

Biomass yield and analysis

- In the first year forage was harvested on 15th April 2014 at the *M. scutellata* flowering in the inner area (0.5 x 0.5 m) of each plot. The biomass was subdivided in three categories (wheat, medicago, and weeds). For each biomass category, fresh weight was determined just after harvest in field with a portable balance whereas biomass dry weight was determined in a thermo-ventilated oven at 65 °C until constant weight.
- In the second cropping season, broad bean grain was harvested on 30th May 2015 in the inner area (1 x 1 m) of each subplot. The following yield components: shoot density, plant⁻¹ m⁻², pods number m⁻² and pods weight were measured.
- Forage dry biomass and broad bean grains were milled to determine the total Kjeldahl nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) content (Balthrop et al., 2011). Forage biomass fiber composition was determined in a pooled sample for each treatment according to Goering and Van Soest (1970).

Root analysis: AMF colonization and root nodule

- At full flowering phase of legumes in both first (4th April 2014) and second (30th March 2015) experimental year, four wheat and broad bean plants per subplot were randomly selected. In these plants root samples were collected with a hand-operated soil probe (5 cm diameter) in the first 20 cm depth soil for total 240-sampled durum wheat plants and 160-sampled broad bean plants. In laboratory, the same procedure was used to remove the soil particles by root samples of the two corps. The root samples were washed with some drops of Tween 20 and then rinsed several times in tap water.
- Durum wheat root samples were cleared with 10% KOH for 3 minutes, stained with 5% ink-vinegar for 5 minutes and de-stained in distilled water for 10 minutes (Vierheilig et al., 1998). Broad bean root samples were cleared with 10% KOH for 23 hours, (changing the KOH solution after 10 hours), rinsed three times in tap water and new cleared with hydrogen peroxide (36 vol.) for 30 minutes and again rinsed in tap water. Subsequently, root samples were stained with 5% dark ink-vinegar for 30 minutes and de-stained in tap water for other 30minutes. Later all roots samples were cut into small fragments (about 1 cm each) and mounted onto microscope slides with some drops of tap water.

- Considering the high number of root samples in both years, they were stored at +4°C for later microscopic analysis.
- AMF percentage colonization in the root cortex was estimated according to Trouvelot (1986) as follow: F%= mycorrhization frequency (the percentage of root fragments showing fungal colonization), M%= AMF colonization intensity (the percentage of fungi structures referred to the whole root system), m%= AMF colonization intensity (the percentage of fungi structures referred to colonized root fragments), a%= abundance of arbuscules (percentage of arbuscules presence referred to the root fragments showing fungal colonization); A%= abundance of arbuscules (percentage of arbuscules presence referred to the whole root system).
- Moreover, additional four broad bean plants per treatment were sampled (total 40-sampled plants) with the whole root systems. Subsequently roots samples were washed and its nodules were manually separated from the roots to evaluate the nodule number and weight. Nodule dry weight was determined in a thermo-ventilated oven at 65 °C until constant weight.

Statistical analysis

All the percentage calculated were arccosine transformed before statistical analysis and the normality of data was checked using the Shapiro–Wilk test. Data were normally distributed and it subjected to analysis of variance (ANOVA). The data were post-hoc tested, using the Fisher's LSD test to determine significant differences.

Results

Meteorological variables

- The experimental site is characterized by a typical Mediterranean climate, with an average annual temperature of 18.5 °C and average rainfall of 484 mm year⁻¹ (1971-2000) (Servizio Metereologico dell'Aeronautica Militare). In our study, the average annual air temperature (+18.0°C) and the average annual rainfall (520 mm year⁻¹) was similar to the long-term average. Minimum and maximum temperatures during the three growing seasons ranged from +0.1°C to 37.9 °C recorded on January 1st 2015 and July 31th 2015, respectively.
- The same trend was found for monthly average temperature and ET_0 with fairly uniform values during the three experimental years (Fig. 1a and Fig 1b), contrarily to the total amount rainfall that was quite different. In fact, in the first growing season (from

November 2013 to April 2014) was recoded 295 mm of rainfall fairly uniform distributed (Fig. 1b). A higher amount of rainfall (401 mm) was recorded during the second growing season compared to the first one (Fig. 1b), mainly concentrated (88%) between January and March 2015, during the broad been vegetative stage (Fig.1b). The lowest rainfall amount was measured during the third growing season (50.2 mm) mainly concentrate in the first eighteen days after sowing (72.1%). Furthermore, the remaining part of rainfall derived from 10 small events that were not useful for plant growth.



Figure 1 - Meteorological variables: a) temperature (maximum, minimum and average temperature) and b) rainfall and evapotranspiration (ET_0) .

First growing season: Intercropping durum wheat-medicago

Bio-agronomic traits

In both wheat genotypes, crop emergence was observed 6 days after sowing (DAS), with higher uniformity in absence of OMW treatment. However, 19 DAS the durum wheat establishment in all the plots was uniform. The crop emergence of *M. scutellata* was observed during the first ten days in January 2014 and it was not affected by OMW treatment. Plants stature was not influenced by OMW distribution and AMF inoculation reaching an average value at the harvest time of 92.4 \pm 1.8 cm and 68.9 \pm 1.1 cm for wheat and scutellata, respectively. Considering wheat genotype, Sicilia reached a significant (p<0.01) higher stature (+14%) than Timilia which showed an average culm height of 85.1 ± 2.1 cm.

Biomass Yield

- At the harvest time, in the average of the studied treatments and only for durum wheat genotypes, the AMF inoculation determined a significant (p<0.01) dry matter yield increase (+30.8%) as compared to un-inoculated treatment (367.6 \pm 22.6 g m⁻²). No statistical differences in dry matter yield of durum wheat were found in relation to OMW volumes, with a grand mean of 423.5 \pm 18.5 g m⁻².
- *M. scutellata* and weeds dry matter was significantly (p<0.05) affected by OMW spreading volumes whereas no effect exerted the AMF inoculation. Spreading OMW at the dose of 40 m³ ha⁻¹ increased *M. scutellata* dry matter yield by +43.1% as compared to control (313.2 \pm 16.6 g m⁻²) whereas an opposite trend was observed for weeds dry matter production (Fig. 2). The control and 40 m³ H₂O ha⁻¹ showed the highest weed presence without significant differences between them (Fig. 2).
- Considering total forage dry biomass yield, only AMF inoculation exerted a significant effect (+13.6%) as compared to un-inoculated treatment ($842.5 \pm 30.1 \text{ g m}^{-2}$).



Figure 2 - Olive mill wastewater effects on *Medicago scutellata* and weeds dry matter production. Different letters show statistical differences of the treatment at p<0.05 (LSD – Fisher Test).

Nutrients uptake

Nitrogen and phosphorus uptake, in the average of the two crops for forage (durum wheat + scutellata) were significantly higher in presence of OMW volumes as compared to the control (Fig. 3a and 3b). Instead, AMF inoculation significantly (p<0.01) increase only forage P uptake (Fig. 4).



Figure 3a and 3b – Olive mill wastewater effect on uptake of N (a) and P (b) in forage. Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.01 (LSD – Fisher Test).



Figure 4 – Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi effect on P uptake in forage. Different letters show statistical differences at p<0.01 (LSD – Fisher Test).

Considering the single crop, in durum wheat AMF inoculation significantly (p<0.01) increased wheat N and P uptake by +22.8% and +32.5% as compared to un-inoculated treatments (3.7 ± 0.2 g N m⁻² and 0.69 ± 0.04 g P m⁻²). In the average of the studied treatments, a significantly (p<0.01) higher N uptake was observed in Sicilia genotype (+19.2%) than in Timilia (3.7 ± 0.3 g N m⁻²). In *M. scutellata*, no treatments effects were observed on N uptake, with a grand mean of 10.1 ± 0.34 g N m⁻². Independently of the spreading volumes, OMW distribution determined a significantly (p<0.01) higher (+41.8%) P uptake than control treatment (0.55 ± 0.03 g P m⁻²).

Biomass fiber composition

Biomass fiber composition in both durum wheat genotypes intercropped with scutellata are reported in table 3. OMW treatments and AMF inoculation did not show any effect on biomass fiber components. Considering the two durum wheat genotype, Timila+scutellata forage showed a significant (p<0.05) higher ADL value (+11.6%) as compared to Sicilia+scutellata one (Tab.3).

Forage composition	AMF Treatment	OMW Treatment (m ³ ha ⁻¹)	NDF%	ADF%	ADL%	AIA%
	No	Control	54.1	35.0	5.9	0.26
	No	$40 \text{ H}_2\text{O}$	56.7	32.9	5.7	0.25
	No	$80 H_2O$	54.1	34.1	5.6	0.30
	No	40 OMW	54.0	33.5	6.4	0.33
Sicilia +	No	80 OMW	56.2	35.8	6.8	0.29
Medicago scutellata	Yes	Control	56.9	35.9	6.6	0.22
	Yes	$40 \text{ H}_2\text{O}$	58.4	37.2	4.2	0.34
	Yes	$80 H_2O$	56.4	34.8	5.9	0.18
	Yes	40 OMW	57.5	33.6	6.3	0.30
	Yes	80 OMW	60.5	36.2	6.3	0.27
	No	Control	55.7	38.5	6.78	0.38
	No	$40 \text{ H}_2\text{O}$	57.7	35.8	7.01	0.54
	No	$80 H_2O$	52.8	34.2	6.05	0.22
	No	40 OMW	57.6	38.4	7.39	0.25
Timilia +	No	80 OMW	55.1	36.0	7.24	0.29
Medicago scutellata	Yes	Control	56.8	35.6	6.34	0.29
	Yes	$40 \text{ H}_2\text{O}$	59.3	35.6	5.90	0.43
	Yes	$80 H_2O$	55.2	35.8	6.27	0.29
	Yes	40 OMW	54.0	34.6	7.36	0.27
	Yes	80 OMW	58.1	35.9	6.21	0.30

Table 3 – Forage fiber composition. Data are expressed as percentage of dry matter. NDF = neutral detergent fiber; ADF = acid detergent fiber; ADL = acid detergent lignin; AIA = acid insoluble ash.

Root AMF colonization

Root AMF colonization in durum wheat was not significantly influenced by OMW treatments. In the average of the other studied factors, the percentage of AMF in the root system of durum wheat, was significantly (p<0.01) higher (F%=+38.3%, M%= +54.8% and A%=+67.8%) in the inoculated treatment compared to un-inoculated one which showed F% of 52.2% \pm 2.94, M% of 16.1% \pm 0.44 and A% of 12.1% \pm 0.12. No statistical difference in durum wheat was observed for m% and a% with a mean value of 32.9% \pm 1.11 and 78.1% \pm 1.90, respectively.

Second growing season: Vicia faba L. cv. minor

Bio-agronomic traits

Climatic conditions delayed broad bean emergence that was observed 22 DAS. In fact: a) in the 30 days before sowing only 4.4 mm in 3 rain events (each lower than 3 mm) were recorded; b) in the two weeks after sowing only 14.8 mm in 5 rain events (each lower than 5 mm) were recorded. However, the rainfall recorded in all the growing season (401 mm) promoted a uniform crop development.

The maximum leaf number (123 DAS) and, stem height at harvesting (168 DAS) did not show significant differences among treatments (grand mean = 16.0 ± 0.16 leaf plant⁻¹ and 149.0 ± 1.09 cm plant⁻¹, respectively).

Yield components

At the harvest, no statistical difference was found among treatments in shoot density, with a grand mean of 35.0 ± 0.84 plants m⁻². In the average of the AMF inoculation treatments, OMW spreading significantly (p<0.01) increased the number of pods per square meter and per plant (Fig. 5a and Fig. 5b), with maximum values at 40 m³ OMW ha⁻¹ (211 ± 27.5 pods m⁻² and 6.3 ± 0.34 pods plant⁻¹). The distribution of OMW at 80 m⁻³ ha⁻¹ did not determine significant differences as compared to the other treatments (Fig. 5a and Fig. 5b).



Figure 5 – Olive mill wastewater effect on a) pods number per square meter and b) pods number per plant. Different letters show statistical differences of the treatments at p<0.01 and p<0.05 (LSD – Fisher Test).

The grain yield was not influenced by AMF inoculation with an average yield of 2.15 ± 0.08 Mg ha⁻¹ whereas a positive effect exerted the OMW spreading despite the volumes supplied with a mean value of 2.46 ± 0.12 Mg ha⁻¹. Control treatment (un-watered) was not statistical different as compared to the two treatments supplying fresh water, with an average yield of 1.94 ± 0.09 Mg ha⁻¹ (Fig. 6).



Figure 6 – Olive mill wastewater effects on broad bean grain yield. Different letters show statistical differences of the different treatments at p<0.05 (LSD – Fisher Test).

Broad bean grain nutrients content

Grain nitrogen content did not show statistical differences among treatments with grand mean of $4.25 \pm 0.13\%$ on dry matter base. Phosphorus grain content, on the average of the volumes distribution, was significantly (p<0.05) higher (+11.5%) in presence of AMF inoculation compared to un-inoculated treatment (0.37 ± 0.01% on dry matter base).

Root nodules

In the treatments without OMW distribution, AMF inoculation showed a positive effect on broad bean root nodule number for plants, with a significant (p<0.05) increase of 13.9% as compared to un-inoculated treatments (107.1 \pm 1.0 nodule number plant⁻¹ (Fig. 7a). The same trend was observed for nodule weight where AMF inoculation determined a significant (p<0.05) increase of +38.8% as compared to un-inoculated treatments (0.43 \pm 0.03 g nodule plant⁻¹). No statistical difference was found between the two OMW levels (40 and 80 m³ OMW ha⁻¹) for root nodule number and weight, with a mean value of 81.0 \pm 4.24 nodule plant⁻¹ and 0.39 \pm 0.06 g plant⁻¹, respectively (Fig. 7a and Fig.7b). OMW supply however determined a lower nodule number and weight in un-inoculated treatments (Fig. 7a and 7b).



Figure 7 – Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and olive mill wastewater effects on: a) nodules number and b) nodules weight. Different letters show statistical differences of the different treatments at p<0.05 (LSD – Fisher Test).

Root AMF colonization

AMF inoculation did not show statistical difference on root percentage of colonization, ranging from 86.7% to 100% for F%, from 38.7% to 90.0% for M% and m%, from 83.3% to 100% for a% and from 38.3% to 90.0% for A%.

Discussion

It is widely believed that the agronomic use of OMW by direct spreading in agricultural lands represents one of the best solution for OMW management in Mediterranean countries due to the huge amount produced in only few months per year. However their distribution is limited by some constraints, such as oil and greases (Amaral et al., 2008), high salinity, acidity and especially high phenolic compound concentrations (El Hadrami et al., 2004; Barbera et al., 2014; Cavallaro et al., 2014). Although polyphenols are the most limiting factor for spreading OMWs on soils because of their antimicrobial and phytotoxic effects especially during seed germination, they are rapidly degraded depending on environmental conditions and a delayed sowing after OMW spreading, is desirable to obtain good germination and emergence (Barbera et al., 2013). In our study, in the first growing season, the durum wheat sowing was performed 22 days after OMW spreading. This period allowed to reduce the OMW phytotoxic effect due to the phenolic compounds (Barbera et al., 2013). Thus, the lower wheat emergence uniformity in OMW treatments can be attributed to the OMW salinity. In fact, although the soil is not saline the particular meteorological trend recorded during the experiment, with a total of 4 mm of rainfall in the first 6 days after sowing, has probably caused a concentration of salts in the upper soil layer in which the seed was present reducing its imbibition and delaying germination processes. The uniform emergence observed, 19 DAS, confirms this interpretation, in fact the 83.8 mm of rainfall (44.4 mm in one event) recorded from 6th to 19th DAS, and the sandy texture of soil permitted the leaching of the salt added with OMW distribution, allowing a regular crop establishment.

- In our study, despite low AMF root colonization (20.3%) in inoculated durum wheat, the AMF inoculum led to a higher dry matter yield than not inoculated treatment. Mycorrhizal symbiosis associated with plant roots was found to enhance durum wheat dry matter production under drought conditions. This effect may be referred to the increase of the soil mineral and water uptake through the extraction of soil water by the extra-radical hyphal network (Al-Karaki, 1998).
- The increase in *M. scutellata* yield determined by OMWs may mainly be due to the positive effect of P and K supplied. In fact, these macronutrients have been shown exert positive effect on legume production (Mmbaga et al., 2015). On the contrary, OMW spreading reduced weeds dry matter production as a result of OMW phytotoxic properties as confirmed by Cayuela et al. (2008) that observed a reduction of more than 90% of weed seeds germination following the application of OMWs.
- Crop production in soils with lower levels of N and P reduces the risk of environmental impacts from denitrification and leaching loss (Smith et al., 2008). Cereals are often intercropped with legumes for forage production to increase total yields and reduce N fertilizer input due to symbiotic nitrogen fixation. In fact, legumes release fixed N in the

soil through root exudates and it is subsequently mineralized and reabsorbed by the plant or taken up by a plant growing nearby. However, the AMF extra-radical hyphae may improve plant uptake, especially P (Johansen and Jensen, 1996). In our study, we observed a higher N uptake in Sicilia durum wheat genotype and in presence of AMF inoculation (1st year). These results suggest: 1) a genotype-specific response; and 2) an improve of N transfer from *M. scutellata* to durum wheat by AMF, in agreement with Johansen and Jensen (1996). AMF inoculation increased durum wheat P uptake in agreement with Li et al. (2006) and Smith et al. (2003) which report a significant P uptake increase in presence of AMF, especially in presence of *R. intraradices*.

- The biomass fiber composition values measured in our study (Tab.3) are in agreement with scientific literature (Heuzè et al., 2015). Comparing the two wheat genotypes, the higher lignin content (ADL) found in Timilia+scutellata biomass as compared to Sicilia+scutellata one, indicate a low-quality forage (Short et al., 1974) suggesting that Sicilia should be preferred for forage production.
- In second growing season, in broad bean a higher pod number was observed in presence of OMW with a higher grain yield compared to other treatments. This result could be explained by an improving in soil fertility determined by OMW application, mainly influencing K and P soil contents (Chaari et al., 2015; Steinmetz et al., 2015; Proietti et al., 2015). Furthermore, the OMW spreading has been demonstrated to be able to determine an improvement of the soil aggregate stability and soil water retention (Barbera et al., 2013). On the contrary, Mekki et al. (2006a) observed a decrease in all main yield components of broad bean, compared to the un treated control.
- Although Mechri et al. (2008) reported that the abundance of AMF in soil was reduced due to the toxic effect exerted by OMW, in our study OMW distribution did not show any effects on AMF colonization in durum wheat and broad bean. Indeed, we found colonization also in un-inoculated plots, indicating that our experimental soil contains indigenous mycorrhizal community. Broad bean roots colonization was not significantly different comparing inoculated and un-inoculated treatments, but if we found a significantly higher P content in broad bean grain harvested in the inoculated treatment. This result may be attributed to the development and P uptake effectiveness of the extra-radical hyphae induced by the *Rhizophagus intraradices* present in the our inoculum, in agreement with Smith et al. (2004).
- So far not much is known regarding the effects of OMW on the soil microbial community structure and more particularly on bacterial groups involved in important soil functions

(Karpouzas et al., 2010). Garcia-Barrionuevo et al. (1992) reported a stimulatory effect of OMW on nitrogen-fixing bacteria. Mekki et al. (2006b) found a significant reduction in the number of soil nitrifying bacteria at high OMW dose (400 m³ ha⁻¹). Moreover, Di Serio et al. (2008) showed that high amounts of OMW increased the soil-denitrifying community and decreased slightly the population of nitrifying bacteria for the reductive effect of phenols.

In our study the nodulation was negatively affected by OMW distribution. The decrease in the nodules number and weight could be attributed to OMW toxic effect, determining a possible reduction of indigenous rhizobia population in our sandy in agreement with Ciafardini and Zullo (1998). In absence of OMW distributions, AMF inoculation promoted the nodulation in *V. fava* minor, as indicated by the highest nodule number and weight in agreement with Wang et al. (2011).

Conclusions

OMW spreading showed a positive effect on *M. scutellata* dry biomass production and broad bean grain yield highlighting the positive effect of this byproduct on legumes species. AMF inoculation significantly increased forage production whereas it did not affect broad bean grain yield because the abundance of indigenous AMF that have fully colonized the un- inoculated plants. Roots AMF colonization, in each experimental year, was not affected by OMW volumes and determined a significant higher N and P uptake by durum wheat biomass and P uptake by broad bean grain. AMF inoculation did not affect *M. scutellata* P and N uptake. Despite the inhibitory effect of OMW on broad bean nodulation, increased the broad bean yield (+21.1%) compared to without OMW plots. The obtained results showed that the OMW spreading and AMF inoculum could be promising agronomic practices to valorize the Mediterranean marginal low-input agroecosystem for animal feed production. Chapter V

Effect of mycorrhizal inoculum, saline and water stress on *Panicum miliaceum* L. forage production in Mediterranean environment

Abstract

The aims of this study were to evaluate: i) in laboratory conditions, the effect of NaCl and mannitol at different osmotic pressures on germination of three proso millet (Panicum miliaceum L.) genotypes (VIR 9181, Unikum and Kinelskoje); ii) in a Mediterranean marginal soil, the effects of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) inoculation, irrigation water salinity and ETm restitution regimes on fresh biomass yield (FBY) at dough stage for forage production on the genotypes that showed the highest (Unikum) and lowest seed germination (Kinelskoje) in laboratory conditions. Germination was significantly reduced as osmotic pressure increased independently of the osmoticum. Regardless of the treatments, Unikum showed the highest germination rate (95.1%) and Kinelskoje the lowest one (80.4%). In open field, regardless of the studied factors, Unikum showed a higher FBY (620.4±126.3 g m⁻²) than Kinelskoje (340.0±73.5 g m⁻²). AMF inoculation did not influence FBY under salt condition whereas, in absence of the salt treatment, it significantly increased the Unikum FBY (+50.7%) as compared to the un-inoculated treatment (552.5±269 g m⁻²). Increasing irrigation water salinity and ETm restitution respectively decreased and increased millet FBY. Our results suggest genotype-specific effects of AMF inoculation under freshwater irrigation, whereas, no effects were observed under saline water irrigation. The present study gives novel information about proso millet forage production using AMF inoculation under salt and drought stress in Mediterranean marginal area conditions, further investigations on the large-scale are needed to confirm our findings.

Introduction

- In semi-arid and arid regions, salinity is one of the major causes of land degradation (Hasegawa et al., 2000; Zhu, 2003) and leads to huge economic losses due to reduction in total arable land area and crop productivity (Mahajan and Tuteja, 2005). Salts effects on agricultural soils are generally tied to soluble minerals present in irrigation water and high fertilization input (Villa-Castorena et al., 2003; Al-Karaki et al., 2006). In Europe, about 3.8 million ha are affected by soil salinization, particularly by naturally saline soils occur in Spain, Hungary, Greece and Bulgaria, or irrigation with salinity water induce soil salinization in significant areas of Sicily and the Ebro Valley in Spain and more locally in the other part of Italy, Hungary, Greece, Portugal, France, Slovakia, and Romania (Jones et al., 2012). Plants growing in saline soil are subjected to three distinct physiological stresses: 1) toxic effects of specific ions such as sodium and chloride, which disrupt the structure of enzymes and other macromolecules, damage cell organelles, reduce photosynthesis and respiration, inhibit protein synthesis, and induce ions deficiency (Juniper and Abbott, 1993; Ramoliya et al., 2004); 2) osmotic effect due to physiological drought because plants must maintain lower internal osmotic potentials to prevent water from moving from the roots into the soil (Aggarwal et al., 2012); 3) nutrient imbalance caused by depression in uptake and/or transport (Adiku et al., 2001; Marschner, 1995).
- Among a wide array of rhizosphere microorganisms, arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) are an essential component of sustainable and low-input agricultural systems (Ipsilantis et al., 2009). AMF symbiosis can exert positive effects on crop production (Candido et al., 2013; Sabia et al., 2015; Tarraf et al., 2015) and increase plant tolerance to abiotic stress such as drought (Ruiz-Lozano, 2003; Miransari, 2010) and salinity (Evelin et al. 2009; Miransari, 2010; Porcel et al., 2012). Possible AMF-mediated adaptation mechanisms inducing plant tolerance to saline conditions (Wu et al., 2010) include: 1) nutrient uptake improvement, especially phosphorus (P) (Al-Karaki 2000; Al-Karaki et al., 2001; Asghari et al., 2005); 2) accumulation of soluble sugars into the roots (Feng et al. 2002); 3) K+/Na+ ratio adjustment (Giri et al., 2007; Asghari, 2012); 4) antioxidant enzymatic activities (He et al., 2007). Although AMF can be found in saline soils, some of their features such as spore germination, fungal hyphae growth (Porcel et al., 2012), formation of mycorrhizal arbuscules (Tian et al., 2004; Sheng et al., 2008), and root colonization levels (Juniper and Abbott, 2006) may be negatively affected by high salinity. Despite these mycorrhizal behaviors, the positive influence on crop production exerted by AMF inoculum under salinity stress condition is not fully understood yet.

- Proso millet (Panicum miliaceum L.) is a C4 annual plant, introduced from eastern and central Asia to Europe about 3000 years ago (Upadhyaya et al., 2011). It is a mycorrhizal plant that has previously been reported to strongly benefit from AMF inoculation (Channabasava et al. 2015). Moreover proso millet is the world's sixth most important cereal grain (Arab et al., 2013) and is mainly cultivated in Africa and Asia (Lèder, 2004). In Europe, it is cultivated on 61,233 ha with an average grain yield of 1.9 Mg ha⁻¹ (FAOSTAT, 2014). This species has many desirable agronomic traits including short growing season (60-90 days), low nutrient and water requirements as well as excellent tolerance to salt, drought, high temperature, and other extreme conditions (Yue et al., 2016). For these reasons, proso millet can be also cultivated in marginal lands where other cereals do not fully succeed (Hunt et al., 2011). In several countries, it is harvested primarily for human consumption (Saleh et al., 2013; Morales et al., 2015), but it is also used as fodder (Morales et al., 2015). However, the specific scientific literature on proso millet use as forage crop, especially in the Mediterranean area, is lacking. In Iran, fresh biomass yields ranging from 16.1 Mg ha⁻¹ (Jahansouz et al., 2014) to 43.6 Mg ha⁻¹ (Mohajer et al., 2012) have been reported.
- The semi-arid zones of Southern Italy are particularly prone to erosion due to a combination of climatic and edaphic factors, including soil salinity. In Sicily, marginal land reclamation programs are being now evaluated and sustainable practices, such as proso millet cultivation with AMF biofertilization, could represent a valid option.
- The aims of this study on proso millet were to evaluate: i) in laboratory conditions, the effect of osmo-salinity stress on seed germination of different genotypes; ii) in a Mediterranean marginal soil, the effect of AMF inoculation under different saline water levels and crop evapotranspiration restitutions (ETm) on the milk-dough fresh biomass yield (FBY) for forage production.

Materials and methods

Experimental description

Laboratory experiments

The laboratory experiments were carried out at the Department of Agriculture, Food and Environment of the University of Catania (Italy). Three different genotypes of *Panicum miliaceum* L. (VIR 9181, Unikum and Kinelskoje) were chosen for seeds imbibition and germination tests. The three used seed lots had a 1,000 seeds weight of 4.85 g for VIR

9181, 5.63 g for Unikum and 6.60 g for Kinelskoje. The studied treatments are listed in table 1.

Treatment number	Osmotic agent	Osmotic pressure (MPa)
1	Distilled water	0
2	NaCl	-0.250
3	NaCl	-0.500
4	NaCl	-0.750
5	Mannitol	-0.250
6	Mannitol	-0.500
7	Mannitol	-0.750

Table 1 – Osmotic pressure and agents of the germination solutions.

- Salinity stress was induced by adding NaCl at the concentrations able to give the same osmotic potentials of the mannitol solutions. Osmotic potential in NaCl solutions was verified using an automatic cryoscopic osmometer (Gonotec Osmomat 030 model, Berlin, Germany). Mannitol solutions were prepared, according to the required water potential, as described by Machado Neto et al. (2004).
- Seed water uptake. For each treatment, seed water uptake at 2, 4, 17 and 21 hours of imbibition, was measured. For this purpose, 30 millet seeds of uniform size were hand-selected for each genotype and placed in Petri dishes (Ø 9 cm) with 9 ml of each studied solution under dark conditions at 25 ±1°C temperature. Each treatment was replicated three times. After initiation millet seeds were removed at each measuring time, drained, blotted with absorbent paper, weighed and placed again into the Petri dishes. Percentage seed water uptake was determined as:

Seed water uptake (%) = [(final weight-initial weight)/initial weight] \times 100

Seed Germination. Hand-selected seeds of uniform size were surface sterilized with 5% (w/v) calcium hypochlorite for 5 min and rinsed four times with deionized water. These seeds were then transferred to Petri dishes (20 seeds per Ø 9 cm Petri dish) containing one Whatman® Filter Paper moistened with 9 ml of the studied solutions. Each treatment was replicated three times. Petri dishes were tightly sealed with Parafilm® to avoid water depletion. Seeds were allowed to germinate in a growth chamber at a temperature of $25 \pm 1 \text{ °C}$ in the dark. Seed germination was measured daily. Seeds were scored as germinated when a radicle extrusion $\geq 2 \text{ mm}$ long was observed and subsequently they were removed

from Petri dishes. Germination percentage (GP) was calculated according to the International Seed Testing Association (ISTA) method (Ali & Idris 2015):

GP = Number of normally germinated seeds/ total seeds number $\times 100$

- Moreover, seedling vigor index (SVI) was calculated by the following formula according to Ali and Idris (2015):
 - SVI = (seedling length (cm) x germination percentage) / 100

Field experiment

- The two millet genotypes that showed the highest (Unikum) and lowest (Kinealskoje) germination percentages in preliminary laboratory trial, were evaluated in an open field study (summer 2014) to test genotype-specific response under stress conditions. The experiment was conducted at the Experimental Farm "Cibali" of the Istituto Agrario Siciliano Valdisavoia (37°31' N, 15°04' E, 84 m a.s.l.) Catania (Italy) in a volcanic soil with sandy texture.
- Over the experimental short-period, the main daily meteorological variables: maximum, minimum and average temperature, rainfall, solar radiation and potential evapotranspiration (ET_0), were provided by the INAF (Osservatorio Astrofisico di Catania) though an agrometeorological stations located approximately 500 m from the experimental site.
- The adopted experimental design was a split-plot (Fig. 1) with the following treatments: AMF inoculation as the main factor (AMF-Y = inoculated plots and AMF-N = not inoculated plots), salt stress induced by irrigation with NaCl (0.5 dS m⁻¹ = Salt-N and 5.0 dS m⁻¹ = Salt-Y) as the second factor, water restitutions (25% ETm and 100% ETm) as the third one and millet genotypes (Unikum vs Kinelskoje) as the fourth one, replicated two times. Crop coefficient (Kc) and maximum evapotranspiration (ETm) were calculated in agreement with FAO-56 guidelines (Allen et al., 1998).
- Sowing, weeding and thinning operations were done manually. The two genotypes were sowed on 10th June 2014, at 360 seeds m⁻², adopting an inter-row distance of 15 cm and a sowing depth of about 2 cm. At the sowing, AMF inoculation (based on *Rhizophagus intraradices, Funneliformis mosseae, Glomus* spp. and other microorganisms) was manually distributed at 600 propagules m⁻² along the row. All plots received for the first 8 day after sowing (DAS) the same water volume (about 6 mm of fresh water every two days) for seed germination. Subsequently, at 10 DAS when the crop was at the first two leaf fully expanded, water restitution and NaCl treatments took place until harvest, distributing a total of 30.6 mm for 25% ETm and 159.3 mm for 100% ETm. After millet
plants emergence, 8 randomly selected plants per treatment were marked and weekly monitored for culm height, leaf number, and phenological phase in agreement with BBCH scale (Hess et al. 1997). Moreover, the leaf SPAD value, an indirect measure of chlorophyll content, was measured three times from 34 to 48 DAS (SPAD 502 Chlorophyll Meter - Spectrum Technologies, Inc).

On 4th August 2014, millet was harvested at milk-dough stage and fresh biomass yield and its components were detected. In four plants per subplot, the leaf area surface was measured using WinDias 2.0 (©DELTA-T Devices ltd 1995-2000).



Figure 1 – Experimental design

Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed by ANOVA in order to evaluate the treatments effects. A post-hoc test was performed to compare means using the Fisher's LSD test (α =0.05). An arcsine transformation was applied to all data expressed as a percentage before performing ANOVA.

Results

Laboratory experiments

Seed water uptake: seed water uptake dynamics during the first 21 hours of imbibition were significantly (p<0.001) influenced by the osmotic pressure. Regardless of the genotype, significant higher water uptake was measured after 4, 17 and 21 hours in the control (0.0 MPa) compared to other osmotic pressure levels (Fig. 2a). Considering genotypes, after 2 and 4 hours, water uptake in Kinelskoje was significantly higher (p<0.001) than in the other two genotypes whereas no differences were found after 17 and 21 hours (Fig. 2b).



Figure 2 – Time course of water uptake as affected by: a) osmotic pressure and b) millet genotypes.

- At 21 hours from the start of seed imbibition, water uptake was significantly (p<0.05) affected by the interaction between millet genotypes and osmotic pressure (Fig. 3a). Kinelskoje presented the highest water uptake at 0.0 MPa (38.7%) but was the most sensitive among the three genotypes to the decrease of water potential from -0.250 MPa to -0.500 MPa. At the lowest water potential (-0.750 MPa), all genotypes showed the same water uptake (on average 25.7%).
- Seed germination: percentage germination of VIR 9181 and Kinelskoje was negatively affected by the decrease in water potential. In VIR 9181, significant differences in seed germination were observed from 0.0 to -0.250 MPa with a decrease of -4.72%; while no differences from to -0.250 to -0.750 MPa were found (Fig. 3b). In Kinelskoje, significantly (p<0.05) lower germination values were observed at -0.250 and -0.500 MPa (on average -8.0%), and at -0.750 MPa (-19.8%), compared to the 0 MPa (control-distilled water) (Fig. 3b). Unikum seed germination was not affected by osmotic pressure showing the highest germination (95.1% \pm 0.75) (Fig. 3b) and SVI (3.65 \pm 0.30) values. Reductions in SVI are observed in all the studied genotypes already al -0.250 MPa. However, a lower decrease was observed in Unikum as compared to the other cultivars (Tab. 2). As well as for water uptake and germination rate, the lowest water potential (-0.750 MPa) was the most detrimental for seedling growth and, regardless of the treatment

applied, determined the strongest significant (p<0.01) decrease of SVI (-70.9%) compared to the control (Tab. 2). No differences were found in seed water uptake, germination and seedling vigor index in relation to the used osmoticum (NaCl and mannitol).



Figure 3 – Water uptake at the 21th hours (a) and germination percentage at the 96th hour (b) of millet genotypes under osmotic pressure. Different letters show statistical differences of the treatments at p<0.05 (LSD – Fisher Test).

Osmotic Pressure									
(MPa)	Kinel	skoje		Unikum			/IR 9181	mean	
0.0	3.93 ± 0.17			5.48 ± 0.07			35 ± 0.16	4.92 ± 0.19	
-0.250	2.48 ± 0.29		4.08 ± 0.46			2.66 ± 0.23		$\textbf{3.07} \pm \textbf{0.25}$	
-0.500	2.45 ± 0.32		3.01 ± 0.36			2.93 ± 0.36		$\textbf{2.79} \pm \textbf{0.20}$	
-0.750	1.08 ±	0.13		2.04	± 2.04	1.	18 ± 0.10	1.43 ± 0.13	
mean	2.48 ±	= 0.24		3.65	± 0.30	3.03 ± 0.33		3.05 ± 0.18	
ANOVA							Ι	L.S.D.	
	SS	DF	MS	F	Prob F	Sign. F	p<0.05	p<0.01	
G	15.7309	2	7.8654	17.2022	2.33E-06	**	0.39247	0.52356	
OP	108.764	3	36.256	79.2911	1.30E-18	**	0.45319	0.60456	
S	0.0147	1	0.0147	0.0321	8.59E-01		0.32045	0.42749	
G x OP	6.1833	6	1.0306	2.2539	5.37E-02		0.78495	1.04713	
GxS	0.3383	2	0.1692	0.3700	6.93E-01		0.55504	0.74043	
OP x S	0.5102	3	0.1701	0.3719	7.74E-01		0.64091	0.85498	
G x OP x S	4.1026	6	0.6838	1.4954	2.00E-01		1.11009	1.48086	
Residual	21.9472	48	0.4572						
Total	157.5909	71							

Table 2 – Seedling vigor index (SVI) of millet genotypes in relation to osmotic pressure

G= genotype; OP= Osmotic Pressure; S= Solute (NaCl and Mannitol)

Field experiment

Meteorological variables

The experimental site is characterized by a Mediterranean climate in agreement with Köppen and Geiger (1928), with an average annual temperature of 17.5 °C and average rainfall of 567 mm year⁻¹ (Servizio Metereologico dell'Aeronautica Militare). During the trial period the highest temperature (+40°C) was recorded on June 26th 2014 and the lowest one (+11°C) on June 7th 2014 (Fig. 4a) and a fairly uniform solar radiation was observed during the experimental period (26.6 MJ m⁻² d⁻¹) (Fig. 4b). In the first 16 DAS only 9.4 mm in 3 rain events (two of which lower than 1.0 mm) (Fig. 4a) were recorded between the first and fourth leaf phenological stage, according to BBCH scale (Hess et al., 1997). The evapotranspiration (ET₀) during the crop cycle, ranged from 3.4 (June 17th 2014) to 10.5 mm d⁻¹ (June 26th 2014), with an total of 351.0 mm of evapotranspiration (Fig. 4b).



Figure 4 – Environmental condition site: a) rainfall, maximum, minimum and average temperature; b) evapotranspiration (ET₀) and solar radiation.

Fresh Biomass Yield (FBY)

- FBY was significantly influenced by all the studied factors. In the average of the other studied factors, the main effects were: for genotype Unikum showed a significant higher FBY (+82.5%) than Kinelskoje (340.0 \pm 73.5 g FBY m⁻¹); AMF inoculation induced a positive effect on FBY (+19.4%) as compared to un-inoculated plots (437.7 \pm 112.3 g FBY m⁻¹); the lowest ETm restitution (25%) determined a significant decrease (-85.5%) on FBY as compared to 100% ETm (838.6 \pm 77.5 g FBY m⁻¹); water salinity irrigation significantly reduced (-28.6%) FBY compared to the absence of salt stress (560.1 \pm 116.1 g FBY m⁻¹).
- Under salt stress conditions, AMF inoculation did not exert significant effects on FBY in both millet genotypes (Fig. 5). In the Salt-N treatment, only in Unikum the AMF-Y treatment determined a significant (p<0.01) FBY increase (+50.7%) compared to the AMF-N one (552.5 ± 269 g m⁻²).



Figure 5 – **Effect of arbuscular mycorrhizal inoculation on fresh biomass yield in two millet genotypes under salt conditions.** Different letters show statistical differences of the treatments at p<0.01 (LSD – Fisher Test).

Considering water restitution, at 100% ETm, the Salt-Y treatment determined a significant (p<0.01) FBY decrease in both Unikum (-13.6%) and Kinelskoje (-45.9%) compared to the Salt-N treatments (1169.8 g m⁻² in Unikum and 761.9 g m⁻² in Kinelskoje). At 25% ETm in Unikum, the Salt-Y treatment determined a significant (p<0.01) reduction (-60.3%) of FBY compared to Salt-N one (215.4 \pm 100.6 g m⁻²), whereas, in Kinelskoje, no significant difference was observed between salt treatments with a mean value of 252 \pm 63.8 g FBY m⁻². The 25% ETm significantly (p<0.05) reduced FBY in both genotypes (-86.2% and -84.1% for Unikum and Kinelskoje, respectively) compared to the 100% ETm treatments (1090.3 \pm 49.7 g m⁻² in Unikum and 587 \pm 72.2 g m⁻² in Kinelskoje). The AMF inoculation at 100% ETm restitution did not significantly affect the FBY compared

to the un-inoculated treatment (grand mean $838.6 \pm 112.4 \text{ g m}^{-2}$). Conversely, at 25% ETm a significant (p<0.01) increase of FBY was observed in AMF inoculated plants (Fig. 6).



Figure 6 – **Effect of arbuscular mycorrhizal inoculation on fresh biomass yield under different water restitution levels.** Different letters show statistical differences of the treatments at p<0.01 (LSD – Fisher Test).

At harvest time, the relative moisture of FBY ranged from to 70.3% (25% ETm, AMF-Y, Salt-N) to 88.2% (100% ETm, AMF-N, Salt-Y) in Kinelskoje and from to 74.9% (25% ETm, AMF-N, Salt-N) to 89.3% (100% ETm, AMF-Y, Salt-N) in Unikum.

Shoot density

Shoot density was significantly (p<0.01) affected by genotype and water restitution. The main effects were: Unikum showed a higher shoot density (+35%) than Kinelskoje (131 \pm 7.3 plants m⁻²); the 25% ETm restitution determined a significant (p<0.001) decrease (-25.5%) in shoot density compared to 100% ETm restitution (176 \pm 13 plants m⁻²). The significant interaction (p<0.01) between water restitution and AMF inoculation, showed a positive effect explained by AMF inoculum at the lower ETm restitution and a negative one at full ETm restitution (Fig. 7).



Figure 7 – Effect of arbuscular mycorrhizal inoculation on shoot density under different water restitution levels. Different letters show statistical differences of the treatments at p<0.01 (LSD – Fisher Test).

Culm height and fresh culm weight

- The treatment effects on culm height is reported in table 3. Unikum showed a significantly (p<0.05) greater culm height (+23.6%) than Kinelskoje (20.7 \pm 1.5 cm plant⁻¹). Only in Kinelskoje, AMF inoculation determined a significant culm height increase (+49.7%) compared to the AMF-N treatment. Regardless water restitution levels, in the Salt-N treatments, AMF inoculation significantly (p<0.05) increased culm height (+54.6%), whereas in the Salt-Y ones no differences were detected between AMF-Y and AMF-N (grand mean = 20.5 ± 1.60 cm plant⁻¹). Salt stress determined a significant (p<0.05) culm height decrease in Kinelskoje (-32.6%) compared to the Salt-N treatment (24.7 ± 2.44 cm plant-1), whereas no difference was observed in Unikum (25.6 \pm 2.12 cm plant⁻¹ on average). At 100% ETm water restitution, AMF inoculation determined a significantly (p<0.05) greater culm height than the un-inoculated treatments, whereas, at 25% ETm water restitution AMF inoculation did not determine a significant effect on culm height $(14.6 \pm 1.07 \text{ cm plant}^{-1} \text{ on average})$. Considering the interaction between water restitution and genotype, Unikum showed a significantly (p<0.05) higher culm height (+28.3%) than Kinelskoje $(27.8 \pm 1.98 \text{ cm plant}^{-1})$ at 100% ETm water restitution, whereas, no difference was found at 25% ETm water restitution (14.6 ± 1.11 cm plant⁻¹ on average).
- The treatments effect on culm fresh weight is reported in table 4. The two genotypes did not show significant differences in culm fresh weight (grand mean = 1.17 ± 0.09 g plant⁻¹). Salinity stress, significantly affected culm fresh weight which was lowered by -39.5% (25% ETm) and -42.5% (100% ETm) as compared to the Salt-N treatments. At full ETm restitution and in absence of salt treatment, AMF inoculation determined a significant (p<0.05) culm fresh weight increase (+86.8%) compared to the un-inoculated control, whereas, under salinity stress, no AMF effect was detected. No significant effect of AMF inoculation was observed at 25% ETm restitution whatever the irrigation water salinity.

Panicle length and fresh panicle weight

The effect of the treatments on panicle length is reported in table 3. In absence of salt at both water restitution levels, significant positive effects (p<0.05) of AMF inoculation were observed on panicle length. In presence of the salt stress, AMF inoculation did not determine significant differences on panicle length, with grand mean values of 0.52 ± 0.35 cm plant⁻¹ (25% ETm) and 13.7 ± 0.98 cm plant⁻¹ (100% ETm). However, the panicle growth was completely inhibited by the lowest water restitution (25% ETm) in AMF-N treatment. At 100% ETm water restitution, Unikum showed a panicle length

significantly (p<0.05) higher (+43.0%) than Kinelskoje (11.9 \pm 0.67 cm plant⁻¹), whereas no difference in this parameter was observed at 25% ETm (2.88 \pm 0.92 cm plant⁻¹ on average).

The effect of the treatments on panicle fresh weight is reported in table 4. At 100% ETm, AMF inoculation did not exert a positive effect on panicle fresh weight, since no difference was observed between the two AMF treatments with a grand mean value of 0.73 ± 0.08 g plant⁻¹. Comparing genotypes, the 100% ETm water restitution determined a significantly (p<0.05) higher panicle fresh weight (+77.2%) in Unikum than the Kinelskoje (0.53 \pm 0.05 g plant⁻¹). No differences were found between the two millet genotypes at the lowest water restitution (25% ETm, with a grand mean = 0.15 \pm 0.05 g plant⁻¹). Regardless of the other factors, Unikum showed a significantly (p<0.05) higher panicle fresh weight (+53.6%) than Kinelskoje (0.41 \pm 0.05 g plant⁻¹). Salt-Y treatment negatively affected the panicle fresh weight with a significant (p<0.05) decrease (-29.9%) compared to the Salt-N one (0.51 \pm 0.06 g plant⁻¹). AMF inoculation determined a significantly (p<0.05) higher panicle fresh weight (+41.5%) than the un-inoculated treatment (0.36 \pm 0.06 g plant⁻¹).

Leaf number and leaves fresh weight

- The effect of the treatments on leaf number and leaf fresh weight are reported in table 3 and table 4, respectively. Leaf number was significantly (p<0.05) higher in Unikum (+9.66%) than in Kinelskoje (4.20 \pm 0.19 leaf culm⁻¹). In Kinelskosje, AMF inoculation determined a significant (p<0.05) increase in leaf number (+24.2%) and fresh weight (+76.2%) compared to the un-inoculated plants (3.75 \pm 0.31 leaf culm⁻¹ and 0.54 \pm 0.08 g culm⁻¹), whereas, AMF inoculation did not show any effect in Unikum (4.60 \pm 0.13 leaf culm⁻¹ and 0.92 \pm 0.09 g culm⁻¹). Regardless of the millet genotype, at 100% ETm restitution the AMF inoculation did not affect leaf number despite the salt treatments, whereas, at 25% ETm restitution a positive (p<0.05) effect of AMF inoculation was observed in absence of salt stress.
- The two genotypes, at 100% ETm water restitution, did not show significant differences in the number of leaves. On the contrary, at the lowest water restitution level (25% ETm), a significant (p<0.01) reduction in the number of leaves was observed in both genotypes. In particular, Kineslkosje showed a -19.8% decrease compared to the Unikum (4.25 ± 0.13 leaf culm⁻¹).
- Considering both stresses, salt irrigation and water restitution determined a significant (p<0.01) leaf fresh weight decrease at Salt-Y (-17.7%) and at 25%ETm (-51.1%) as

compared to Salt-N (0.91 \pm 0.04 g culm $^{-1})$ and 100% ETm water restitution (1.11 \pm 0.04 g culm $^{-1}).$

Trootmonts			Culm	ı height	Panic	e length	Leaf	number	
	Treatments			(cm)	(em)	(pl	ant ⁻¹)
Kinelskoje -		Salt-Y	25% ETm	13.3	± 2.37	2.06	± 1.35	3.75	± 0.45
	AME V		100% ETm	25.1	± 2.09	10.6	± 1.11	5.50	± 0.33
	ANIT-Y	Salt-N	25% ETm	18.1	± 3.59	11.2	± 0.64	4.88	± 0.23
			100% ETm	42.8	± 2.27	13.7	± 0.39	4.50	± 0.46
	AMF-N	Salt-Y	25% ETm	12.1	± 1.43	0.00	± 0.00	3.38	± 0.26
			100% ETm	16.2	± 1.02	10.9	± 0.33	5.00	± 0.19
		Salt-N	25% ETm	11.0	± 0.58	0.00	± 0.00	1.63	± 0.63
			100% ETm	27.1 ± 2.54		12.5 ± 2.39		5.00 ± 0.27	
		Salt-Y	25% ETm	15.5 ± 1.39		0.00 ± 0.00		4.38 ± 0.18	
	AME V		100% ETm	30.5 ± 1.79		16.0 ± 1.27		4.75 ± 0.25	
	AMF-Y	Salt-N	25% ETm	17.1 ± 2.79		9.81 ± 2.28		4.25 ± 0.25	
T			100% ETm	47.4 ± 1.68		21.2 ± 0.87		4.75 ± 0.25	
Umkum	AMF-N	Salt-Y	25% ETm	17.5 ± 2.44		0.00 ± 0.00		4.00 ± 0.38	
			100% ETm	33.6 ± 0.86		17.3 ± 0.60		5.13 ± 0.13	
		C L N	25% ETm	12.0 ± 0.92		0.00 ± 0.00		4.38 ± 0.18	
Salt-N			100% ETm	31.1 ± 0.95		13.7 ± 1.15		5.25 ± 0.16	
ANOVA									
				Sign.	LSD	Sign.	LSD	Sign.	LSD
Genotype (G)			**	2.4764	**	1.4099	*	0.3142
Mycorrhizal inoculation (M)			**	2.4764	**	1.4099	ns	-	
Water salinity (S)			**	2.4764	**	1.4099	*	0.3142	
Water resti	Water restitution (W)			**	2.4764	**	1.4099	**	0.4157
G x M				*	2.6469	ns	-	**	0.5879
G x S				**	3.5022	ns	-	ns	-
G x W				**	3.5022	**	1.9939	**	0.5879
M x S				**	3.5022	**	1.9939	ns	-
M x W				**	3.5022	**	1.9939	**	0.5879
S x W				**	3.5022	**	1.9939	ns	-
G x M x S				ns	-	ns	-	ns	-
G x M x W				ns	-	*	2.8198	ns	-
G x S x W				ns	-	ns	-	ns	-
M x S x W				ns	-	*	2.8198	ns	-
G x M x S x	W			ns	-	ns	-	ns	-

Table 3 – Bio-morphological proso millet characteristics.

*= p<0.05; **= p<0.01; ns = not significant

Treatments			Culm (g)		Panicle (g)		Leaves (g)		
Kinelskoje -		Salt-Y	25% ETm	0.37 ± 0.11		0.16 ± 0.11		0.63 ± 0.23	
	AMF-Y		100% ETm	1.36 ± 0.29		0.42 ± 0.11		1.10 ± 0.16	
		Salt-N	25% ETm	0.96 ± 0.17		0.47 ± 0.07		0.93 ± 0.08	
			100% ETm	2.82 ± 0.24		0.57 ± 0.06		1.13 ± 0.15	
	AMF-N	Salt-Y	25% ETm	0.22 ± 0.04		0.00 ± 0.00		0.22 ± 0.04	
			100% ETm	0.81 ± 0.09		0.54 ± 0.08		0.67 ± 0.12	
		Salt-N	25% ETm	0.34 ± 0.04		0.00 ± 0.00		$0.15 \pm$	0.08
			100% ETm	1.74 ± 0.27		0.59 ± 0.11		1.10 ± 0.18	
		Salt-Y	25% ETm	0.41 ± 0.18		0.00 ± 0.00		0.58 ± 0.17	
	ANTE V		100% ETm	1.69 ± 0.29		0.84 ± 0.15		1.04 ± 0.23	
	AMF-Y	Salt-N	25% ETm	0.54 ± 0.12		0.53 ± 0.11		0.79 ± 0.06	
			100% ETm	3.38 ± 0.44		1.12 ± 0.16		1.40 ± 0.12	
Unikum		Salt-Y	25% ETm	$0.40 \pm$	0.07	0.00 ± 0.00		0.61 ± 0.23	
	AME N		100% ETm	1.61 ± 0.20		0.94 ± 0.25		1.18 ± 0.15	
	AMT-N	Salt-N	25% ETm	0.47 ± 0.10		0.00 ± 0.00		0.47 ± 0.10	
			100% ETm	1.58 ± 0.22		0.85 ± 0.17		1.34 ± 0.11	
	ANC)VA							
				Sign.	LSD	Sign.	LSD	Sign.	LSD
Genotype (G)			ns	-	**	0.14837	*	0.140
Mycorrhizal inoculation (M)			**	0.24871	**	0.14837	*	0.140	
Water salinity (S)			**	0.24871	**	0.14837	**	0.185	
Water resti	tution (W)			**	0.24871	**	0.14837	**	0.185
G x M				ns	-	ns	-	*	0.198
G x S				ns	-	ns	-	ns	-
G x W				*	0.26583	**	0.20983	ns	-
M x S				**	0.35172	**	0.20983	ns	-
M x W				**	0.35172	*	0.15859	ns	-
S x W				**	0.35172	ns	-	ns	-
G x M x S				ns	-	ns	-	ns	-
G x M x W				ns	-	ns	-	ns	-
GxSxW				ns	-	ns	-	ns	-
M x S x W				ns	-	ns	-	ns	-
GxMxSx	W			ns	-	ns	-	ns	-

Table 4 – Proso millet fresh weight yield components of main culm yield.

*= p<0.05; **= p<0.01; ns = not significant

Leaf SPAD

In Kinelskoje, AMF inoculation determined a significant (p<0.01) increase (+13.7%) in leaf SPAD value compared to the AMF-N treatment (37.8 \pm 1.21), but not in Unikum (grand mean SPAD value = 40.9 \pm 0.78) (Fig. 8a). At 25% ETm restitution, Kinelskoje showed a significant (p<0.01) decrease (-18.1%) in leaf SPAD value as compared to full water restitution (44.4 \pm 0.45), whereas, no statistical difference was found in Unikum with an average leaf SPAD value of 40.9 \pm 0.78 (Fig. 8b). No effect was found due to irrigation water salinity levels, regardless of other studied factors.



Figure 8 – Effect of the studied factors on the SPAD value. a) genotype x AMF inoculation; b) genotype x ETm restitution. Different letters show statistical differences of the treatments at p<0.01 (LSD – Fisher Test).

Leaf area surface

Salt treatment did not determine any different leaf area in AMF-N plots. AMF inoculation determined a significant (p<0.05) increase (+80.5%) in leaf area in Salt-N compared to Salt-Y (26.6 \pm 5.3 cm² plant⁻¹) (Fig. 9a). Regardless of the genotypes, without AMF inoculation, at 25% ETm water restitution, we observed a significant (p<0.05) decrease in leaf area (-68.1%) compared to 100% ETm restitution (47.2 \pm 3.67 cm² plant⁻¹). At both water restitution levels, no significant difference was found in presence of AMF inoculation (Fig. 9b).



Figure 9 – Effect of the studied factors on leaf area. a) Salt x AMF inoculation; b) ETm restitution x AMF inoculation. Different letters show statistical differences of the treatments at p<0.05 (LSD – Fisher Test).

Discussion

Laboratory experiments

- In Mediterranean areas, germination process is affected by abiotic stresses such as high salinity and drought which determine a lower seed water absorption (Dodd & Donovan 1999) and affect the mobilization of stored reserves or directly the synthesis of proteins in germinating embryos (Almansouri et al. 2001), thus jeopardizing growth processes. Almansouri et al. (2001), in a study on durum wheat, have shown a reduction or inhibition in germination in response to the decrease in water potential. However, these authors, at an osmotic pressure similar to the one tested in our study (-0.580 MPa), did not find any effect on final germination percentage in iso-osmotic solution of NaCl and mannitol. In our case, seed water uptake was negatively affected by the external water potential decrease, due to the reduced diffusivity of water to the seed coats, but the seeds moisture was sufficient to ensure a good germination in all genotypes.
- Generally, seed germination decreased with increasing salt concentrations and salt specific effects (Ryan et al. 1975; Cavallaro et al. 2016). Sabir et al. (2008) on 18 millet accessions collected from different Pakistan areas, demonstrated an inter-cultivar variation for NaCl tolerance (0.0, -0.300, -0.600 and -0.900 MPa). These authors reported a general significant salt-induced depression on seed germination in all the accessions, except for the four ones which showed the highest percentage at -0.900 MPa. In our experiment, although salt stress range was more limited (up to -0.750 MPa) as compared to Sabir et al. (2008) study, the three genotypes were not affected by salt levels, suggesting their salt tolerance.
- The lack of differences in seed water uptake, germination and seedling vigor index obtained in our study comparing osmotica (NaCl or mannitol) can be explained by a similar penetrating behavior of NaCl and mannitol in the plant tissue that contributes to adjust the internal osmotic potential decrease in the germinating seeds, thus allowing to maintain a sufficient water uptake under a high external water potential.

Field experiments

The FBY showed genotype and salinity specific responses indicating Unikum, between the studied genotypes, as the best performing under salinity and water stress conditions. In presence of salt treatment, regardless the genotype, the effect of AMF inoculation was inhibited, resulting that mycorrhizal inoculum did not promote FBY. This finding is not in line with Daei et al. (2009) that reported, in durum wheat cultivated under salinity

condition (7.41 dS m⁻¹), a significant increase on growth and grain yield of mycorrhized plants, due to enhanced nutrient uptake. Juniper and Abbott (2006) showed that the germination of spores of all the AMF fungi tested was delayed and the hyphal growth from propagules was reduced in presence of NaCl. This latter result could explained the absence of a significant AMF effect on FBY at the end of crop cycle. AMF inoculation determined a better FBY response under water-stress conditions whereas no effects were seen in well-watered plots. This finding is in agreement with the results obtained by Porcel et al. (2004) and Saia et al. (2014) in different pedo-climatic conditions on sorghum and berseem clover. They reported a positive AMF effect under water shortage and not AMF effect at full ETm restitution. At 100% ETm restitution, AMF inoculation significantly decreased shoot density and increased culm height. On the contrary, under water stress conditions (25% ETm) AMF inoculation increased shoot density but did not influence culm height. These results suggest that: i) under water-stress conditions (25% ETm), in presence of AMF inoculation the increase in FBY can be attributed to higher shoot density; ii) under well-watered condition (100% ETm), the absence of significant difference on FBY between AMF treatments, can be attributed by the increase of mycorrhized plant weight nevertheless the lower shoot density. Considering the panicle emission and development, a positive effect was exerted by AMF inoculation in both ETm restitution levels, especially in absence of salt stress, suggesting that the mycorrhizal fungi promoted the transition from vegetative to reproductive phenological phase (Oladele and Awodun 2014). All experimental factors exerted significant influences on leaf characteristics. AMF inoculation promoted a positive effect on leaf size and fresh and dry (data not show) weight in agreement with Augé et al. (2015) and Fagbola et al. (2001) which reported respectively an improve leaf water status and leaf dry weight in mycorrhized plants. Considering SPAD value, AMF inoculation increased this parameter, confirming the mycorrhizal positive effect on plant physiological activity (Zhou et al., 2015).

Saline water irrigation negatively influenced the leaf fresh weight without significant effects on leaf number, dry weight and surface, supporting that salt stress mainly reduces leaf water content (Fidalgo et al. 2004). Moreover, salinity stress did not exert any significant effects on SPAD values in both genotypes, despite of this stress determines a chlorophyll damaging, with a reduction on photosynthetic activity and leaf senescence acceleration (Shi and Guo, 2006; Beltrano et al. 2013). Our results show that proso millet withstand at the salinity level adopted in this study, without any reduction in chlorophyll content. This could be due to the relatively brief exposition to stress that millet underwent during its short growing season. Under water stress conditions (25% ETm) exerted highly negative effects on leaf characteristics; in this conditions, AMF inoculation could partially overcome such negative effects, confirming their beneficial role on plant water status under drought stress (Beltrano and Ronco 2008; Grümberg et al. 2015).

- AMF inoculation determined a better FBY response under water-stress conditions whereas no effects were seen in well-watered plots. This finding is in agreement with previous results obtained by Porcel et al. (2004) and Saia et al. (2014) in different pedo-climatic conditions on sorghum and berseem clover, reporting a positive AMF effect under water shortage and not AMF effect at full ETm restitution.
- At 100% ETm restitution, AMF inoculation significantly decreased shoot density and increased culm height. On the contrarly, under water stress conditions (25% ETm) AMF inoculation increased shoot density but did not influence culm height. These results suggest that: i) under water-stress conditions (25% ETm), in presence of AMF inoculation the increase in FBY can be attributed to higher shoot density; ii) under well-watered condition (100% ETm), the absence of significant difference on FBY between AMF treatments, can be attributed by the increase of mycorrhized plant weight nevertheless the lower shoot density.
- Considering the panicle emission and development, a positive effect was exerted by AMF inoculation in both ETm restitution levels, especially in absence of salt stress, suggesting that the mycorrhizal fungi promoted the transition from vegetative to reproductive phenological phase (Oladele and Awodun 2014).
- All experimental factors exerted significant influences on leaf characteristics. AMF inoculation promoted a positive effect on leaf size and fresh and dry (data not show) weight in agreement with Augé et al. (2015) and Fagbola et al. (2001) reported respectively an improve leaf water status and leaf dry weight in mycorrhized plants. Considering the SPAD value, AMF inoculation determined a significant increase on this parameter as results examining the chlorophyll content, hence confirming the mycorrhizal positive effect on plant physiological activity (Li et al., 2013; Zhou et al., 2015).
- Saline water irrigation negatively influenced the leaf fresh weight without significant effects on leaf number, dry weight and surface, supporting that salt stress mainly reduces leaf water content (Fidalgo et al. 2004). Moreover, salinity stress did not exert any significant effects on SPAD values in both genotypes, despite of this stress determines a chlorophyll damage, with a reduction on photosynthetic activity and leaf senescence acceleration (Shi

and Guo, 2006; Beltrano et al. 2013). Our results show that proso millet withstand at the salinity level that we adopted, without reduction in chlorophyll content. This could be due to the relatively brief exposition to stress that millet underwent during its short growing season. Water stress conditions (25% ETm) exerted highly negative effects on leaf characteristics; in this conditions, AMF inoculation could partially overcome such negative effects, confirming their beneficial role on plant water status under drought stress (Beltrano and Ronco 2008; Grümberg et al. 2015).

Conclusions

Osmotic stress determined a genotype-specific response with the strongest reduction in seed water uptake, germination and seedling vigor index observed at -0.750 MPa. Unikum germination (95.3%) was not affected by osmotic pressures with a higher SVI as compared to Kinelskoje and VIR 9181. Unikum was the best genotype in the laboratory trial and confirmed this finding also in open field conditions producing more than double FBY than Kinelskoje. Although the AMF inoculation effect (+377.3%) on FBY under water stress. The present study gives novel information about proso millet forage production, highlighting the AMF potential role as bio-fertilizers under low input sustainable agriculture in semi-arid Mediterranean marginal land, but further large-scale researches are needed to confirm our findings.

Chapter VI General Conclusions During the Ph. D. study, the research activities were focused to evaluate the effects of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) on annual and perennial herbaceous crops, mainly cultivated for biomass production. These crops were managed through the use of olive mill wastewater (OMW) and digestate liquid or solid fraction (DLF or DSF) as fertilizer and soil amendment, or irrigated with poor quality water. The trials were carried out in two Italian regions (Veneto and Sicily), with different pedo-climatic conditions.

Experimental trials in Veneto region:

- The research has focused on the agronomic role of AMF in relation to: i) energy crops biomass production using DLF as fertilizer; ii) triticale biomass production under different fertilization rates (mineral fertilizer, DLF, DSF and not fertilizer), using seedcoated fungicides; considering also the environmental impacts in terms of soil CO₂ emissions and nitrogen leaching. The most relevant findings are the following:
 - on energy crops, AMF inoculation was not effective to promote the biomass production, due to the high N fertilization rate provided with DLF application and presence of indigenous mycorrhizal community in experimental plot soils; moreover, AMF root colonization in energy crops was negatively affected by soil disturbance, induced by tillage, chemical fertilization, and dry climate condition;
 - in the triticale trial, the AMF root colonization was mostly inhibited by the presence of seed-coated fungicide. The higher AMF colonization percentage, measured in presence of organic matter (DSF), could be due to: i) the reduction of fungicide negative effects as a result of the hydrophobic absorption of fungicide molecules by organic matter; ii) the presence in DSF of phosphorus in a low available form (struvite);
 - a beneficial environmental contribution was provided by AMF inoculation only for NH₄-N leaching reduction; however, AMF inoculation increases NO₃-N soil loss;
 - the AMF inoculation increased soil CO₂ emission only in *M. x giganteus* (+42.1%) and
 H. tuberous (+27.6%) compared to the un-inoculated plots;
 - A. donax was the most productive energy crop in terms of biomass production among the studied crops, followed by M. x giganteus, S. bicolor, Z. mais, H. tuberous and L. perenne, with a lower nitrogen use efficiency (NUE) and higher cumulative soil CO₂-C emissions (+30.4%) as compared to the other species;
 - *M. x giganteus* and *S. bicolor* showed the best N and P use efficiency, with a moderate NO₃-N leaching and lower cumulative soil CO₂-C emissions than to the other crops;

- comparing the two annual energy crops (sorghum and maize), sorghum showed the highest biomass production probably due to its drought tolerance and better NUE;
- in *x Triticosecale* sp. Wittmack trial, the mineral fertilization determined the highest dry biomass production (+27% respect to DLF and DSF treatments), even if the environmental (e.g. higher $CO_{2(eq)}$ emission) and economical (e.g. fertilizer costs) aspects should be considered.

Experimental trials in the Sicily region:

- The AMF inoculation effects were studied in: i) a three years legume-based succession producing forage (*durum wheat-M. scutellata* intercropping), followed by a second year broad bean and chickpea the last year for grain production, using different OMW volumes as the main fertilization source; ii) a yearly evaluation of millet genotypes for forage production using irrigation water at two salinity levels and two water restitution regimes. The most relevant findings are the following:
 - AMF inoculation increased the durum wheat biomass production (+30.8%), but not affected the *M. scutellata* biomass yield;
 - AMF root colonization was not influenced by OMW volumes, with a higher N (+22.8%) and P (+32.5%) uptake observed in inoculated durum wheat than in uninoculated plots; while, no statistical effect of AMF was found on N and P uptake in *M. scutellata*;
 - AMF inoculation did not affect the broad bean grain yield due to the root full colonization by indigenous mycorrhizal community which was also present in uninoculated soil;
 - a higher P uptake in broad bean grain was measured with AMF inoculation treatment, probably due to the better uptake efficiency of *R. intraradices* (present in our inoculum) as compared to indigenous mycorrhizal;
 - root nodule number and weight of the nitrogen fixing bacteria of broad bean were promoted by AMF inoculation;
 - OMW spreading promoted the fabacee productions with a higher biomass in *M. scutellata* and grain yield in broad bean, whereas it did not show any effect on durum wheat biomass production;
 - OMW spreading reduced the weed biomass and broad bean nodulation. This effect can be ascribed to OMW allelopathic effects on weed seed germination and toxic effect on indigenous rhizobia community.

- salt stress conditions negatively influenced AMF inoculum effects on millet forage production, without any difference between the two millet genotypes (Unikum and Kinelskoje); whereas, in absence of the salinity treatment, AMF inoculation increased the forage production only in Unikum;
- under water stress condition, AMF inoculation promoted millet forage production, whereas no significant difference was observed in well-watered condition;
- Unikum proved to be the best millet genotype in open field conditions with more than double forage production compared to Kinelskoje.
- Thus, it can be concluded that in Veneto trials conditions, AMF inoculation exerted poor or nil effects. In view of sustainable agriculture in our agroecosystems, a promising agronomic practice can be considered the use of digestate liquid or solid fraction as organic fertilization, thus reducing environmental and economic costs and maintaining a good crop biomass production, but under our experimental conditions adopted, AMF fertilizers are ineffective.
- In Sicilian experimental conditions, even if OMW spreading and AMF inoculum could be encouraging agronomic practices to valorize the Mediterranean marginal low-input agroecosystem for animal feed production, the inoculation should be well considered in conditions of saline water irrigation since salinity stress negatively affect AMF inoculum.
- In conclusion, further researches should consider that AMF inoculation is more efficient in low nutrient soil condition and its effect can be inhibited by high nutrient input and fungicides use. Moreover, the role of indigenous mycorrhizal community on crop production and its interaction with non-native AMF introduced in agro-ecosystem by bio-fertilizers, should be considered especially in organic agriculture.

Acknowledgment

The research in Veneto region was supported by:

- Progetto ValDige, "Valorizzazione del digestato per la riduzione delle perdite di CO₂", DGR n°1604 del 31/07/2012 finanziato dal PSR della Regione Veneto (2007-2014) misura 124, Domanda n. 2307827.
- I am grateful to my supervisors, Prof. Maurizio Borin and Prof. Antonio C. Barbera, for the opportunity to undertake my Ph. D. and for what I have learnt in these 3 years.
- I really want to thank Dr. Carmelo Maucieri for his friendship and very constructive comments, Dr. Andrea Berruti for his support on the root system method and analysis; Dr. Riccardo Polese, Dr. Alberto Barco, Dr. Alessandro Cascone, Dr. Franscesco Scapellato, Roberto Pasqualotto, Giovanni Favaron, Michele Ongarato and Nicola Pengo for their help in the fields.
- I am also truly thankful to Prof. Antonio Ioppolo and Dr. Luciano Matarazzo for their friendship and positive advices. I also thank all my research group colleagues.
- I would especially like to express my gratitude to my family who has supported and helped me during this long and constructive experience.

References

- Abdel-Fattah, G. M., Asrar, A. W. A. (2012). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal application to improve growth and tolerance of wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) plants grown in saline soil. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum*, 34(1), 267-277.
- Abdullahi, Y. A., Akunna, J. C., White, N. A., Hallett, P. D., Wheatley, R. (2008). Investigating the effects of anaerobic and aerobic post-treatment on quality and stability of organic fraction of municipal solid waste as soil amendment. *Bioresource technology*, *99*(18), 8631-8636.
- Abubaker, J., Risberg, K., Pell, M. (2012). Biogas residues as fertilisers–Effects on wheat growth and soil microbial activities. *Applied Energy*, *99*, 126-134.
- Achak, M., Hafidi, A., Ouazzani, N., Sayadi, S., Mandi, L. (2009). Low cost biosorbent "banana peel" for the removal of phenolic compounds from olive mill wastewater: Kinetic and equilibrium studies. *Journal of hazardous materials*, *166*(1), 117-125.
- Adiku, S. G. K., Renger, M., Wessolek, G., Facklam, M., Hecht-Bucholtz, C. (2001). Simulation of the dry matter production and seed yield of common beans under varying soil water and salinity conditions. Agricultural Water Management, 47(1), 55-68.
- Aggarwal, A., Kadian, N., Neetu, K., Tanwar, A., Gupta, K. K. (2012). Arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis and alleviation of salinity stress. *J. Appl. Nat. Sci*, *4*(1), 144-155.
- Akhtar, M.S., Siddiqui, Z.A. (2008). Biocontrol of a root-rot disease complex of chickpea by *Glomus intraradices*, *Rhizobium* sp. and *Pseudomonas straita*. *Crop protection* 27(3): 410-417.
- Al Seadi, T., & Lukehurst, C. (2012). Quality management of digestate from biogas plants used as fertiliser. *IEA Bioenergy*, 4-36.
- Albizua, A., Williams, A., Hedlund, K., Pascual, U. (2015). Crop rotations including ley and manure can promote ecosystem services in conventional farming systems. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 95, 54-61.
- Alburquerque, J. A., C. de la Fuente, M. Campoy, L. Carrasco, I. Nájera, C. Baixauli, F. Caravaca, A. Roldán, J. Cegarra, M.P. Bernal, (2012). Agricultural use of digestate for horticultural crop production and improvement of soil properties. European Journal of Agronomy [43], 119-128.
- Alburquerque, J. A., de la Fuente, C., Ferrer-Costa, A., Carrasco, L., Cegarra, J., Abad, M., Bernal, M. P. (2012a). Assessment of the fertiliser potential of digestates from farm and agroindustrial residues. *Biomass and bioenergy*, 40, 181-189.

- Alburquerque, J. A., de la Fuente, C., Bernal, M. P. (2012b). Chemical properties of anaerobic digestates affecting C and N dynamics in amended soils. *Agriculture, ecosystems & environment, 160,* 15-22.
- Ali, S. A., Idris, A. Y. (2015). Germination and seedling growth of pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum* L.) cultivars under salinity conditions. Int J Plant Res. 1(1):1-5.
- Alianello, F., (2001). Effetti della somministrazione di acque reflue di frantoi oleari sulle caratteristiche chimiche e biochimiche del suolo. Progetto editoriale PANDA "I sottoprodotti dei frantoi oleari" 3, 29e40. Ed. L'Informatore Agrario.
- Aliasgharzad, N., Neyshabouri, M. R., Salimi, G. (2006). Effects of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and Bradyrhizobium japonicum on drought stress of soybean. *Biologia*, *61*(19), S324-S328.
- Al-Karaki, G. N. (2000). Growth of mycorrhizal tomato and mineral acquisition under salt stress. *Mycorrhiza*, *10*(2), 51-54.
- Al-Karaki, G. N. (2006). Nursery inoculation of tomato with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and subsequent performance under irrigation with saline water. *Scientia Horticulturae*, *109*(1), 1-7.
- Al-Karaki, G. N., Hammad, R., Rusan, M. (2001). Response of two tomato cultivars differing in salt tolerance to inoculation with mycorrhizal fungi under salt stress. *Mycorrhiza*, 11(1), 43-47.
- Al-Karaki, G.N. (1998). Benefit, cost and water-use efficiency of arbuscular mycorrhizal durum wheat grown under drought stress. *Mycorrhiza* 8(1), 41-45.
- Allen, M. F. (2007). Mycorrhizal fungi: highways for water and nutrients in arid soils. *Vadose Zone Journal*, 6(2), 291-297.
- Allen, R. G., Pereira, L. S., Raes, D., Smith, M. (1998). Chapter 6-ETc-Single crop coefficient (KC). IN: Crop evapotranspiration—guidelines for computing crop water requirements—FAO irrigation and drainage paper 56. FAO-Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Rome, Italy. ISBN 92-5-104219-5. X0490E/X0490E00. htm.
- Almansouri, M., Kinet, J. M., Lutts, S. (2001). Effect of salt and osmotic stresses on germination in durum wheat (*Triticum durum* Desf.). Plant Soil 231(2):243-254.
- Amaral, C., Lucas, M.S., Coutinho, J., Crespí, A.L., do Rosário Anjos, M., Pais, C. (2008).
 Microbiological and physicochemical characterization of olive mill wastewaters from a continuous olive mill in Northeastern Portugal. Bioresource Technol. 99(15), 7215-7223.

- Amaya-Carpio, L., Davies, F. T., Fox, T., He, C. (2009). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and organic fertilizer influence photosynthesis, root phosphatase activity, nutrition, and growth of Ipomoea carnea ssp. fistulosa. Photosynthetica, 47(1), 1-10.
- Ammar, E., Nasri, M., Medhioub, K. (2005). Isolation of Enterobacteria able to degrade simple aromatic compounds from the wastewater from olive oil extraction. *World Journal* of Microbiology and Biotechnology, 21(3), 253-259.
- Angelini, L. G., Ceccarini, L., Bonari, E. (2005). Biomass yield and energy balance of giant reed (*Arundo donax* L.) cropped in central Italy as related to different management practices. European journal of agronomy, 22(4), 375-389.
- Angelini, L. G., Ceccarini, L., Nassi o Di Nasso, N. N., Bonari, E. (2009). Comparison of *Arundo donax* L. and *Miscanthus x giganteus* in a long-term field experiment in Central Italy: analysis of productive characteristics and energy balance. Biomass and bioenergy, 33(4), 635-643.
- Arab, A., Bradaran, R., Vahidipour, T. H. (2013). Effect of irrigation and mycorrhizal biofertilizers on yield and agronomic traits of millet (*Panicum miliaceum* L.). Intl J Agri Crop Sci. 6(2):103-109.
- Arai, Y., Sparks, D. L. (2007). Phosphate reaction dynamics in soils and soil components: A multiscale approach. Advances in agronomy, 94, 135-179.
- Aroca, R., Porcel, R., Ruiz-Lozano, J. M. (2007). How does arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis regulate root hydraulic properties and plasma membrane aquaporins in Phaseolus vulgaris under drought, cold or salinity stresses?. New Phytologist, 173(4), 8
- Aroca, R., Ruiz-Lozano, J. M., Zamarreño, Á. M., Paz, J. A., García-Mina, J. M., Pozo, M. J., López-Ráez, J. A. (2013). Arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis influences strigolactone production under salinity and alleviates salt stress in lettuce plants. Journal of plant physiology, 170(1), 47-55.
- Aroca, R., Vernieri, P., Ruiz-Lozano, J. M. (2008). Mycorrhizal and non-mycorrhizal Lactuca sativa plants exhibit contrasting responses to exogenous ABA during drought stress and recovery. *Journal of experimental botany*, 59(8), 2029-2041.
- Arthurson, V. (2009). Closing the global energy and nutrient cycles through application of biogas residue to agricultural land–potential benefits and drawback. *Energies*, 2(2), 226-242.
- Asghari, H. R., Marschner, P., Smith, S. E., Smith, F. A. (2005). Growth response of Atriplex nummularia to inoculation with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi at different salinity levels. *Plant and Soil*, 273(1-2), 245-256.

- Asghari, H. R. (2012). Vesicular-arbuscular (VA) mycorrhizae improve salinity tolerance in pre-inoculation subterranean clover (*Trifolium subterraneum*) seedlings. *International Journal of Plant Production*, 2(3), 243-256.
- Augé, R. M. (2001). Water relations, drought and vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. *Mycorrhiza*, 11(1), 3-42.
- Augé, R. M. (2004). Arbuscular mycorrhizae and soil/plant water relations. Canadian Journal of Soil Science, 84(4), 373-381.
- Augé, R. M., Toler, H. D., Saxton, A. M. (2014). Arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis and osmotic adjustment in response to NaCl stress: a meta-analysis. Frontiers in plant science, 5.
- Augé, R. M., Toler, H. D., Saxton, A. M. (2015). Arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis alters stomatal conductance of host plants more under drought than under amply watered conditions: a meta-analysis. *Mycorrhiza*, 25(1), 13-24.
- Bachmann, S., Gropp, M., Eichler-Löbermann, B. (2014). Phosphorus availability and soil microbial activity in a 3 year field experiment amended with digested dairy slurry. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 70, 429-439.
- Bago, B., Pfeffer, P. E., Shachar-Hill, Y. (2000). Carbon metabolism and transport in arbuscular mycorrhizas. *Plant physiology*, *124*(3), 949-958.
- Baldini, M., Danuso, F., Turi, M., Vannozzi, G. P. (2004). Evaluation of new clones of Jerusalem artichoke (*Helianthus tuberosus* L.) for inulin and sugar yield from stalks and tubers. Industrial Crops and Products, 19(1), 25-40.
- Balestrini, R., Lumini, E., Borriello, R., Bianciotto, V. (2015). Plant-soil biota interactions. Soil Microbiology, Ecology and Biochemistry, 311-338.
- Ball, B. C. (2013). Soil structure and greenhouse gas emissions: a synthesis of 20 years of experimentation. European Journal of Soil Science, 64(3), 357-373.
- Balota, E. L., Machineski, O., Honda, C., Yada, I. F., Barbosa, G., Nakatani, A. S., Coyne, M. S. (2016). Response of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi in Different Soil Tillage Systems to Long-Term Swine Slurry Application. *Land degradation & development*, 27(4), 1141-1150.
- Balthrop, J., Brand, B., Cowie, R.A., Danier, J., De Boever, J., de Jonge, L., Jackson, F., Makkar, H.P.S., Piotrowski, C. (2011). Quality assurance for animal feed analysis laboratories. FAO.
- Bano, A., Fatima, M. (2009). Salt tolerance in Zea mays (L). following inoculation with Rhizobium and Pseudomonas. *Biology and fertility of soils*, 45(4), 405-413.

- Baraza, E., Tauler, M., Romero-Munar, A., Cifre, J., Gulias, J. (2016). Mycorrhiza-Based
 Biofertilizer Application to Improve the Quality of *Arundo donax* L., Plantlets.
 In Perennial Biomass Crops for a Resource-Constrained World (pp. 225-232). Springer
 International Publishing.
- Barbanti, L., Di Girolamo, G., Grigatti, M., Bertin, L., Ciavatta, C. (2014). Anaerobic digestion of annual and multi-annual biomass crops. Industrial Crops and Products, 56, 137-144.
- Barbera, A. C., Maucieri, C., Cavallaro, V., Ioppolo, A., Spagna, G. (2013). Effects of spreading olive mill wastewater on soil properties and crops, a review. *Agricultural Water Management*, 119, 43-53.
- Barbera, A.C., Maucieri, C., Ioppolo, A., Milani, M., Cavallaro, V. (2014). Effects of olive mill wastewater physico-chemical treatments on polyphenol abatement and Italian ryegrass (*Lolium multiflorum* Lam.) germinability. Water Res. 52, 275-281.
- Bárzana, G., Aroca, R., Ruiz-Lozano, J. M. (2015). Localized and non-localized effects of arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis on accumulation of osmolytes and aquaporins and on antioxidant systems in maize plants subjected to total or partial root drying. Plant, cell & environment, 38(8), 1613-1627.
- Bassu, S., Asseng, S., Giunta, F. and Motzo, R. (2013). Optimizing triticale sowing densities across the Mediterranean Basin. *Field Crops Research* 144: 167-178.
- Beale, C. V., Long, S. P. (1997). Seasonal dynamics of nutrient accumulation and partitioning in the perennial C4-grasses *Miscanthus* × giganteus and Spartina cynosuroides. Biomass and Bioenergy, 12(6), 419-428.
- Beauregard, M. S., Hamel, C., Arnaud, M. S. (2008). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi communities in major intensive North American grain productions. In Mycorrhizae: Sustainable Agriculture and Forestry (pp. 135-157). Springer Netherlands.
- Bedoussac, L., Justes, E. (2010). The efficiency of a durum wheat-winter pea intercrop to improve yield and wheat grain protein concentration depends on N availability during early growth. Plant Soil, 330(1-2), 19-35.
- Belaid, N., Neel, C., Kallel, M., Ayoub, T., Ayadi, A., Baudu, M. (2010). Effects of treated wastewater irrigation on soil salinity and sodicity in Sfax (Tunisia): a case study. *Revue* des sciences de l'eau/Journal of Water Science, 23(2), 133-146.
- Belaqziz, M., El-Abbassi, A., Lakhal, E. K., Agrafioti, E., Galanakis, C. M. (2016). Agronomic application of olive mill wastewater: Effects on maize production and soil properties. *Journal of environmental management*, 171, 158-165.

- Beltrano, J., Ronco, M.G. (2008). Improved tolerance of wheat plants (*Triticum aestivum* L.) to drought stress and rewatering by the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus Glomus claroideum: Effect on growth and cell membrane stability. Braz J Plant Physiol. 20(1):29-37.
- Beltrano, J., Ruscitti, M., Arango, M.C., Ronco, M. (2013). Effects of arbuscular mycorrhiza inoculation on plant growth, biological and physiological parameters and mineral nutrition in pepper grown under different salinity and p levels. J Soil Sci Plant Nutr. 13(1):123-141.
- Bender, S. F., Plantenga, F., Neftel, A., Jocher, M., Oberholzer, H. R., Köhl, L., Giles, M., Daniell, T. J., Van Der Heijden, M. G. (2014). Symbiotic relationships between soil fungi and plants reduce N₂O emissions from soil. *The ISME journal*, 8(6), 1336-1345.
- Bender, S. F., Conen, F., Van der Heijden, M. G. (2015). Mycorrhizal effects on nutrient cycling, nutrient leaching and N₂O production in experimental grassland. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 80, 283-292.
- Bender, S. F., Heijden, M. G. (2015). Soil biota enhance agricultural sustainability by improving crop yield, nutrient uptake and reducing nitrogen leaching losses. *Journal of applied ecology*, 52(1), 228-239.
- Bender, S. F., Wagg, C., van der Heijden, M. G. (2016). An underground revolution: biodiversity and soil ecological engineering for agricultural sustainability. *Trends in* ecology & evolution, 31(6), 440-452.
- Bending, G.D., Turner, M.K., Rayns, F., Marx, M.C. and Wood, M. (2004). Microbial and biochemical soil quality indicators and their potential for differentiating areas under contrasting agricultural management regimes. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 36(11): 1785-1792.
- Berruti, A., Borriello, R., Orgiazzi, A., Barbera, A. C., Lumini, E., Bianciotto, V. (2014). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and their value for ecosystem management. *Biodiversity: The Dynamic Balance of the Planet. InTech, Rijeta, Croacia*, 159-191.
- Berruti, A., Lumini, E., Balestrini, R. and Bianciotto, V. (2015). Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi as Natural Biofertilizers: Let's Benefit from Past Successes. *Frontiers in microbiology* 6: 1559.
- Berruti, A., Lumini, E., Balestrini, R., Bianciotto, V. (2016). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi as natural biofertilizers: let's benefit from past successes. *Frontiers in microbiology*, *6*, 1559.

- Bhardwaj, D., Ansari, M. W., Sahoo, R. K., & Tuteja, N. (2014). Biofertilizers function as key player in sustainable agriculture by improving soil fertility, plant tolerance and crop productivity. Microbial cell factories, 13(1), 66.
- Blaylock, A. D. (1994). Soil salinity, salt tolerance, and growth potential of horticultural and landscape plants. University of Wyoming, Cooperative Extension Service, Department of Plant, Soil, and Insect Sciences, College of Agriculture.
- Blum, A. (1996). Crop responses to drought and the interpretation of adaptation. Plant Growth Regulation, 20(2), 135-148.
- Bol, R., Moering, J., Kuzyakov, Y., Amelung, W. (2003). Quantification of priming and CO2 respiration sources following slurry-C incorporation into two grassland soils with different C content. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry, 17(23), 2585-2590.
- Bonfante, P., Genre, A. (2008). Plants and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi: an evolutionarydevelopmental perspective. *Trends in plant science*, *13*(9), 492-498.
- Borin, M., Barbera, A. C., Milani, M., Molari, G., Zimbone, S. M., Toscano, A. (2013).Biomass production and N balance of giant reed (*Arundo donax* L.) under high water and N input in Mediterranean environments. European journal of agronomy, 51, 117-119.
- Borriello, R., Lumini, E., Girlanda, M., Bonfante, P. and Bianciotto, V. (2012). Effects of different management practices on arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal diversity in maize fields by a molecular approach. *Biology and Fertility of Soils* 48(8): 911-922.
- Bouksila, F., Bahri, A., Berndtsson, R., Persson, M., Rozema, J., Van der Zee, S. E. (2013). Assessment of soil salinization risks under irrigation with brackish water in semiarid Tunisia. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 92, 176-185.
- Bozorgvar, N., Khademosharieh, M. M., Neamatollahi, E., Jahansuz, M. R. (2013). Determine the best varieties of forage sorghum. Advances in Environmental Biology, 1105-1113.
- Braunberger, P. G., Abbott, L. K., Robson, A. D. (1996). Infectivity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi after wetting and drying. New Phytologist, 134(4), 673-684.
- Brito, I., Goss, M.J. and De Carvalho, M. (2012). Effect of tillage and crop on arbuscular mycorrhiza colonization of winter wheat and triticale under Mediterranean conditions. *Soil Use and Management* 28(2): 202-208.
- Brundrett, M. C. (2002). Coevolution of roots and mycorrhizas of land plants. *New phytologist*, 154(2), 275-304.
- Bücking, H., Kafle, A. (2015). Role of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in the nitrogen uptake of plants: current knowledge and research gaps. *Agronomy*, *5*(4), 587-612.

- Burrows, R.L., Pfleger, F.L. (2002). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi respond to increasing plant diversity. *Canadian Journal of Botany* 80(2): 120-130.
- Byrt, C. S., Grof, C. P., Furbank, R. T. (2011). C4 plants as biofuel feedstocks: optimising biomass production and feedstock quality from a lignocellulosic perspective. Journal of Integrative Plant Biology, 53(2), 120-135.
- Cadoux, S., Riche, A. B., Yates, N. E., Machet, J. M. (2012). Nutrient requirements of *Miscanthus x giganteus*: conclusions from a review of published studies. Biomass and Bioenergy, 38, 14-22.
- Çakir, R. (2004). Effect of water stress at different development stages on vegetative and reproductive growth of corn. Field Crops Research, 89(1), 1-16.
- Calonne, M., Fontaine, J., Debiane, D., Laruelle, F., Grandmougin, A., Lounes-Hadj, S.A. (2010). Side effects of the sterol biosynthesis inhibitor fungicide, propiconazole, on a beneficial arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus. *Communications in agricultural and applied biological sciences* 76(4): 891-902.
- Calvente, R., Cano, C., Ferrol, N., Azcón-Aguilar, C., Barea, J. M. (2004). Analysing natural diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in olive tree (Olea europaea L.) plantations and assessment of the effectiveness of native fungal isolates as inoculants for commercial cultivars of olive plantlets. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 26(1), 11-19.
- Campagnac, E., Fontaine, J., Sahraoui, A.L.H., Laruelle, F., Durand, R. and Grandmougin-Ferjani, A. (2008). Differential effects of fenpropimorph and fenhexamid, two sterol biosynthesis inhibitor fungicides, on arbuscular mycorrhizal development and sterol metabolism in carrot roots. *Phytochemistry* 69(17): 2912-2919.
- Campagnac, E., Lounès-Hadj Sahraoui, A., Debiane, D., Fontaine, J., Laruelle, F., Garçon, G., Verdin, A., Durand, R., Shirali, P. and Grandmougin-Ferjani, A. (2010). Arbuscular mycorrhiza partially protect chicory roots against oxidative stress induced by two fungicides, fenpropimorph and fenhexamid. *Mycorrhiza* 20(3): 167-178.
- Candido, V., Campanelli, G., D'Addabbo, T., Castronuovo, D., Renco, M., Camele, I. (2013). Growth and yield promoting effect of artificial mycorrhization combined with different fertiliser rates on field-grown tomato. Ital J Agron. 8(3):168-174.
- Capasso, R., Evidente, A., Schivo, L., Orru, G., Marcialis, M.A., Cristinzio, G. (1995).
 Antibacterial polyphenols from olive oil mill waste waters. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 79(4), 393-398.

- Capponi, S., Fazio, S. and Barbanti, L. (2012). CO₂ savings affect the break-even distance of feedstock supply and digestate placement in biogas production. *Renewable energy* 37(1): 45-52.
- Caravaca, F., Hernandez, T., Garcia, C., Roldan, A. (2002). Improvement of rhizosphere aggregate stability of afforested semiarid plant species subjected to mycorrhizal inoculation and compost addition. *Geoderma* 108(1): 133-144.
- Caravaca, F., Barea, J. M., Palenzuela, J., Figueroa, D., Alguacil, M. M., Roldán, A. (2003). Establishment of shrub species in a degraded semiarid site after inoculation with native or allochthonous arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 22(2), 103-111.
- Carlson, T. N., Ripley, D. A. (1997). On the relation between NDVI, fractional vegetation cover, and leaf area index. Remote sensing of Environment, 62(3), 241-252.
- Cartmill, A.D., Valdez-Aguilar, L.A., Bryan, D.L., Alarcón, A. (2008). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi enhance tolerance of vinca to high alkalinity in irrigation water. *Scientia Horticulturae* 115(3): 275-284.
- Cataldo, D. A., Maroon, M., Schrader, L. E., Youngs, V. L. (1975). Rapid colorimetric determination of nitrate in plant tissue by nitration of salicylic acid 1. Communications in Soil Science & Plant Analysis, 6(1), 71-80.
- Cavagnaro, T. R., Barrios-Masias, F. H., Jackson, L. E. (2012). Arbuscular mycorrhizas and their role in plant growth, nitrogen interception and soil gas efflux in an organic production system. *Plant and Soil*, 353(1-2), 181-194.
- Cavagnaro, T. R., Langley, A. J., Jackson, L. E., Smukler, S. M., Koch, G. W. (2008). Growth, nutrition, and soil respiration of a mycorrhiza-defective tomato mutant and its mycorrhizal wild-type progenitor. *Functional Plant Biology*, 35(3), 228-235.
- Cavagnaro, T.R. (2014). Impacts of compost application on the formation and functioning of arbuscular mycorrhizas. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 78: 38-44.
- Cavallaro, V., Maucieri, C., Barbera, A.C. (2014). *Lolium multiflorum* Lam. cvs germination under simulated olive mill wastewater salinity and pH stress. Ecol. Eng. 71, 113-117.
- Cavallaro, V., Barbera, A. C., Maucieri, C., Gimma, G., Scalisi, C., Patanè, C. (2016).
 Evaluation of variability to drought and saline stress through the germination of different ecotypes of carob (*Ceratonia siliqua* L.) using a hydrotime model. Ecol Eng. 95:557-566.
- Cayuela, M.L., Millner, P.D., Meyer, S.L.F., Roig, A. (2008). Potential of olive mill waste and compost as biobased pesticides against weeds, fungi, and nematodes. Sci. Total Environ. 399(1), 11-18.

- Cazzato, E., Laudadio, V., Tufarelli, V. (2012). Effects of harvest period, nitrogen fertilization and mycorrhizal fungus inoculation on triticale (× *Triticosecale* Wittmack) forage yield and quality. *Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems* 27(4): 278-286.
- Celebi, S. Z., Demir, S., Celebi, R., Durak, E. D., Yilmaz, I. H. (2010). The effect of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi (AMF) applications on the silage maize (*Zea mays* L.) yield in different irrigation regimes. European Journal of Soil Biology, 46(5), 302-305.
- Ceotto, E., Castelli, F., Moschella, A., Diozzi, M., Di Candilo, M. (2015). Cattle slurry fertilization to giant reed (*Arundo donax* L.): biomass yield and nitrogen use efficiency. BioEnergy Research, 8(3), 1252-1262.
- Chaari, L., Elloumi, N., Mseddi, S., Gargouri, K., Rouina, B.B., Mechichi, T., Kallel, M. (2015). Changes in soil macronutrients after a long-term application of olive mill wastewater. J. Agric. Chem. Environ., 4(01), 1-13.
- Chandra, R., Takeuchi, H., Hasegawa, T. (2012). Methane production from lignocellulosic agricultural crop wastes: A review in context to second generation of biofuel production. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 16(3), 1462-1476.
- Chandrasekaran, M., Kim, K., Krishnamoorthy, R., Walitang, D., Sundaram, S., Joe, M. M., Selvakumar, G., Hu, S., Oh, S. H., Sa, T. (2016). Mycorrhizal Symbiotic Efficiency on C3 and C4 Plants under Salinity Stress–A Meta-Analysis. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 7.
- Channabasava, A., Lakshman, H. C., Jorquera, M. A. (2015). Effect of fungicides on association of arbuscular mycorrhiza fungus Rhizophagus fasciculatus and growth of Proso millet (*Panicum miliaceum* L.). J Soil Sci Plant Nutr. 15(1):35-45.
- Chen, B. D., Zhu, Y. G., Duan, J., Xiao, X. Y., Smith, S. E. (2007). Effects of the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus Glomus mosseae on growth and metal uptake by four plant species in copper mine tailings. Environmental Pollution, 147(2), 374-380.
- Chen, R., Blagodatskaya, E., Senbayram, M., Blagodatsky, S., Myachina, O., Dittert, K., Kuzyakov, Y. (2012). Decomposition of biogas residues in soil and their effects on microbial growth kinetics and enzyme activities. biomass and bioenergy, 45, 221-229
- Cheng, L., Booker, F. L., Tu, C., Burkey, K. O., Zhou, L., Shew, H. D., Rufty, T. W., Hu, S. (2012). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi increase organic carbon decomposition under elevated CO₂. *Science*, 337(6098), 1084-1087.
- Cho, E. J., Do Wee, C., Kim, H. L., Cheong, Y. H., Cho, J. S., Sohn, B. K. (2009). Effects of AMF inoculation on growth of *Panax ginseng* CA Meyer seedlings and on soil structures in mycorrhizosphere. *Scientia horticulturae*, 122(4), 633-637.

- Ciafardini, G., Zullo, B.A. (1998). Inhibitory activity of the oil-mill waste water on *Rhizobium meliloti* and *Rhizobium hedysarii* in the soil. Adv. Food Sci. 20(3-4), 89-93.
- Clark, R.B., Zeto, S.K. (2000). Mineral acquisition by arbuscular mycorrhizal plants. *Journal of Plant Nutrition* 23(7): 867-902.
- Cordoba, E. B., Martinez, A. C., Ferrer, E. V. (2010). Water quality indicators: Comparison of a probabilistic index and a general quality index. The case of the Confederación Hidrográfica del Júcar (Spain). *Ecological Indicators*, 10(5), 1049-1054.
- Cosentino, S. L., Patane, C., Sanzone, E., Copani, V., Foti, S. (2007). Effects of soil water content and nitrogen supply on the productivity of *Miscanthus* × *giganteus* Greef et Deu. in a Mediterranean environment. Industrial Crops and Products, 25(1), 75-88.
- Cossani, C.M., Slafer, G.A., Savin, R. (2009). Yield and biomass in wheat and barley under a range of conditions in a Mediterranean site. Field Crop. Res. 112(2), 205-213.
- Cozzolino, V., Di Meo, V., Piccolo, A. (2013). Impact of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi applications on maize production and soil phosphorus availability. Journal of Geochemical Exploration, 129, 40-44.
- Cruz, C., Green, J. J., Watson, C. A., Wilson, F., Martins-Loução, M. A. (2004). Functional aspects of root architecture and mycorrhizal inoculation with respect to nutrient uptake capacity. Mycorrhiza, 14(3), 177-184.
- Curt, M. D., Aguado, P., Sanz, M., Sánchez, G., Fernández, J. (2006). Clone precocity and the use of *Helianthus tuberosus* L. stems for bioethanol. Industrial crops and Products, 24(3), 314-320.
- Daei, G., Ardekani, M. R., Rejali, F., Teimuri, S., Miransari, M. (2009). Alleviation of salinity stress on wheat yield, yield components, and nutrient uptake using arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi under field conditions. Journal of plant physiology, 166(6), 617-625.
- Dal Ferro, N., Cocco, E., Lazzaro, B., Berti, A., Morari, F. (2016). Assessing the role of agri-environmental measures to enhance the environment in the Veneto Region, Italy, with a model-based approach. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 232, 312-325.
- Danuso, F. (2002). Le colture per la produzione di inulina: attualità e prospettive. Inform. Agr, 3, 176-187.
- Debiane, D., Garçon, G., Verdin, A., Fontaine, J., Durand, R., Grandmougin-Ferjani, A., Shirali, P., Lounès-Hadj Sahraoui, A., Sahraoui, A.L.H. (2008). In vitro evaluation of the oxidative stress and genotoxic potentials of anthracene on mycorrhizal chicory roots. *Environmental and Experimental Botany* 64(2): 120-127.

- Debiane, D., Garçon, G., Verdin, A., Fontaine, J., Durand, R., Shirali, P., Grandmougin-Ferjani, A., Sahraoui, A.L.H. (2009). Mycorrhization alleviates benzo [a] pyrene-induced oxidative stress in an in vitro chicory root model. *Phytochemistry* 70(11): 1421-1427.
- Delogu, G., Faccini, N., Faccioli, P., Reggiani, F., Lendini, M., Berardo, N., Odoardi, M. (2002). Dry matter yield and quality evaluation at two phenological stages of forage triticale grown in the Po Valley and Sardinia, Italy. *Field Crops Research* 74(2): 207-215.
- Denoroy, P. (1996). The crop physiology of Helianthus tuberosus L.: a model oriented view. Biomass and bioenergy, 11(1), 11-32.
- Di Bene, C., Pellegrino, E., Debolini, M., Silvestri, N., Bonari, E. (2013). Short-and longterm effects of olive mill wastewater land spreading on soil chemical and biological properties. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *56*, 21-30.
- Di Girolamo, G., Grigatti, M., Barbanti, L., Angelidaki, I. (2013). Effects of hydrothermal pre-treatments on Giant reed (*Arundo donax*) methane yield. Bioresource technology, 147, 152-159.
- Di Paolo, E., Rinaldi, M. (2008). Yield response of corn to irrigation and nitrogen fertilization in a Mediterranean environment. Field Crops Research, 105(3), 202-210.
- Di Serio, M.G., Lanza, B., Mucciarella, M.R., Russi, F., Iannucci, E., Marfisi, P., Madeo, A. (2008). Effects of olive mill wastewater spreading on the physico-chemical and microbiological characteristics of soil. Int. Biodeterior. Biodegradation 62(4), 403-407.
- Diacono, M., Montemurro, F. (2010). Long-term effects of organic amendments on soil fertility. A review. *Agronomy for sustainable development* 30(2): 401-422.
- Díaz-Ambrona, C.H., Mínguez, M.I. (2001). Cereal–legume rotations in a Mediterranean environment: biomass and yield production. Field Crop. Res. 70(2), 139-151.
- Dodd, G. L., Donovan, L. A. (1999). Water potential and ionic effects on germination and seedling growth of two cold desert shrubs. Am J Bot. 86(8):1146-1153.
- Dorta-Santos, M., Tejedor, M., Jiménez, C., Hernández-Moreno, J. M., Díaz, F. J. (2016). Using marginal quality water for an energy crop in arid regions: Effect of salinity and boron distribution patterns. *Agricultural Water Management*, 171, 142-152.
- Duncan, R. R., Gardner, W. A. (1984). The influence of ratoon cropping on sweet sorghum yield, sugar production, and insect damage. Canadian journal of plant science, 64(2), 261-274.

- Dunham, R. J., Nye, P. H. (1976). The influence of soil water content on the uptake of ions by roots. III. Phosphate, potassium, calcium and magnesium uptake and concentration gradients in soil. Journal of applied Ecology, 967-984.
- Duponnois, R., Galiana, A., Prin, Y. (2008). The mycorrhizosphere effect: a multitrophic interaction complex improves mycorrhizal symbiosis and plant growth. In Mycorrhizae: Sustainable Agriculture and Forestry (pp. 227-240). Springer Netherlands.
- Egerton-Warburton, L. M., Allen, E. B. (2000). Shifts in arbuscular mycorrhizal communities along an anthropogenic nitrogen deposition gradient. *Ecological applications*, *10*(2), 484-496.
- Ehdaie, B., Shakiba, M.R., Waines, J.G. (2001). Sowing date and nitrogen input influence nitrogen-use efficiency in spring bread and durum wheat genotypes. *Journal of Plant Nutrition* 24(6): 899-919.
- El Hadrami, A., Belaqziz, M., El Hassni, M., Hanifi, S., Abbad, A., Capasso, R., Gianfreda, L., El Hadrami, I., (2004). Physico-chemical characterization and effects of olive oil mill wastewater fertirrigation on the growth of some mediterranean crops. *Journal of Agronomy* 3 (4), 247–254.
- El Hajjouji, H., Merlina, G., Pinelli, E., Winterton, P., Revel, J. C., Hafidi, M. (2008). ¹³C NMR study of the effect of aerobic treatment of olive mill wastewater (OMW) on its lipid-free content. *Journal of hazardous materials*, 154(1), 927-932.
- Elhindi, K. M., El-Din, A. S., Elgorban, A. M. (2017). The impact of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in mitigating salt-induced adverse effects in sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.). *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences*, 24(1), 170-179.
- Energy Information Administration (EIA), 2016. International Energy Outlook 2016 https://www.eia.gov/outlooks/ieo/pdf/0484(2016).pdf
- Estrada, B., Aroca, R., Barea, J. M., Ruiz-Lozano, J. M. (2013). Native arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi isolated from a saline habitat improved maize antioxidant systems and plant tolerance to salinity. *Plant science*, 201, 42-51.
- Estrada-Luna, A. A., Davies Jr, F. T., Egilla, J. N. (2000). Mycorrhizal fungi enhancement of growth and gas exchange of micropropagated guava plantlets (*Psidium guajava* L.) during ex vitro acclimatization and plant establishment. Mycorrhiza, 10(1), 1-8.
- European Biogas Association, (2017). Available from: http://biomassmagazine.com/articles/14141/european-biogas-association-reports-17-376biogas-plants-in-eu

- Evelin, H., Kapoor, R., Giri, B. (2009). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in alleviation of salt stress: a review. *Annals of botany*, *104*(7), 1263-1280.
- Facelli, E., Facelli, J.M. (2002). Soil phosphorus heterogeneity and mycorrhizal symbiosis regulate plant intra-specific competition and size distribution. *Oecologia* 133(1): 54-61.
- Fagbola, O., Osonubi, O., Mulongoy, K., Odunfa, S. (2001). Effects of drought stress and arbuscular mycorrhiza on the growth of *Gliricidia sepium* (Jacq). Walp, and *Leucaena leucocephala* (Lam.) de Wit. in simulated eroded soil conditions. Mycorrhiza 11(5):215-223.
- Fangueiro, D., Chadwick, D., Dixon, L., Grilo, J., Walter, N., Bol, R. (2010). Short term N 2
 O, CH₄ and CO₂ production from soil sampled at different depths and amended with a fine sized slurry fraction. Chemosphere, 81(1), 100-108.
- FAO, (2011). Quality assurance for animal feed analysis laboratories. FAO Animal Production and Health Manual No. 14. Rome.
- Farré, I., Faci, J. M. (2006). Comparative response of maize (*Zea mays L.*) and sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor L. Moench*) to deficit irrigation in a Mediterranean environment. Agricultural Water Management, 83(1), 135-143.
- Feng, G., Zhang, F., Li, X., Tian, C., Tang, C., Rengel, Z. (2002). Improved tolerance of maize plants to salt stress by arbuscular mycorrhiza is related to higher accumulation of soluble sugars in roots. *Mycorrhiza*, 12(4), 185-190.
- Fidalgo, F., Santos, A., Santos, I., Salema, R. (2004). Effects of long-term salt stress on antioxidant defense systems, leaf water relations and chloroplast ultrastructure of potato plants. Ann Appl Biol. 145(2):185-192.
- Finlay, R. D. (2008). Ecological aspects of mycorrhizal symbiosis: with special emphasis on the functional diversity of interactions involving the extraradical mycelium. *Journal of experimental botany*, 59(5), 1115-1126.
- Firmin, S., Labidi, S., Fontaine, J., Laruelle, F., Tisserant, B., Nsanganwimana, F., Pourrut, B., Dalpè, Y., Grandmougin, A., Shirali, P. (2015). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal inoculation protects *Miscanthus× giganteus* against trace element toxicity in a highly metal-contaminated site. Science of the Total Environment, 527, 91-99.
- Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO) (2003). Review of world water resources by country. Water Report n.23
- Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) (2013). FAOSTAT, Statistical Database. faostat.fao.org/
- Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) (2014). FAOSTAT, Statistical Database

- Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) (2014). FAOSTAT database. http://faostat3.fao.org
- Franco-Ramírez, A., Ferrera-Cerrato, R., Varela-Fregoso, L., Pérez-Moreno, J., Alarcón, A. (2007). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in chronically petroleum-contaminated soils in Mexico and the effects of petroleum hydrocarbons on spore germination. *Journal of basic microbiology* 47(5): 378-383.
- Frank, B. (1885). Ueber die auf Wurzelsymbiose beruhende Ernahrung gewisser Baume durch unterirdische Pilze. *Ber. dt. Bot. Ges.(3)*, 128-45.
- Frank, D. A., Groffman, P. M. (2009). Plant rhizospheric N processes: what we don't know and why we should care. *Ecology*, *90*(6), 1512-1519.
- Frey, B., Schüepp, H. (1993). Acquisition of nitrogen by external hyphae of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi associated with Zea mays L. New Phytologist, 124(2), 221-230.
- Galanakis, C. M. (2011). Olive fruit dietary fiber: components, recovery and applications. *Trends in food science & technology*, 22(4), 175-184.
- Galvez, L., Douds, Jr D.D., Drinkwater, L.E., Wagoner, P. (2001). Effect of tillage and farming system upon VAM fungus populations and mycorrhizas and nutrient uptake of maize. *Plant and Soil* 228(2): 299-308.
- Galvez, A., Sinicco, T., Cayuela, M. L., Mingorance, M. D., Fornasier, F., Mondini, C. (2012). Short term effects of bioenergy by-products on soil C and N dynamics, nutrient availability and biochemical properties. Agriculture, ecosystems & environment, 160, 3-14.
- Garcia, C., Hernandez, T., Costa, F., Ceccanti, B. (1994). Biochemical parameters in soils regenerated by the addition of organic wastes. Waste Management & Research, 12(6), 457-466.
- Garcia-Barrionuevo, A., Moreno, E., Quevedo-Sarmiento, J., Gonzalez-Lopez, J., Ramos-Cormenzana, A. (1992). Effect of wastewaters from olive oil mills (alpechin) on Azotobacter nitrogen fixation in soil. Soil Biol. Biochem. 24(3), 281-283.
- García-Orenes, F., Roldán, A., Mataix-Solera, J., Cerdà, A., Campoy, M., Arcenegui, V., Caravaca, F. (2012). Soil structural stability and erosion rates influenced by agricultural management practices in a semi-arid Mediterranean agro-ecosystem. *Soil Use and Management*, 28(4), 571-579.
- García-Sánchez, M., Siles, J. A., Cajthaml, T., García-Romera, I., Tlustoš, P., Száková, J. (2015). Effect of digestate and fly ash applications on soil functional properties and microbial communities. *European Journal of Soil Biology*, 71, 1-12.

- Garfí, M., Gelman, P., Comas, J., Carrasco, W., Ferrer, I. (2011). Agricultural reuse of the digestate from low-cost tubular digesters in rural Andean communities. Waste Management, 31(12), 2584-2589.
- Garg, N., Chandel, S. (2010). Arbuscular mycorrhizal networks: process and functions. A review. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, *30*(3), 581-599.
- Gargouri, K., Masmoudi, M., Rhouma, A. (2014). Influence of olive mill wastewater (OMW) spread on carbon and nitrogen dynamics and biology of an arid sandy soil. *Communications in soil science and plant analysis*, 45(1), 1-14.
- Gaudino, S., Goia, I., Borreani, G., Tabacco, E., Sacco, D. (2014). Cropping system intensification grading using an agro-environmental indicator set in northern Italy. *Ecological Indicators*, 40, 76-89.
- George, E., Marschner, H., Jakobsen, I. (1995). Role of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in uptake of phosphorus and nitrogen from soil. *Critical Reviews in Biotechnology* 15(3-4): 257-270.
- Gianinazzi, S., Gollotte, A., Binet, M. N., van Tuinen, D., Redecker, D., Wipf, D. (2010). Agroecology: the key role of arbuscular mycorrhizas in ecosystem services. Mycorrhiza, 20(8), 519-530.
- Giovannetti, M., Avio, L., Sbrana, C. (2010). Fungal spore germination and pre-symbiotic mycelial growth–physiological and genetic aspects. In Arbuscular Mycorrhizas: Physiology and Function (pp. 3-32). Springer Netherlands.
- Giri, B., Kapoor, R., Mukerji, K. G. (2003). Influence of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and salinity on growth, biomass, and mineral nutrition of *Acacia auriculiformis*. Biology and Fertility of Soils, 38(3), 170-175.
- Giri, B., Kapoor, R., Mukerji, K. G. (2007). Improved tolerance of Acacia nilotica to salt stress by arbuscular mycorrhiza, Glomus fasciculatum may be partly related to elevated K/Na ratios in root and shoot tissues. *Microbial ecology*, *54*(4), 753-760.
- Girma, F. S., Krieg, D. R. (1992). Osmotic adjustment in sorghum I. Mechanisms of diurnal osmotic potential changes. Plant Physiology, 99(2), 577-582.
- Giunta, F., Motzo, R. (2004). Sowing rate and cultivar affect total biomass and grain yield of spring triticale (× *Triticosecale* Wittmack) grown in a Mediterranean-type environment. *Field Crops Research* 87(2): 179-193.
- Giunta, F., Motzo, R., Pruneddu, G. (2003). Comparison of temperate cereals and grain legumes in a Mediterranean environment. *Agricoltura mediterranea* 133(3-4): 234-248.
- Goering, H.K., Van Soest, P.J. (1970). Forage fiber analyses (apparatus, reagents, preedures, and some applications). USDA Agr Handb.
- Gosling, P., Hodge, A., Goodlass, G., Bending, G.D. (2006). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and organic farming. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* 113(1): 17-35.
- Govindarajulu, M., Pfeffer, P. E., Jin, H., Abubaker, J., Douds, D. D., Allen, J. W., Büching,
 H., Lammers, P. J., Shachar-Hill, Y. (2005). Nitrogen transfer in the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. Nature, 435(7043), 819-823.
- Grigatti, M., Di Girolamo, G., Chincarini, R., Ciavatta, C., Barbanti, L. (2011). Potential nitrogen mineralization, plant utilization efficiency and soil CO₂ emissions following the addition of anaerobic digested slurries. biomass and bioenergy, 35(11), 4619-4629.
- Grümberg, B. C., Urcelay, C., Shroeder, M. A., Vargas-Gil, S., Luna, C. M. (2015). The role of inoculum identity in drought stress mitigation by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in soybean. Biol Fertil Soils 51(1):1-10.
- Guo, W., Zhao, R., Zhao, W., Fu, R., Guo, J., Bi, N., Zhang, J. (2013). Effects of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi on maize (*Zea mays* L.) and sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* L. Moench) grown in rare earth elements of mine tailings. Applied soil ecology, 72, 85-92.
- Hamel, C. (2004). Impact of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi on N and P cycling in the root zone. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science* 84(4): 383-395.
- Hanifi, S., El Hadrami, I. (2008). Phytotoxicity and fertilising potential of olive mill wastewaters for maize cultivation. Agronomy for sustainable development, 28(2), 313-319.
- Haraldsen, T. K., Andersen, U., Krogstad, T., Sørheim, R. (2011). Liquid digestate from anaerobic treatment of source-separated household waste as fertilizer to barley. Waste Management & Research, 0734242X11411975.
- Harrier, L. A., Watson, C. A. (2004). The potential role of arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi in the bioprotection of plants against soil-borne pathogens in organic and/or other sustainable farming systems. *Pest management science*, *60*(2), 149-157.
- Harrison, M. J. (2005). Signaling in the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. Annu. Rev. Microbiol., 59, 19-42.
- Hartnett, D.C., Samenus, R.J., Fischer, L.E., Hetrick, B.A.D. (1994). Plant demographic responses to mycorrhizal symbiosis in tallgrass prairie. *Oecologia* 99(1-2): 21-26.
- Hartwig, U. A., Wittmann, P., Braun, R., Hartwig-Räz, B., Jansa, J., Mozafar, A., Lüscher, A., Leuchtmann, A., Frossard, E., Nösberger, J. (2002). Arbuscular mycorrhiza infection

enhances the growth response of Lolium perenne to elevated atmospheric pCO₂. Journal of Experimental Botany, 53(371), 1207-1213.

- Hasegawa, P. M., Bressan, R. A., Zhu, J. K., Bohnert, H. J. (2000). Plant cellular and molecular responses to high salinity. Annual review of plant biology, 51(1), 463-499.
- He, Z., He, C., Zhang, Z., Zou, Z., Wang, H. (2007). Changes of antioxidative enzymes and cell membrane osmosis in tomato colonized by arbuscular mycorrhizae under NaCl stress. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 59(2), 128-133.
- Hess, M., Barralis, G., Bleiholder, H., Buhr, L., Eggers, T.H., Hack, H., Stauss, R. (1997). Use of the extended BBCH scale—general for the descriptions of the growth stages of mono; and dicotyledonous weed species. *Weed Research* 37(6): 433-441.
- Heuzé, V., Tran, G., Baumont, R. (2015). Wheat forage. Feedipedia, a programme by INRA, CIRAD, AFZ and FAO. http://www.feedipedia.org/node/363 Last updated on October 14, 2015, 14:25
- Heuzé, V., Tran, G., Chapoutot, P., Bastianelli, D., Lebas, F. (2015). Jerusalem artichoke (# *Helianthus tuberosus#*).
- Heydari, M.M., Maleki, A. (2014). Effect of phosphorus sources and mycorrhizal inoculation on root colonization and phosphorus uptake of barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.). *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences* 3(8): 235-248.
- Hodge, A., Campbell, C.D., Fitter, A.H. (2001). An arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus accelerates decomposition and acquires nitrogen directly from organic material. *Nature* 413(6853): 297-299.
- Hodge, A., Fitter, A. H. (2010). Substantial nitrogen acquisition by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi from organic material has implications for N cycling. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 107(31), 13754-13759.
- Hol, W.G., Cook, R. (2005). An overview of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi–nematode interactions. *Basic and Applied Ecology* 6(6): 489-503.
- Holm-Nielsen, J. B., Al Seadi, T., Oleskowicz-Popiel, P. (2009). The future of anaerobic digestion and biogas utilization. *Bioresource technology*, *100*(22), 5478-5484.
- Hu, Y., Schmidhalter, U. (2004). Limitation of salt stress to plant growth. In *Plant Toxicology, Fourth Edition*. CRC Press.
- Huang, Z., Zou, Z., He, C., He, Z., Zhang, Z., Li, J. (2011). Physiological and photosynthetic responses of melon (*Cucumis melo* L.) seedlings to three Glomus species under water deficit. Plant and soil, 339(1-2), 391-399.

- Hunt, H. V., Campana, M. G., Lawes, M. C., Park, Y. J., Bower, M. A., Howe, C. J., Jones, M. K. (2011). Genetic diversity and phylogeography of broomcorn millet (*Panicum miliaceum* L.) across Eurasia. Mol. Ecol. 20(22):4756-4771.
- Iizumi, T., Ramankutty, N. (2016). Changes in yield variability of major crops for 1981–
 2010 explained by climate change. *Environmental Research Letters* 11(3): 034003.
- Insam, H., Gómez-Brandón, M., Ascher, J. (2015). Manure-based biogas fermentation residues–Friend or foe of soil fertility?. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 84, 1-14.
- Ipsilantis, I., Karpouzas, D. G., Papadopoulou, K. K., Ehaliotis, C. (2009). Effects of soil application of olive mill wastewaters on the structure and function of the community of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *41*(12), 2466-2476.
- Iptas, S., Brohi, A. R. (2003). Effect of Nitrogen Rate and Stubble Height on Dry Matter Yield, Crude Protein Content and Crude Protein Yield of a Sorghum–Sudangrass Hybrid [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench× Sorghum sudanense (Piper) Stapf.] in the Three-Cutting System. Journal of agronomy and crop science, 189(4), 227-232.
- Isidori, M., Lavorgna, M., Nardelli, A., Parrella, A. (2005). Model study on the effect of 15 phenolic olive mill wastewater constituents on seed germination and Vibrio fischeri metabolism. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, *53*(21), 8414-8417.
- ISTA (International rules for Seed Testing) (1996). Seed Science and Technology (vol. 24 supplement rules 1996 ISSN 0251-0952).
- Jackson, L. E., Burger, M., Cavagnaro, T. R. (2008). Roots, nitrogen transformations, and ecosystem services. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.*, *59*, 341-363.
- Jahansouz, M. R., Afshar, R. K., Heidari, H., Hashemi, M. (2014). Evaluation of yield and quality of sorghum and millet as alternative forage crops to corn under normal and deficit irrigation regimes. Jordan J Agr Sci. 10(4).
- Janos, D. P. (2007). Plant responsiveness to mycorrhizas differs from dependence upon mycorrhizas. Mycorrhiza, 17(2), 75-91.
- Jansa, J., Mozafar, A., Anken, T., Ruh, R., Sanders, I., Frossard, E. (2002). Diversity and structure of AMF communities as affected by tillage in a temperate soil. Mycorrhiza, 12(5), 225-234.
- Jasper, D. A., Abbott, L. K., Robson, A. D. (1989). Soil disturbance reduces the infectivity of external hyphae of vesicular—arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. New Phytologist, 112(1), 93-99.

- Jin, H., Germida, J.J., Walley, F.L. (2013). Suppressive effects of seed-applied fungicides on arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) differ with fungicide mode of action and AMF species. *Applied Soil Ecology* 72: 22-30.
- Johansen, A., Carter, M. S., Jensen, E. S., Hauggard-Nielsen, H., Ambus, P. (2013). Effects of digestate from anaerobically digested cattle slurry and plant materials on soil microbial community and emission of CO₂ and N₂O. Applied soil ecology, 63, 36-44.
- Johnson, N.C. (1993). Can fertilization of soil select less mutualistic mycorrhizae?. *Ecological applications* 3(4): 749-757.
- Johansen, A., Jakobsen, I., Jensen, E. S. (1993). Hyphal transport by a vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus of N applied to the soil as ammonium or nitrate. Biology and Fertility of Soils, 16(1), 66-70.
- Johansen, A., Jensen, E.S. (1996). Transfer of N and P from intact or decomposing roots of pea to barley interconnected by an arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus. Soil Biol. Biochem. 28(1), 73-81.
- Johnson, D., Leake, J. R., Ostle, N., Ineson, P., Read, D. J. (2002). In situ13CO₂ pulselabelling of upland grassland demonstrates a rapid pathway of carbon flux from arbuscular mycorrhizal mycelia to the soil. *New Phytologist*, *153*(2), 327-334.
- Johansson, J. F., Paul, L. R., Finlay, R. D. (2004). Microbial interactions in the mycorrhizosphere and their significance for sustainable agriculture. FEMS microbiology ecology, 48(1), 1-13.
- Jones, A., Panagos, P., Barcelo, S., Bouraoui, F., Bosco, C., Dewitte, O., Gardi, C., Hervás, J., Hiederer, R., Jeffery, S., Montanarella, L., Penizek, V., Tóth, G., Van Den Eeckhaut, M., Van Liedekerke, M., Verheijen, F., Yusuf Yigini, Y. (2012). The state of soil in europe-a contribution of the jrc to the european environment agency's environment state and outlook report–soer 2010.
- Jones, D. L., Hodge, A., Kuzyakov, Y. (2004). Plant and mycorrhizal regulation of rhizodeposition. New phytologist, 163(3), 459-480.
- Juniper, S., Abbott, L. (1993). Vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizas and soil salinity. Mycorrhiza 4(2):45-57.
- Juniper, S., Abbott, L. K. (2006). Soil salinity delays germination and limits growth of hyphae from propagules of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Mycorrhiza 16(5):371-379.
- Jupp, A. P., Newman, E. I. (1987). Phosphorus uptake from soil by Lolium perenne during and after severe drought. Journal of Applied Ecology, 979-990.

- Kahiluoto, H., Ketoja, E., Vestberg, M., Saarela, I. (2001). Promotion of AM utilization through reduced P fertilization 2. Field studies. *Plant and Soil* 231(1): 65-79.
- Kannq, T., Saito, M., Ando, Y., Macedo, A. C. M., Nakamura, T., Miranda, C. H. B. (2006). Importance of indigenous arbuscular mycorrhiza for growth and phosphorus uptake in tropical forage grasses growing on an acid, infertile soil from the Brazilian savannas. Tropical Grasslands, 40(2), 94.
- Kapellakis, I.E., Tsagarakis, K.P., Crowther, J.C. (2008). Olive oil history, production and by-product management. Rev. Environ. Sci. Bio. 7(1), 1-26.
- Karpouzas, D.G., Ntougias, S., Iskidou, E., Rousidou, C., Papadopoulou, K.K., Zervakis, G.I., Ehaliotis, C. (2010). Olive mill wastewater affects the structure of soil bacterial communities. Appl. Soil Ecol. 45(2), 101-111.
- Kerckhoffs, H., Trolove, S., Heubeck, S., Renquist, R. (2012). Biogas Fuel from a Closed-Loop Nitrogen Supply Cropping System.
- Kering, M. K., Butler, T. J., Biermacher, J. T., Guretzky, J. A. (2012). Biomass yield and nutrient removal rates of perennial grasses under nitrogen fertilization. Bioenergy Research, 5(1), 61-70.
- Koide, R.T. (1991). Nutrient supply, nutrient demand and plant response to mycorrhizal infection. *New phytologist* 117(3): 365-386.
- Köppen, W. (1936). Das geographische System der Klimate (Handbuch der Klimatologie, Bd. 1, Teil C).
- Köppen, W., Geiger, R. (1928). Klimate der erde. Wall-map 150cmx200cm, Gotha: Verlag Justus Perthes.
- Koszel, M., Lorencowicz, E. (2015). Agricultural use of biogas digestate as a replacement fertilizers. *Agriculture and Agricultural Science Procedia*, 7, 119-124.
- Kuusik, A., Pachel, K., Kuusik, A., Loigu, E. (2017). Possible agricultural use of digestate. *Proceedings of the Estonian Academy of Sciences*, 66(1), 64.
- Kuzyakov, Y., & Xu, X. (2013). Competition between roots and microorganisms for nitrogen: mechanisms and ecological relevance. New Phytologist, 198(3), 656-669.
- Lado, M., Ben-Hur, M. (2009). Treated domestic sewage irrigation effects on soil hydraulic properties in arid and semiarid zones: A review. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 106(1), 152-163.
- Lal, R. (2008). Soils and sustainable agriculture. A review. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 28(1): 57–64.

- Langeroodi, A. R. S., Ghooshchi, F., Dadgar, T. (2017). Alleviatory activities in mycorrhizaltobacco plants subjected to increasing chloride in irrigation water. Ital. J. Agron. 12, 8-16.
- Langeroodi, A. R. S., Ghooshchi, F., Dadgar, T., (2017). Alleviatory activities in mycorrhizal tobacco plants subjected to increasing chloride in irrigation water. Ital. J. Agron. 12, 8-16.
- Langley, J. A., Hungate, B. A. (2003). Mycorrhizal controls on belowground litter quality. *Ecology*, 84(9), 2302-2312.
- Lazcano, C., Barrios-Masias, F. H., Jackson, L. E. (2014). Arbuscular mycorrhizal effects on plant water relations and soil greenhouse gas emissions under changing moisture regimes. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 74, 184-192.
- Lazcano, C., Barrios-Masias, F. H., Jackson, L. E. (2014). Arbuscular mycorrhizal effects on plant water relations and soil greenhouse gas emissions under changing moisture regimes. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 74, 184-192.
- Ledér, I. (2004). Sorghum and millet in cultivated plants, primarily as food sources. Encyclopedia of Life Support Systems (EOLSS), Developed under the Auspices of the UNESCO, Eolss Publishers, Oxford, UK,[http://www.eolss.net].
- Leifheit, E. F., Veresoglou, S. D., Lehmann, A., Morris, E. K., Rillig, M. C. (2014). Multiple factors influence the role of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in soil aggregation—a meta-analysis. *Plant and Soil*, *374*(1-2), 523-537.
- Leifheit, E. F., Verbruggen, E., Rillig, M. C. (2015). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi reduce decomposition of woody plant litter while increasing soil aggregation. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 81, 323-328.
- Lenoir, I., Fontaine, J., Sahraoui, A. L. H. (2016). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal responses to abiotic stresses: A review. *Phytochemistry*, *123*, 4-15.
- Lesk, C., Rowhani, P., Ramankutty, N. (2016). Influence of extreme weather disasters on global crop production. *Nature* 529(7584): 84-87.
- Lewandowski, I., Clifton-Brown, J. C., Scurlock, J. M., Huisman, W. (2000). Miscanthus: European experience with a novel energy crop. Biomass and Bioenergy, 19(4), 209-227.
- Li, H., Smith, S. E., Holloway, R. E., Zhu, Y., Smith, F. A. (2006). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi contribute to phosphorus uptake by wheat grown in a phosphorus-fixing soil even in the absence of positive growth responses. New Phytologist, 172(3), 536-543.

- Li, Y., Zou, Y. N., Wu, Q. S. (2013). Effects of Diversispora spurca Inoculation on Growth, Root System Architecture and Chlorophyll Contents of Four Citrus Genotypes. International Journal of Agriculture & Biology, 15(2).
- Linderman, R. G. (1992). Vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizae and soil microbial interactions. *Mycorrhizae in sustainable agriculture*, (mycorrhizaeinsu), 45-70.
- Liu, A., Hamel, C., Hamilton, R.I., Ma, B.L., Smith, D.L. (2000). Acquisition of Cu, Zn, Mn and Fe by mycorrhizal maize (*Zea mays* L.) grown in soil at different P and micronutrient levels. *Mycorrhiza* 9(6): 331-336.
- Liu, S., Jiang, Y. (2010). Identification of differentially expressed genes under drought stress in perennial ryegrass. Physiologia Plantarum, 139(4), 375-387.
- Liu, Z. X., Han, L. P., Yosef, S., Xie, G. H. (2011). Genetic variation and yield performance of Jerusalem artichoke germplasm collected in China. Agricultural Sciences in China, 10(5), 668-678.
- Ludlow, M. M., Santamaria, J. M., Fukai, S. (1990). Contribution of osmotic adjustment to grain yield in *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench under water-limited conditions. II. Water stress
- Lukehurst, C. T., Frost, P., Al Seadi, T. (2010). Utilisation of digestate from biogas plants as biofertiliser. *IEA bioenergy*, 1-36.
- Lumini, E., Vallino, M., Alguacil, M. M., Romani, M., Bianciotto, V. (2011). Different farming and water regimes in Italian rice fields affect arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal soil communities. Ecological Applications, 21(5), 1696-1707.
- Machado Neto, N. B., Saturnino, S. M., Bomfim, D. C., Custódio, C. C. (2004). Water stress induced by mannitol and sodium chloride in soybean cultivars. Braz Arch Biol Technol. 47(4):521-529.
- Mackay, A. D., Barber, S. A. (1985). Soil moisture effect on potassium uptake by corn. Agronomy Journal, 77(4), 524-527.
- Mäder, P., Edenhofer, S., Boller, T., Wiemken, A., Niggli, U. (2000). Arbuscular mycorrhizae in a long-term field trial comparing low-input (organic, biological) and highinput (conventional) farming systems in a crop rotation. *Biology and fertility of Soils*, 31(2), 150-156.
- Mäder, P., Vierheilig, H., Streitwolf-Engel, R., Boller, T., Frey, B., Christie, P., Wiemken,
 A. (2000). Transport of 15N from a soil compartment separated by a polytetrafluoroethylene membrane to plant roots via the hyphae of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. New Phytologist, 146(1), 155-161.

- Mäder, P., Fliessbach, A., Dubois, D., Gunst, L., Fried, P., Niggli, U. (2002). Soil fertility and biodiversity in organic farming. *Science* 296(5573): 1694-1697.
- Magdich, S., Abid, W., Boukhris, M., Rouina, B. B., Ammar, E. (2016). Effects of long-term olive mill wastewater spreading on the physiological and biochemical responses of adult Chemlali olive trees (Olea europaea L.). *Ecological Engineering*, *97*, 122-129.
- Mahajan, S., Tuteja, N. (2005). Cold, salinity and drought stresses: an overview. Archives of biochemistry and biophysics, 444(2), 139-158.
- Mahajan, S., Tuteja, N. (2005). Cold, salinity and drought stresses: an overview. Arch Biochem Biophys. 444(2):139-158.
- Mardhiah, U., Caruso, T., Gurnell, A., Rillig, M. C. (2016). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal hyphae reduce soil erosion by surface water flow in a greenhouse experiment. Applied Soil Ecology, 99, 137-140.
- Marschner, H. (1995). Mineral nutrition of higher plants. 2nd. Edn. Academic Pres.
- Marulanda, A., Barea, J. M., Azcón, R. (2006). An indigenous drought-tolerant strain of Glomus intraradices associated with a native bacterium improves water transport and root development in Retama sphaerocarpa. *Microbial ecology*, 52(4), 670.
- Mata-Alvarez, J., Dosta, J., Romero-Güiza, M. S., Fonoll, X., Peces, M., Astals, S. (2014). A critical review on anaerobic co-digestion achievements between 2010 and 2013. *Renewable and sustainable energy reviews*, *36*, 412-427.
- Matías, J., González, J., Cabanillas, J., Royano, L. (2013). Influence of NPK fertilisation and harvest date on agronomic performance of Jerusalem artichoke crop in the Guadiana Basin (Southwestern Spain). Industrial Crops and Products, 48, 191-197.
- Maucieri, C., Barbera, A.C., Borin, M. (2016a). Effect of injection depth of digestate liquid fraction on soil carbon dioxide emission and maize biomass production. *Italian Journal of Agronomy* 11(1): 6-11.
- Maucieri, C., Cavallaro, V., Caruso, C., Borin, M., Milani, M., Barbera, A. C. (2016b). Sorghum Biomass Production for Energy Purpose Using Treated Urban Wastewater and Different Fertilization in a Mediterranean Environment. *Agriculture*, 6(4), 67.
- Maucieri, C., Nicoletto, C., Caruso, C., Sambo, P., Borin, M. (2017). Effects of digestate solid fraction fertilisation on yield and soil carbon dioxide emission in a horticulture succession. *Italian Journal of Agronomy*, *11*.
- Maurer, C., Müller, J. (2012). Ammonia (NH₃) emissions during drying of untreated and dewatered biogas digestate in a hybrid waste-heat/solar dryer. Engineering in Life Sciences, 12(3), 321-326.

- McGoverin, C.M., Snyders, F., Muller, N., Botes, W., Fox, G., Manley, M. (2011). A review of triticale uses and the effect of growth environment on grain quality. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 91(7): 1155-1165.
- McKendry, P. (2002). Energy production from biomass (part 2): conversion technologies. Bioresource technology, 83(1), 47-54.
- McMillen, B. G., Juniper, S., Abbott, L. K. (1998). Inhibition of hyphal growth of a vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus in soil containing sodium chloride limits the spread of infection from spores. Soil Biol Biochem. 30(13):1639-1646.
- Mechri, B., Mariem, F. B., Baham, M., Elhadj, S. B., Hammami, M. (2008). Change in soil properties and the soil microbial community following land spreading of olive mill wastewater affects olive trees key physiological parameters and the abundance of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 40(1), 152-161.
- Mekki, A., Dhouib, A., Aloui, F., Sayadi, S. (2006a). Olive wastewater as an ecological fertiliser. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 26(1), 61-67.
- Mekki, A., Dhouib, A., Sayadi, S. (2006b). Changes in microbial and soil properties following amendment with treated and untreated olive mill wastewater. Microbiol. Res. 161(2), 93-101.
- Miransari, M. (2010). Contribution of arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis to plant growth under different types of soil stress. Plant Biol. 12(4):563-569.
- Miransari, M. (2011). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and nitrogen uptake. Archives of microbiology, 193(2), 77-81.
- Mmbaga, G.W., Mtei, K.M., Ndakidemi, P.A. (2015). Yield and Fiscal Benefits of Rhizobium Inoculation Supplemented with Phosphorus (P) and Potassium (K) in Climbing Beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) Grown in Northern Tanzania. Agr. Sci. 6(08), 783.
- Mohajer, S., Ghods, H., Taha, R. M., Talati, A. (2012). Effect of different harvest time on yield and forage quality of three varieties of common millet (*Panicum miliaceum* L.). Sci Res Essays 7(34):3020-3025.
- Möller, K., Müller, T. (2012). Effects of anaerobic digestion on digestate nutrient availability and crop growth: a review. *Engineering in Life Sciences*, *12*(3), 242-257.
- Monnet, F. (2003). An introduction to anaerobic digestion of organic wastes. Remade Scotland 1-48.
- Montemurro, F., Convertini, G., Ferri, D. (2004). Mill wastewater and olive pomace compost as amendments for rye-grass. *Agronomie* 24(8): 481-486.

- Montemurro, F., Maiorana, M., Convertini, G., Ferri, D. (2007). Alternative sugar beet production using shallow tillage and municipal solid waste fertiliser. *Agronomy for sustainable development* 27(2): 129-137.
- Montemurro, F., Ferri, D., Tittarelli, F., Canali, S., and Vitti, C. (2010). Anaerobic digestate and on-farm compost application: Effects on lettuce (*Lactuca sativa* L.) crop production and soil properties. Compost science & utilization, 18(3), 184-193.
- Monti, A., Amaducci, M. T., Venturi, G. (2005). Growth response, leaf gas exchange and fructans accumulation of Jerusalem artichoke (*Helianthus tuberosus* L.) as affected by different water regimes. European Journal of Agronomy, 23(2), 136-145.
- Monti, A., Zegada-Lizarazu, W. (2016). Sixteen-year biomass yield and soil carbon storage of giant reed (*Arundo donax* L.) grown under variable nitrogen fertilization rates. BioEnergy Research, 9(1), 248-256.
- Morales, J. U., Alatorre, J. A. H., Nieto, C. A.R., Becerra, J. F. C. (2015). Forage production and nutritional content of silage from three varieties of pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum* L.) harvested at two maturity stages. J Anim Plant Sci. 27(1):4161-4169.
- Mullet, J., Morishige, D., McCormick, R., Truong, S., Hilley, J., McKinley, B., Anderson, R., Olson, S. N., Rooney, W. (2014). Energy Sorghum—a genetic model for the design of C4 grass bioenergy crops. Journal of experimental botany, eru229.
- Murillo-Williams, A., Pedersen, P. (2008). Arbuscular mycorrhizal colonization response to three seed-applied fungicides. *Agronomy journal* 100(3): 795-800.
- Muthukumar, T., Bagyaraj, D. J., Ashwin, R. (2017). Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi: Role in Alleviating Salt Stress in Crop Plants.
- Nassi o Di Nasso, N. N., Roncucci, N., Triana, F., Tozzini, C., Bonari, E. (2011a). Seasonal nutrient dynamics and biomass quality of giant reed (*Arundo donax* L.) and miscanthus (*Miscanthus x giganteus* Greef et Deuter) as energy crops. Italian Journal of Agronomy, 6(3), 24.
- Nassi o Di Nasso, N. N., Roncucci, N., Triana, F., Tozzini, C., Bonari, E. (2011b). Productivity of giant reed (*Arundo donax* L.) and miscanthus (*Miscanthus x giganteus* Greef et Deuter) as energy crops: growth analysis. Italian Journal of Agronomy, 6(3), 22.
- Nest, T. V., Ruysschaert, G., Vandecasteele, B., Cougnon, M., Merckx, R., Reheul, D. (2015). P availability and P leaching after reducing the mineral P fertilization and the use of digestate products as new organic fertilizers in a 4-year field trial with high P status. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 202, 56-67.

- Nicoletto, C., Santagata, S., Sambo, P. (2013a). Effect of compost application on qualitative traits in cabbage. *Acta Horticolture* 1005: 389-395.
- Nicoletto, C., Santagata, S., Sambo, P. (2013b). Effect of anaerobic digestates application on qualitative traits in early and late cauliflower. *Acta Horticolture* 1005: 463-469.
- Nicoletto, C., Santagata, S., Zanin, G., Sambo, P. (2014). Effect of the anaerobic digestion residues use on lettuce yield and quality. *Scientia Horticulturae*, *180*, 207-213.
- Nkoa, R. (2014). Agricultural benefits and environmental risks of soil fertilization with anaerobic digestates: a review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development, 34(2), 473-492.
- Nouri, E., Breuillin-Sessoms, F., Feller, U., Reinhardt, D. (2014). Phosphorus and nitrogen regulate arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis in Petunia hybrida. *PLoS One*, *9*(3), e90841.
- Obied, H. K., Allen, M. S., Bedgood, D. R., Prenzler, P. D., Robards, K., Stockmann, R. (2005). Bioactivity and analysis of biophenols recovered from olive mill waste. *Journal* of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 53(4), 823-837.
- Odlare, M., Pell, M., Svensson, K. (2008). Changes in soil chemical and microbiological properties during 4 years of application of various organic residues. *Waste management*, 28(7), 1246-1253.
- Oehl, F., Sieverding, E., Ineichen, K., M\u00e4der, P., Boller, T., Wiemken, A. (2003). Impact of land use intensity on the species diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in agroecosystems of Central Europe. *Applied and environmental microbiology* 69(5): 2816-2824.
- Oehl, F., Sieverding, E., M\u00e4der, P., Dubois, D., Ineichen, K., Boller, T., Wiemken, A. (2004). Impact of long-term conventional and organic farming on the diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. *Oecologia* 138(4): 574-583.
- Oladele, S., Awodun, M. (2014). Response of lowland rice to biofertilizers inoculation and their effects on growth and yield in southwestern Nigeria. J Agr Env Sci. 3(2):371-390.
- Olsen, S. R. (1954). Estimation of available phosphorus in soils by extraction with sodium bicarbonate.
- Olson, S. N., Ritter, K., Medley, J., Wilson, T., Rooney, W. L., & Mullet, J. E. (2013). Energy sorghum hybrids: Functional dynamics of high nitrogen use efficiency. Biomass and Bioenergy, 56, 307-316.
- Öpik, M., Zobel, M., Cantero, J. J., Davison, J., Facelli, J. M., Hiiesalu, I., Jairus, T., Jesse, M. Kalwij, J. M., Koorem, K., Leal, M. E., Liira, J., Metsis, M., Neshataeva, V., Paal, J., Phosri, C. (2013). Global sampling of plant roots expands the described molecular diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. *Mycorrhiza*, 23(5), 411-430.

- Owen, W. F., Stuckey, D. C., Healy, J. B., Young, L. Y., McCarty, P. L. (1979). Bioassay for monitoring biochemical methane potential and anaerobic toxicity. Water research, 13(6), 485-492.
- Pacholski, A., Gericke, D., Ni, K., Kage, H. (2010). Modeling ammonia emissions after field application of biogas slurries on grassland sites. In Grassland in a changing world. Proceedings of the 23rd General Meeting of the European Grassland Federation, Kiel, Germany, 29th August-2nd September 2010 (pp. 166-168). Mecke Druck und Verlag.
- Paes de Camargo, M. B., Hubbard, K. G. (1999). Drought sensitivity indices for a sorghum crop. Journal of production agriculture, 12(2), 312-316.
- Pala, M., Ryan, J., Zhang, H., Singh, M., & Harris, H. C. (2007). Water-use efficiency of wheat-based rotation systems in a Mediterranean environment. Agricultural water management, 93(3), 136-144.
- Pandey, R. K., Maranville, J. W., Admou, A. (2000). Deficit irrigation and nitrogen effects on maize in a Sahelian environment: I. Grain yield and yield components. Agricultural Water Management, 46(1), 1-13.
- Pandey, R., Singh, B., Nair, T.V.R. (2005). Impact of arbuscular-mycorrhizal fungi on phosphorus efficiency of wheat, rye, and triticale. *Journal of Plant Nutrition* 28(10): 1867-1876.
- Panwar, J. D. S. (1991). Effect of VAM and Azospirillum brasilense on photosynthesis, nitrogen metabolism and grain yield in wheat. Indian Journal of Plant Physiology (India).
- Paredes, C., Cegarra, J., Roig, A., Sánchez-Monedero, M. A., Bernal, M. P. (1999). Characterization of olive mill wastewater (alpechin) and its sludge for agricultural purposes. *Bioresource Technology*, 67(2), 111-115.
- Park, Y., Kim, S. H., Matalon, S., Wang, N. H. L., Franses, E. I. (2009). Effect of phosphate salts concentrations, supporting electrolytes, and calcium phosphate salt precipitation on the pH of phosphate buffer solutions. *Fluid Phase Equilibria*, 278(1), 76-84.
- Perazzolo, F., Mattachini, G., Tambone, F., Calcante, A., and Provolo, G. (2016). Nutrient losses from cattle co-digestate slurry during storage. *Journal of Agricultural Engineering*, 47(2), 94-99.
- Pérez-Montano, F., Alías-Villegas, C., Bellogín, R.A., del Cerro, P., Espuny, M.R., Jiménez-Guerrero, I., López-Baena, F.J., Ollero, F.J., Cubo, T. (2014). Plant growth promotion in cereal and leguminous agricultural important plants: from microorganism capacities to crop production. *Microbiological research* 169(5): 325-336.

- Petersen, S. O., Henriksen, K., Mortensen, G. K., Krogh, P. H., Brandt, K. K., Sørensen, J., Madsen, T., Petersen, J., Grøn, C. (2003). Recycling of sewage sludge and household compost to arable land: fate and effects of organic contaminants, and impact on soil fertility. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 72(2), 139-152.
- Philippot, L., Hallin, S., Börjesson, G., Baggs, E. M. (2009). Biochemical cycling in the rhizosphere having an impact on global change. *Plant and Soil*, *321*(1-2), 61-81.
- Pierantozzi, P., Zampini, C., Torres, M., Isla, M. I., Verdenelli, R. A., Meriles, J. M., Maestri, D. (2012). Physico-chemical and toxicological assessment of liquid wastes from olive processing-related industries. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 92(2), 216-223.
- Piotrowski, J. S., Morford, S. L., Rillig, M. C. (2008). Inhibition of colonization by a native arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal community via Populus trichocarpa litter, litter extract, and soluble phenolic compounds. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 40(3), 709-717.
- Poiana, M., Mincione, A., (2002). Caratteristiche qualitative delle acque di vegetazione. In: Utilizzazione agronomica delle acque reflue olearie, Laruffa, pp. 49–55.
- Poiana, M., Mincione, A., Mincione, B., Sicari, V. (2004). Caratteristiche chimiche e fisiche dei residui delle industrie olearie e agrumarie. *Valorizzazione di acque reflue e sottoprodotti dell'industria agrumaria e olearia, Laruffa*, 13-21.
- Porcel, R., Ruiz-Lozano, J. M. (2004). Arbuscular mycorrhizal influence on leaf water potential, solute accumulation, and oxidative stress in soybean plants subjected to drought stress. Journal of Experimental Botany, 55(403), 1743-1750.
- Porcel, R., Aroca, R., Ruiz-Lozano, J. M. (2012). Salinity stress alleviation using arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. A review. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, *32*(1), 181-200.
- Pozo, M. J., Azcón-Aguilar, C. (2007). Unraveling mycorrhiza-induced resistance. *Current* opinion in plant biology, 10(4), 393-398.
- Proietti, P., Federici, E., Fidati, L., Scargetta, S., Massaccesi, L., Nasini, L., Regni, L., Ricci A., Cenci, G., Gigliotti, G. (2015). Effects of amendment with oil mill waste and its derived-compost on soil chemical and microbiological characteristics and olive (*Olea europaea* L.) productivity. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 207, 51-60.
- Qadir, M., Quillérou, E., Nangia, V., Murtaza, G., Singh, M., Thomas, R. J., Drechsel, P., Noble, A. D. (2014, November). Economics of salt-induced land degradation and restoration. In *Natural Resources Forum* (Vol. 38, No. 4, pp. 282-295).
- Quakernack, R., Pacholski, A., Techow, A., Herrmann, A., Taube, F., Kage, H. (2012). Ammonia volatilization and yield response of energy crops after fertilization with biogas

residues in a coastal marsh of Northern Germany. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* 160: 66-74.

- Quaratino, D., D'Annibale, A., Federici, F., Cereti, C. F., Rossini, F., Fenice, M. (2007). Enzyme and fungal treatments and a combination thereof reduce olive mill wastewater phytotoxicity on Zea mays L. seeds. *Chemosphere*, 66(9), 1627-1633.
- Ra, K., Shiotsu, F., Abe, J., Morita, S. (2012). Biomass yield and nitrogen use efficiency of cellulosic energy crops for ethanol production. Biomass and Bioenergy, 37, 330-334.
- Raaijmakers, J. M., Mazzola, M. (2016). Soil immune responses. Science, 352(6292), 1392-1393.
- Ragaglini, G., Dragoni, F., Simone, M., Bonari, E. (2014). Suitability of giant reed (*Arundo donax* L.) for anaerobic digestion: Effect of harvest time and frequency on the biomethane yield potential. Bioresource technology, 152, 107-115.
- Rahmanian, N., Jafari, S. M., Galanakis, C. M. (2014). Recovery and removal of phenolic compounds from olive mill wastewater. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, 91(1), 1-18.
- Ramoliya, P. J., Patel, H. M., Pandey, A. N. (2004). Effect of salinization of soil on growth and macro-and micro-nutrient accumulation in seedlings of Salvadora persica (*Salvadoraceae*). Forest Ecol Manag. 202(1):181-193.
- Raposo, F., Fernández-Cegrí, V., De la Rubia, M. A., Borja, R., Béline, F., Cavinato, C., Demirer, G., Fernàndez, B., Fernàndez-Polanco, M., Frigon, J. C., Ganesh, R., Kaparaju, P., Mèndez, R., Menin, G., Peene, A., Scherer, P., Torrijos, M., Uellendahl, H., Wierinck, I., de Wilde, V. (2011). Biochemical methane potential (BMP) of solid organic substrates: evaluation of anaerobic biodegradability using data from an international interlaboratory study. Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology, 86(8), 1088-1098.
- Raviv, M., Zaidman, B.Z., Kapulnik, Y. (1998). The use of compost as a peat substitute for organic vegetable transplants production. *Compost Science & Utilization* 6(1): 46-52.
- Redecker, D., Morton, J. B., Bruns, T. D. (2000). Ancestral lineages of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (Glomales). *Molecular phylogenetics and evolution*, *14*(2), 276-284.
- Requena, N., Serrano, E., Ocón, A., Breuninger, M. (2007). Plant signals and fungal perception during arbuscular mycorrhiza establishment. *Phytochemistry*, *68*(1), 33-40.
- Restrepo, A. P., Medina, E., Pérez-Espinosa, A., Agulló, E., Bustamante, M. A., Mininni, C., Bernal, M. P., Moral, R. (2013). Substitution of peat in horticultural seedlings: suitability of digestate-derived compost from cattle manure and maize silage codigestion. *Communications in soil science and plant analysis*, 44(1-4), 668-677.

- Richardson, A. E., Simpson, R. J. (2011). Soil microorganisms mediating phosphorus availability update on microbial phosphorus. *Plant physiology*, *156*(3), 989-996.
- Rillig, M. C., Wright, S. F., Nichols, K. A., Schmidt, W. F., Torn, M. S. (2001). Large contribution of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi to soil carbon pools in tropical forest soils. Plant and Soil, 233(2), 167-177.
- Rillig, M. C. (2004). Arbuscular mycorrhizae, glomalin, and soil aggregation. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 84(4), 355-363.
- Rillig, M. C., Mummey, D. L. (2006). Mycorrhizas and soil structure. *New Phytologist*, 171(1), 41-53.
- Rillig, M. C., Aguilar-Trigueros, C. A., Bergmann, J., Verbruggen, E., Veresoglou, S. D., Lehmann, A. (2015). Plant root and mycorrhizal fungal traits for understanding soil aggregation. *New Phytologist*, 205(4), 1385-1388.
- Roberts, T. L. (2008). Improving nutrient use efficiency. Turkish Journal of Agriculture and Forestry, 32(3), 177-182.
- Roig, A., Cayuela, M. L., & Sánchez-Monedero, M. A. (2006). An overview on olive mill wastes and their valorisation methods. Waste Management, 26(9), 960-969.
- Romero-Güiza, M. S., Mata-Alvarez, J., Chimenos Rivera, J. M., Garcia, S. A. (2016). Nutrient recovery technologies for anaerobic digestion systems: An overview. *Revista Ion*, 29(1), 7-26.
- Romero-Munar, A., Fernández Del-Saz, N., Ribas-Carbó, M., Flexas, J., Baraza, E., Florez-Sarasa, I., Fernie, A. R., Gulías, J. (2017). Arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis with *Arundo donax* decreases root respiration and increases both photosynthesis and plant biomass accumulation. Plant, Cell & Environment.
- Roy, C., Gaillardon, P., Montfort, F. (2000). The effect of soil moisture content on the sorption of five sterol biosynthesis inhibiting fungicides as a function of their physicochemical properties. *Pest management science* 56(9): 795-803.
- Ruiz-Lozano, J. M., Azcon, R. (1996). Viability and infectivity of mycorrhizal spores after long term storage in soils with different water potentials. Applied Soil Ecology, 3(2), 183-186.
- Ruiz-Lozano, J. M., Porcel, R., Azcón, C., Aroca, R. (2012). Regulation by arbuscular mycorrhizae of the integrated physiological response to salinity in plants: new challenges in physiological and molecular studies. Journal of Experimental Botany, 63(11), 4033-4044.

- Ryals, R., Kaiser, M., Torn, M. S., Berhe, A. A., Silver, W. L. (2014). Impacts of organic matter amendments on carbon and nitrogen dynamics in grassland soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 68, 52-61.
- Ryan, J., Miyamoto, S., Stroehlein, J. L. (1975). Salt and specific ion effects on germination of four grass. J Range Manage. 28(1):61-64.
- Saadi, I., Laor, Y., Raviv, M., Medina, S. (2007). Land spreading of olive mill wastewater: effects on soil microbial activity and potential phytotoxicity. *Chemosphere*, *66*(1), 75-83.
- Sabia, E., Claps, S., Morone, G., Bruno, A., Sepe, L., Aleandri, R. (2015). Field inoculation of arbuscular mycorrhiza on maize (*Zea mays* L.) under low inputs: preliminary study on quantitative and qualitative aspects. Ital J Agron. 10(1):30-33.
- Sabir, P., Ashraf, M. (2008). Inter-cultivar variation for salt tolerance in proso millet (*Panicum miliaceum* L.) at the germination stage. Pak J Bot. 40(2):677-682.
- Sage, R. F., Monson, R. K. (1998). C4 plant biology. Academic Press.
- Saggar, S., Tate, K. R., Giltrap, D. L., Singh, J. (2008). Soil-atmosphere exchange of nitrous oxide and methane in New Zealand terrestrial ecosystems and their mitigation options: a review. Plant and Soil, 309(1-2), 25-42.
- Saia, S., Amato, G., Frenda, A. S., Giambalvo, D., Ruisi, P. (2014). Influence of arbuscular mycorrhizae on biomass production and nitrogen fixation of berseem clover plants subjected to water stress. PloS one 9(3):e90738.
- Saleh, A. S., Zhang, Q., Chen, J., Shen, Q. (2013). Millet grains: nutritional quality, processing, and potential health benefits. Compr Rev Food Sci Food Saf. 12(3):281-295.
- Sampoux, J. P., Baudouin, P., Bayle, B., Béguier, V., Bourdon, P., Chosson, J. F., Deneufbourg, F., Galbrun, C., Ghesquièrea, M. (2011). Breeding perennial grasses for forage usage: An experimental assessment of trait changes in diploid perennial ryegrass (*Lolium perenne* L.) cultivars released in the last four decades. Field Crops Research, 123(2), 117-129.
- Sänger, A., Geisseler, D., Ludwig, B. (2011). Effects of moisture and temperature on greenhouse gas emissions and C and N leaching losses in soil treated with biogas slurry. Biology and Fertility of Soils, 47(3), 249-259.
- Santiveri, F., Royo, C., Romagosa, I. (2004). Growth and yield responses of spring and winter triticale cultivated under Mediterranean conditions. *European journal of agronomy* 20(3): 281-292.
- Sarkar, A., Asaeda, T., Wang, Q., Rashid, M. H. (2015). Arbuscular mycorrhizal influences on growth, nutrient uptake, and use efficiency of Miscanthus sacchariflorus growing on

nutrient-deficient river bank soil. Flora-Morphology, Distribution, Functional Ecology of Plants, 212, 46-54.

- Saveyn, H., Eder, P. (2014). End-of-waste criteria for biodegradable waste subjected to biological treatment (compost & digestate): Technical proposals. *Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg*.
- Sawatdeenarunat, C., Nguyen, D., Surendra, K. C., Shrestha, S., Rajendran, K., Oechsner, H., Xie, Li, Khanal, S. K. (2016). Anaerobic biorefinery: current status, challenges, and opportunities. *Bioresource technology*, 215, 304-313.
- Sawers, R. J., Yang, S. Y., Gutjahr, C., Paszkowski, U. (2008). The molecular components of nutrient exchange in arbuscular mycorrhizal interactions. In *Mycorrhizae: Sustainable Agriculture and Forestry* (pp. 37-59). Springer Netherlands.
- Scalise, A., Tortorella, D., Pristeri, A., Petrovičová, B., Gelsomino, A., Lindström, K., Monti, M. (2015). Legume–barley intercropping stimulates soil N supply and crop yield in the succeeding durum wheat in a rotation under rainfed conditions. Soil Biol. Biochem. 89, 150-161.
- Schittenhelm, S. (1999). Agronomic performance of root chicory, Jerusalem artichoke, and sugarbeet in stress and non-stress environments. Crop Science, 39(6), 1815-1823.
- Schlesinger, W. H. (2009). On the fate of anthropogenic nitrogen. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 106(1), 203-208.
- Schreiner, R. P. (2007). Effects of native and nonnative arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi on growth and nutrient uptake of 'Pinot noir'(*Vitis vinifera* L.) in two soils with contrasting levels of phosphorus. applied soil ecology, 36(2), 205-215.
- Schüßler, A., Schwarzott, D., Walker, C. (2001). A new fungal phylum, the Glomeromycota: phylogeny and evolution** Dedicated to Manfred Kluge (Technische Universität Darmstadt) on the occasion of his retirement. Mycological research, 105(12), 1413-1421.
- Selvakumar, G., Kim, K., Walitang, D., Chanratana, M., Kang, Y., Chung, B., Sa, T. (2016). Trap Culture Technique for Propagation of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi using Different Host Plants. Korean J. Soil Sci. Fert., 49(5), 608-613.
- Shah, M. A. (2014). *Mycorrhizas: novel dimensions in the changing world* (p. 87). Heidelberg: Springer.
- Shamshiri, M. H., Fattahi, M. (2016). Effects of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi on photosystem II activity of three pistachio rootstocks under salt stress as probed by the OJIP-test. *Russian journal of plant physiology*, 63(1), 101-110.

- Shen, J., Yuan, L., Zhang, J., Li, H., Bai, Z., Chen, X., Zhang, W., Zhang, F. (2011). Phosphorus dynamics: from soil to plant. Plant physiology, 156(3), 997-1005.
- Sheng, M., Tang, M., Chen, H., Yang, B., Zhang, F., Huang, Y. (2008). Influence of arbuscular mycorrhizae on photosynthesis and water status of maize plants under salt stress. Mycorrhiza 18(6-7):287-296.
- Shi, L. X., Guo, J. X. (2006). Changes in photosynthetic and growth characteristics of Leymus chinensis community along the retrogression on the Songnen grassland in northeastern China. Photosynthetica 44(4):542-547.
- Short, H. L., Blair, R. M., & Segelquist, C. A. (1974). Fiber composition and forage digestibility by small ruminants. The Journal of Wildlife Management, 197-209.
- Shrivastava, P., Kumar, R. (2015). Soil salinity: A serious environmental issue and plant growth promoting bacteria as one of the tools for its alleviation. Saudi journal of biological sciences, 22(2), 123-131.
- Sierra, J., Martí, E., Garau, M. A., Cruañas, R. (2007). Effects of the agronomic use of olive oil mill wastewater: field experiment. *Science of the total environment*, *378*(1), 90-94.
- Silva, E. M., Maia, L. C., Menezes, K. M. S., Braga, M. B., Melo, N. F., Yano-Melo, A. M. (2015). Water availability and formation of propagules of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi associated with sorghum. Applied Soil Ecology, 94, 15-20.
- Singh, B. R., Singh, D. P. (1995). Agronomic and physiological responses of sorghum, maize and pearl millet to irrigation. Field Crops Research, 42(2), 57-67.
- Singh, A. (2015). Land and water management planning for increasing farm income in irrigated dry areas. *Land Use Policy*, *42*, 244-250.
- Smith, S.E., Read, D.J. (1997). Mycorrhizal Symbiosis, 2nd edn. Academic, London.
- Smith, S.E., Smith, F.A., Jakobsen, I. (2003). Mycorrhizal fungi can dominate phosphate supply to plants irrespective of growth responses. Plant Physiol. 133(1), 16-20.
- Smith, S.E., Smith, F.A., Jakobsen, I. (2004). Functional diversity in arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) symbioses: the contribution of the mycorrhizal P uptake pathway is not correlated with mycorrhizal responses in growth or total P uptake. New Phytol. 162(2), 511-524.
 Smith, P., Martino, D., Cai, Z., Gwary, D., Janzen, H., Kumar, P., McCarl, B., Ogle, S., O'Mara, F., Rice, C., Scholes, B., Sirotenko, O., Howden, M., McAllister, T., Pan, G., Romanenkov, V., Schneider, U., Towprayoon, S., Wattenbach, M., Smith, J. (2008). Greenhouse gas mitigation in agriculture. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B 363(1492), 789-813.
- Smith, S. E., Read, D. J. (2008). Mycorrhizal Symbiosis, 3rd Edn. London: Academic.

Smith, S. E., Read, D. J. (2010). Mycorrhizal symbiosis. Academic press.

- Smith, S. E., Smith, F. A. (2011). Roles of arbuscular mycorrhizas in plant nutrition and growth: new paradigms from cellular to ecosystem scales. Annual review of plant biology, 62, 227-250.
- St-Arnaud, M., Vujanovic, V. (2007). Effect of the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis on plant diseases and pests. *Mycorrhizae in Crop Production. New York: Haworth*, 67-122.
- Steinmetz, Z., Kurtz, M.P., Dag, A., Zipori, I., Schaumann, G.E. (2015). The seasonal influence of olive mill wastewater applications on an orchard soil under semi-arid conditions. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 178(4), 641-648.
- Strack, D., Fester, T., Hause, B., Schliemann, W., Walter, M. H. (2003). Review paper: Arbuscular mycorrhiza: Biological, chemical, and molecular aspects. *Journal of chemical* ecology, 29(9), 1955-1979.
- Sudová, R., Jurkiewicz, A., Turnau, K., Vosátka, M. (2007). Persistence of heavy metal tolerance of the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus intraradices* under different cultivation regimes. *Symbiosis* 43(2): 71-81.
- Suseela, V., Conant, R. T., Wallenstein, M. D., Dukes, J. S. (2012). Effects of soil moisture on the temperature sensitivity of heterotrophic respiration vary seasonally in an old-field climate change experiment. Global Change Biology, 18(1), 336-348.
- Tambone, F., Scaglia, B., D'Imporzano, G., Schievano, A., Orzi, V., Salati, S., Adani, F. (2010). Assessing amendment and fertilizing properties of digestates from anaerobic digestion through a comparative study with digested sludge and compost. *Chemosphere*, *81*(5), 577-583.
- Tanaka, Y., Yano, K. (2005). Nitrogen delivery to maize via mycorrhizal hyphae depends on the form of N supplied. Plant, Cell & Environment, 28(10), 1247-1254.
- Tao, W., Fattah, K. P., Huchzermeier, M. P. (2016). Struvite recovery from anaerobically digested dairy manure: a review of application potential and hindrances. *Journal of environmental management*, 169, 46-57.
- Tarraf, W., Ruta, C., De Cillis, F., Tagarelli, A., Tedone, L., De Mastro, G., (2015). Effects of mycorrhiza on growth and essential oil production in selected aromatic plants. Ital. J. Agron. 10(3), 160-162.
- Tauler, M., Baraza, E. (2015). Improving the acclimatization and establishment of *Arundo donax* L. plantlets, a promising energy crop, using a mycorrhiza-based biofertilizer. Industrial Crops and Products, 66, 299-304.

- Thangarajan, R., Bolan, N. S., Tian, G., Naidu, R., Kunhikrishnan, A. (2013). Role of organic amendment application on greenhouse gas emission from soil. Science of the Total Environment, 465, 72-96.
- Tian, C. Y., Feng, G., Li, X. L., Zhang, F. S. (2004). Different effects of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal isolates from saline or non-saline soil on salinity tolerance of plants. Appl Soil Ecol. 26(2):143-148.
- Tian, H., Drijber, R. A., Zhang, J. L., Li, X. L. (2013). Impact of long-term nitrogen fertilization and rotation with soybean on the diversity and phosphorus metabolism of indigenous arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi within the roots of maize (*Zea mays* L.). Agriculture, ecosystems & environment, 164, 53-61.
- Tibbett, M. (2000). Roots, foraging and the exploitation of soil nutrient patches: the role of mycorrhizal symbiosis. *Functional Ecology* 14: 397-399.
- Tommerup, I. C. (1984). Persistence of infectivity by germinated spores of vesiculararbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in soil. Transactions of the British Mycological Society, 82(2), 275-282.
- Treseder, K.K., Allen, M.F. (2002). Direct nitrogen and phosphorus limitation of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi: a model and field test. *New phytologist* 155(3): 507-515.
- Triana, F., Nassi o Di Nasso, N., Ragaglini, G., Roncucci, N., Bonari, E. (2015).
 Evapotranspiration, crop coefficient and water use efficiency of giant reed (*Arundo donax*L.) and miscanthus (*Miscanthus*× giganteus Greef et Deu.) in a Mediterranean environment. Gcb Bioenergy, 7(4), 811-819.
- Trouvelot, A. (1986). Mesure du taux de mycorhization VA d'un systeme radiculaire. Recherche de methodes d'estimation ayant une significantion fonctionnelle. Mycorrhizae: physiology and genetics, 217-221.
- Turner, L. R., Holloway-Phillips, M. M., Rawnsley, R. P., Donaghy, D. J., Pembleton, K. G. (2012). The morphological and physiological responses of perennial ryegrass (*Lolium perenne* L.), cocksfoot (*Dactylis glomerata* L.) and tall fescue (*Festuca arundinacea* Schreb.; syn. *Schedonorus phoenix* Scop.) to variable water availability. Grass and Forage Science, 67(4), 507-518.
- Upadhyaya, H. D., Sharma, S., Gowda, C. L. L., Reddy, V.G., Singh, S. (2011). Developing proso millet (*Panicum miliaceum* L.) core collection using geographic and morphoagronomic data. Crop Pasture Sci. 62(5):383-389.
- USDA, (1999). USDA Soil taxonomy Agricultural Handbook n. 436 (2nd ed.), NRCS (1999)

- Uzun, F., Aydin, I. (2004). Improving germination rate of *Medicago* and *Trifolium* species. Asian J. Plant Sci. 3(6), 714-717.
- Valderrama, J. C. (1981). The simultaneous analysis of total nitrogen and total phosphorus in natural waters. Marine chemistry, 10(2), 109-122.
- Van der Heyde, M., Ohsowski, B., Abbott, L. K., Hart, M. (2017). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus responses to disturbance are context-dependent. Mycorrhiza, 1-10.
- Vaneeckhaute, C., Meers, E., Michels, E., Ghekiere, G., Accoe, F., Tack, F. M. G. (2013). Closing the nutrient cycle by using bio-digestion waste derivatives as synthetic fertilizer substitutes: A field experiment. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 55, 175-189.
- Vaneeckhaute, C., Lebuf, V., Michels, E., Belia, E., Vanrolleghem, P. A., Tack, F. M., Meers, E. (2017). Nutrient Recovery from Digestate: Systematic Technology Review and Product Classification. *Waste and Biomass Valorization*, 8(1), 21-40.
- Verbruggen, E., Röling, W. F., Gamper, H. A., Kowalchuk, G. A., Verhoef, H. A., van der Heijden, M. G. (2010). Positive effects of organic farming on below-ground mutualists: large-scale comparison of mycorrhizal fungal communities in agricultural soils. *New Phytologist*, 186(4), 968-979.
- Verbruggen, E., Kiers, E. T., Bakelaar, P. N., Röling, W. F., van der Heijden, M. G. (2012). Provision of contrasting ecosystem services by soil communities from different agricultural fields. *Plant and Soil*, 350(1-2), 43-55.
- Verbruggen, E., Heijden, M. G., Rillig, M. C., Kiers, E. T. (2013). Mycorrhizal fungal establishment in agricultural soils: factors determining inoculation success. New Phytologist, 197(4), 1104-1109.
- Vierheilig, H., Coughlan, A. P., Wyss, U., Piché, Y. (1998). Ink and vinegar, a simple staining technique for arbuscular-mycorrhizal fungi. Applied and environmental microbiology, 64(12), 5004-5007.
- Villa-Castorena, M., Ulery, A. L., Catalán-Valencia, E. A., Remmenga, M. D. (2003). Salinity and nitrogen rate effects on the growth and yield of chile pepper plants. Soil Sci Soc Am J. 67(6):1781-1789.
- Vimal, S. R., Singh, J. S., Arora, N. K., Singh, S. (2017). Soil-plant-microbe interactions in stressed agriculture management: A review. Pedosphere, 27(2), 177-192.
- Wager-Baumann, F., 2011. Physical and biological methods for the treatment of the liquid fraction of anaerobic digester effluent. Vienna: University of Natural Resources and Applied Life Science (PhD thesis).

- Wahid, R., Nielsen, S. F., Hernandez, V. M., Ward, A. J., Gislum, R., Jørgensen, U., Møller, H. B. (2015). Methane production potential from Miscanthus sp.: Effect of harvesting time, genotypes and plant fractions. Biosystems Engineering, 133, 71-80.
- Walsh, J. J., Rousk, J., Edwards-Jones, G., Jones, D. L., Williams, A. P. (2012). Fungal and bacterial growth following the application of slurry and anaerobic digestate of livestock manure to temperate pasture soils. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 48(8), 889-897.
- Wang B,. Xie, Z., Chen, J., Jiang, J., Su, Q. (2008). Effects of field application of phosphate fertilizers on the availability and uptake of lead, zinc and cadmium by cabbage (*Brassica chinensis* L.) in a mining tailing contaminated soil. *Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 20(9), 1109-1117.
- Wang, X., Pan, Q., Chen, F., Yan, X., Liao, H. (2011). Effects of co-inoculation with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and rhizobia on soybean growth as related to root architecture and availability of N and P. Mycorrhiza 21(3), 173-181.
- Watts, D. B., Torbert, H. A., Feng, Y., Prior, S. A. (2010). Soil microbial community dynamics as influenced by composted dairy manure, soil properties, and landscape position. *Soil science*, *175*(10), 474-486.
- Weiland, P. (2010). Biogas production: current state and perspectives. Applied microbiology and biotechnology, 85(4), 849-860.
- Wilde, P., Manal, A., Stodden, M., Sieverding, E., Hildebrandt, U., Bothe, H. (2009). Biodiversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in roots and soils of two salt marshes. *Environmental Microbiology*, 11(6), 1548-1561.
- Williams, A., Manoharan, L., Rosenstock, N. P., Olsson, P. A., Hedlund, K. (2017). Longterm agricultural fertilization alters arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal community composition and barley (Hordeum vulgare) mycorrhizal carbon and phosphorus exchange. *New Phytologist*, 213(2), 874-885.
- Wright, G. C., Smith, R. C. G. (1983). Differences between two grain sorghum genotypes in adaptation to drought stress. II. Root water uptake and water use. Crop and Pasture Science, 34(6), 627-636.
- Wu, S. C., Cao, Z. H., Li, Z. G., Cheung, K. C., Wong, M. H. (2005). Effects of biofertilizer containing N-fixer, P and K solubilizers and AM fungi on maize growth: a greenhouse trial. Geoderma, 125(1), 155-166.
- Wu, Q. S., Zou, Y. N., He, X. H. (2010). Contributions of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi to growth, photosynthesis, root morphology and ionic balance of citrus seedlings under salt stress. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum*, 32(2), 297-304.

- Wulf, S., Maeting, M., Clemens, J. (2002). Application technique and slurry co-fermentation effects on ammonia, nitrous oxide, and methane emissions after spreading. Journal of environmental quality, 31(6), 1795-1801.
- Xiang, D., Verbruggen, E., Hu, Y., Veresoglou, S. D., Rillig, M. C., Zhou, W., Xu, T., Li, H., Hao, Z., Chen, Y., Chen, B. (2014). Land use influences arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities in the farming-pastoral ecotone of northern China. *New Phytologist*, 204(4), 968-978.
- Xie, S., Frost, J. P., Lawlor, P. G., Wu, G., Zhan, X. (2011). Effects of thermo-chemical pretreatment of grass silage on methane production by anaerobic digestion. Bioresource technology, 102(19), 8748-8755.
- Yamato, M., Ikeda, S., Iwase, K. (2008). Community of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in a coastal vegetation on Okinawa island and effect of the isolated fungi on growth of sorghum under salt-treated conditions. *Mycorrhiza*, 18(5), 241-249.
- Yue, H., Wang, M., Liu, S., Du, X., Song, W., Nie, X. (2016). Transcriptome-wide identification and expression profiles of the WRKY transcription factor family in Broomcorn millet (*Panicum miliaceum* L.). BMC genomics 17:343.
- Zalidis, G., Stamatiadis, S., Takavakoglou, V., Eskridge, K., Misopolinos, N. (2002). Impacts of agricultural practices on soil and water quality in the Mediterranean region and proposed assessment methodology. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 88(2), 137-146.
- Zhang, F., Shen, J., Jing, J., Li, L., Chen, X. (2010). Rhizosphere processes and management for improving nutrient use efficiency and crop productivity. In Molecular Environmental Soil Science at the Interfaces in the Earth's Critical Zone (pp. 52-54). Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Zhou, Q., Ravnskov, S., Jiang, D., & Wollenweber, B. (2015). Changes in carbon and nitrogen allocation, growth and grain yield induced by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) subjected to a period of water deficit. Plant Growth Regulation, 75(3), 751-760.
- Zhu, J. K. (2003). Regulation of ion homeostasis under salt stress. Current opinion in plant biology, 6(5), 441-445.
- Zhu, Y. G., Miller, R. M. (2003). Carbon cycling by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in soilplant systems. *Trends in plant science*, 8(9), 407-409.
- Zocco, D., Fontaine, J., Lozanova, E., Renard, L., Bivort, C., Durand, R., Grandmougin-Ferjani, A., Declerck, S. (2008). Effects of two sterol biosynthesis inhibitor fungicides

(fenpropimorph and fenhexamid) on the development of an arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus. *Mycological research* 112(5): 592-601.

Zocco, D., Van Aarle, I. M., Oger, E., Lanfranco, L., Declerck, S. (2011). Fenpropimorph and fenhexamid impact phosphorus translocation by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Mycorrhiza, 21(5), 363-374.